
 

NORTH HERTFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

6 March 2026 Our Ref Planning Control Committee 19 March 
2026 

 Contact. Committee Services 
 Direct Dial. (01462) 474655 
 Email. committee.services@north-herts.gov.uk 
 
 
To: Members of the Committee: Councillors Nigel Mason (Chair), Emma Fernandes (Vice-Chair),  

Clare Billing, Ruth Brown, Val Bryant, Ian Mantle, Bryony May, Caroline McDonnell, 
Louise Peace, Martin Prescott, Tom Tyson and Dave Winstanley 

 
       Substitutes: Councillors Daniel Allen, Tina Bhartwas, Sadie Billing, Jon Clayden, 
Mick Debenham, Joe Graziano, Steve Jarvis and Claire Strong   
 
 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN OF A  

 

MEETING OF THE PLANNING CONTROL COMMITTEE 
 

to be held in the  
 

COUNCIL CHAMBER - DISTRICT COUNCIL OFFICES, GERNON 
ROAD, LETCHWORTH, SG6 3JF 

 
On 

 

THURSDAY, 19TH MARCH, 2026 AT 7.00 PM  

 
 

 
 

Yours sincerely, 
 
 
Isabelle Alajooz 
Director – Governance 
 

Public Document Pack

mailto:committee.services@north-herts.gov.uk


 

 

 
 

**MEMBERS PLEASE ENSURE THAT YOU DOWNLOAD ALL  
AGENDAS AND REPORTS VIA THE MOD.GOV APPLICATION 

ON YOUR TABLET BEFORE ATTENDING THE MEETING** 
 
 

Agenda 
Part l 

 
Item  Page 

 
1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Members are required to notify any substitutions by midday on the day of the 
meeting. 
 
Late substitutions will not be accepted and Members attending as a substitute 
without having given the due notice will not be able to take part in the 
meeting. 

 

   
2.   NOTIFICATION OF OTHER BUSINESS 

Members should notify the Chair of other business which they wish to be 
discussed at the end of either Part I or Part II business set out in the agenda. 
They must state the circumstances which they consider justify the business 
being considered as a matter of urgency. 
 
The Chair will decide whether any item(s) raised will be considered. 

 

   
3.   CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

Members are reminded that any declarations of interest in respect of any 
business set out in the agenda, should be declared as either a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest or Declarable Interest and are required to notify the Chair 
of the nature of any interest declared at the commencement of the relevant 
item on the agenda.  Members declaring a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest 
must withdraw from the meeting for the duration of the item. Members 
declaring a Declarable Interest, wishing to exercise a ‘Councillor Speaking 
Right’, must declare this at the same time as the interest, move to the public 
area before speaking to the item and then must leave the room before the 
debate and vote. 

 

   
4.   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

To receive petitions, comments and questions from the public. 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

 

5.   24/01013/HYA LAND SURROUNDING BURLOES COTTAGES, 
NEWMARKET ROAD, ROYSTON, HERTFORDSHIRE 
REPORT OF THE DEVELOPMENT AND CONSERVATION MANAGER 
 
Land Surrounding Burloes Cottages, Newmarket Road, Royston, 
Hertfordshire,  
Hybrid application for residential development of up to 325 dwellings 
comprising (a) full planning application for Phase 1 comprising 106 dwellings 
and associated infrastructure including access from Newmarket Road, 
emergency and pedestrian/cycle access from Burloes Hall Drive, internal 
highways, public open space, landscaping and drainage and b) outline 
application for up to 219 dwellings and associated infrastructure with all 
matters reserved apart from primary means of access and emergency and 
pedestrian/cycle access from Burloes Hall Drive. 

(Pages 5 
- 70) 

   
6.   25/01420/FP HIGHOVER FARM, HIGHOVER WAY, HITCHIN, 

HERTFORDSHIRE, SG4 0RQ 
REPORT OF THE DEVELOPMENT AND CONSERVATION MANAGER 
 
Change of use and external alterations to former agricultural buildings 
comprising grade II listed threshing barn and non-listed courtyard buildings. 
Partial demolition of courtyard building between proposed Units 1 and 2 to 
facilitate access. Single-storey rear extension to facilitate Unit 10. Subdivision 
and two-storey rear extension to farmhouse to form Units 11 and 12. Erection 
of new building for two dwellings (Units 13 and 14). Partial demolition and 
modify building for cycle storage to Units 2 to 8 inclusive. Erection of building 
to accommodate 2 car port spaces for Unit 5 and refuse storage for Units 2-8 
inclusive. Detached bin enclosure / cycle store buildings for Units 9 - 14 
inclusive. Hard and soft landscaping in association with the provision of 
private and communal space. Boundary treatment, installation of 14no. EV 
charging points, installation of solar PV array on south facing roof slopes of 
Unit 14 and both the cycle and refuse storage buildings serving Units 2 -8 
including provision of BNG area. 

(Pages 
71 - 108) 

   
7.   25/01383/LBC HIGHOVER FARM, HIGHOVER WAY, HITCHIN, 

HERTFORDSHIRE, SG4 0RQ 
REPORT OF THE DEVELOPMENT AND CONSERVATION MANAGER 
 
Internal and external alterations to threshing barn to facilitate change of use 
to 2no. self-contained dwellings (Unit 3 to also include adjacent unlisted, 
single-storey courtyard building). 

(Pages 
109 - 
118) 

   
8.   APPEALS 

REPORT OF THE DEVELOPMENT AND CONSERVATION MANAGER 

To update Members on appeals lodged and any decisions made. 

(Pages 
119 - 
120) 

   
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  
Location: 
 

 
Land Surrounding Burloes Cottages, Newmarket Road. 
Royston 

  
Applicant: 
 

 
Countryside Properties (UK) Limited and Sir Francis 
Newman 
 

 Proposal: 
 

Hybrid application for residential development of up to 
325 dwellings comprising (a) full planning application 
for Phase 1 comprising 106 dwellings and associated 
infrastructure including access from Newmarket Road, 
emergency and pedestrian/cycle access from Burloes 
Hall Drive, internal highways, public open space, 
landscaping and drainage and b) outline application for 
up to 219 dwellings and associated infrastructure with 
all matters reserved apart from primary means of 
access and emergency and pedestrian/cycle access 
from Burloes Hall Drive. 
 

 Ref. No: 
 

24/01013/HYA 

 Officer: 
 

Sarah Kasparian 

 
 

 Date of expiry of statutory period: 20 August 2024 
 
 Extension of statutory period: 20 March 2026 
 
 Reason for Delay  
 

 Following in application preparation of a masterplan for the site, together with detailed 
negotiations and drafting of the s106 heads of terms.  

 
 Reason for Referral to Committee  
 

The site area for this application for residential development exceeds 0.5ha and therefore 
under the Council's scheme of delegation, this application must be determined by the 
Council's Planning Control Committee. 

  
1.0 Site History 
 
1.1 The site is allocated for housing development in the adopted Local Plan 2011-2031 under 

reference RY10 for a ‘dwelling estimate’ of 300 homes.  
 

1.2 An application for a screening opinion was submitted in 2016 ref. 16/03246/1SO, resulting 
in the view that an Environmental Statement would not be required.  
 

1.3 In 2017 outline application ref. 17/00110/1 was submitted and subsequently approved in 
2020, with applications for reserved matters on phase 1 and various applications 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



 

 

discharge of conditions. Outline permission referenced 17/00110/1 was granted for up to 
325 dwellings including main site access onto Newmarket Road with one emergency and 
temporary construction access, with all other matters reserved including landscaping 
(including open space, and pedestrian links), appearance, layout and scale. The 
determination was supported by a S106 agreement setting out infrastructure contributions 
and affordable housing required to make the development acceptable in planning terms. 
In respect to affordable housing, 22% was secured subject to a viability appraisal, of which, 
44% were to be social rented units, 36% affordable rented units, and 20% shared 
ownership units.  
 

1.4 A full application ref. 19/03032/FP was submitted and approved for the main road through 
the site.  
 

1.5 All these permission expiry dates have now lapsed and cannot be implemented. No 
evidence has been provided that the permissions have been implemented in a suitable 
format (a certificate of lawful development).  

 
2.0 Policies 
 
2.1 North Hertfordshire District Local Plan 2011-2031 (NHLP) adopted 2022 
 

Policy SP1: Sustainable Development in North Hertfordshire 
Policy SP2: Settlement Hierarchy 
Policy SP5: Countryside and Green Belt 
Policy SP6: Sustainable transport 
Policy SP7: Infrastructure requirements and developer contributions 
Policy SP8: Housing 
Policy SP9: Design and sustainability 
Policy SP10: Healthy communities 
Policy SP11: Natural resources and sustainability 
Policy SP12: Green infrastructure, biodiversity and landscape 
Policy SP13: Historic Environment 
Policy T1: Assessment of transport matters 
Policy T2: Parking 
Policy HS1: Local Housing Allocations 
Policy HS2: Affordable Housing 
Policy HS3: Housing Mix 
Policy HS4: Supported, sheltered and older persons housing 
Policy HS5: Accessible and adaptable housing 
Policy D1: Sustainable design  
Policy D3: Protecting living conditions 
Policy D4: Air quality 
Policy NE1: Strategic green infrastructure 
Policy NE2: Landscape 
Policy NE4: Biodiversity and geological sites 
Policy NE6: New and improved open space 
Policy NE7: Reducing flood risk  
Policy NE8: Sustainable drainage systems 
Policy NE9: Water quality and environment 
Policy NE10: Water conservation and wastewater infrastructure  

Page 6



 

 

Policy NE11: Contaminated Land 

Policy NE12: Renewable and low carbon energy development 

Policy HE4: Archaeology 
 
The application site is identified in the NHLP as an allocated housing site under Policy 
RY10 ‘Land South of Newmarket Road’.  
 

2.2 Supplementary Planning Documents    
Design SPD 2011 
Developer Contributions SPD 2023 
Vehicle Parking Provision at New Development SPD (2011) 
North Hertfordshire and Stevenage Landscape Character Assessment  
Therfield Heath SSSI Mitigation Strategy (November 2022) 

 
2.3 National Planning Policy Framework (December 2024) 

Section 2: Achieving sustainable development 
Section 5: Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 
Section 6: Building a strong competitive economy 
Section 8: Promoting healthy and safe communities 
Section 9: Promoting sustainable transport  
Section 11: Making effective use of land 
Section 12: Achieving well-designed places 
Section 13: Protecting Green Belt land 
Section 14: Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
Section 15: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
Section 16: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
   

2.4 Hertfordshire County Council   
Local Transport Plan (LTP4 – adopted May 2018)    

Hertfordshire Waste Core Strategy and Development Management Policies 
Development Plan Document 2012 
    

2.5 National Planning Practice Guidance 
Provides a range of guidance on planning matters including flood risk, viability, design and 
planning obligations. 

 
3.0 Representations 
 

Consultees 
 
3.1 Royston Town Council – No objection, ‘provided that:  

• There is a minimum of 40% of affordable homes on the site…;  

• Solar panels are installed on all of the houses;  

• Bat boxes, bird boxes and hedgehog highways are installed…;  

• A cycle route is installed from the development into the town centre;  

• A pedestrian crossing is installed to ensure a safe crossing over Newmarket Road;  

• Due to the proximity of schools to the area, construction traffic should be prohibited 
between 8am to 9.15am and 3pm to 3.45pm. Construction traffic should also be 
restricted to accessing the site from the A505 into Newmarket Road and be 
prohibited from the town centre.’ 

Page 7



 

 

No further response received on amended plans.  
 

3.2 Royston Meridian Ward Councillors – Comments provided over two representations 
and summary of issues raised as follows: 

• The principle of development is accepted due to planning history and site allocation 
for housing 

• Errors in the Travel Plan related to traffic flows and incorrect references to food 
shopping locations which underestimate the traffic generated by the development 

• Question about the Transport Assessment to ensure accuracy of analysis and 
proposed mitigation 

• Clarification regarding the proposed main vehicular access and proposed 
mitigation measures 

• Concern over safety of the Newmarket Road and A505 junction 

• Concern over integration with the existing foot and cycleways alongside the speed 
limit of Newmarket Road 

• Support for the connection to Aintree Road 

• Question regarding how the overhead power line will be resolved 

• Support for the protection of surrounding plantations and existing copse on site, 
but concern for the reduction of complimentary habitat in places from 12m to 6m 

• Concern over low proportion of affordable housing delivery  

• Questions compliance of the proposals with the sustainability strategy 

• Concern regarding provision of sports provision with particular reference to cricket 
and hockey provision 

• Noting the matter of open space provision, play space provision and Therfield 
Heath SSI mitigation and delivery of infrastructure off site or through financial 
contributions, if not provided on site. Questions the over-reliance of the 
development on existing infrastructure 

• Noting the need for the NHS to respond to consultation and review contributions 
required 

 
3.3 NHDC Waste and Recycling – No response. 
 
3.4 NHDC Environmental Health – No objection, subject to all land, noise and air quality 

conditions from 17/00110/1 to be brought forward.  
 
3.5 NHDC Housing Development Officer – Objection to non-policy compliant scheme for 

affordable housing provision. Officer accepts there is a viability issue and recommends 
that if 25% of new homes would be affordable the tenure should remain with at least 65% 
social and 35% intermediate tenures, with a specified mix of size units set out in the 
SHMA.  

 
3.6 NHDC Greenspace Manager – No objection in principle but identifies a lack of on-site 

play space and the potential for the council to adopt the green and open spaces on the 
site. There is recognition for the subject to a contribution toward the provision of a NEAP 
off site at Newmarket Road recreation ground as an alternative to onsite provision.  

 
3.7 NHC Ecologist – No objection, subject to conditions and suitable legal agreement 

regarding BNG. Particular comments are noted regarding phasing of the development in 
the context of delivering biodiversity; ensuring the baseline of the matrix is correct; and 
the protection of the area around the copse 

Page 8



 

 

 
3.8 NHDC Urban Design Officer – No objection following discussion on the masterplan for 

the site and detailed discussion and negotiation on the full part of the application. 
Particular comments related to sections of the site to show the change of levels and need 
for several shallower retaining walls rather than fewer deep retaining walls; discussion and 
negotiation on detached garages, parking provision and quality of garden space.  

 
3.9 HCC Highways – No objection following discussion on the masterplan and detailed 

aspects of the proposals including on and off-site highways works, subject to conditions, 
informatives and delivery of and financial contributions toward transport infrastructure.  

 
3.10 HCC Growth and Infrastructure – No objection in principle subject to contributions 

toward education, childcare, youth, library and waste services. The county council have 
been notified of a viability constraint on the site and have agreed a proportionate reduction 
to their contributions.  

 
3.11 Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) – No objection, subject to conditions. 
 
3.12 HCC Historic Environment (Archaeology) – No objection.  
 
3.13 HCC Minerals and Waste – No objection in principle and supports to submitted Site 

Waste Management Plan.  
 
3.14 HCC Fire and Rescue Services – No objection, subject to a suitable condition.  
 
3.15 HCC Countryside and Rights of Way Officer – No response.   
 
3.16 Environment Agency – No site-specific advice given, standing advice provided.  

 

3.17 The Conservators of Therfield Heath – Acknowledge provision of 3ha of on-site SANG 
and a 2.69km permissive footpath. No objection, subject to contributions toward 
management measures based on £1,000 per unit (to be indexed linked to Q1 2025) for 
‘management measures’ to mitigate the impact on the SSSI from new homes, plus a 
contribution toward a visitor/education facilities and related infrastructure. Total requested 
contribution £525,350 to be paid pre-commencement.  

 
3.18 Natural England – No objection subject to suitable mitigation to Therfield Heath SSSI. 

The provision of on-site SANG and an off-site footpath is welcomed and suggests a 
financial contribution toward on-site mitigation for Therfield Heath.  

 
3.19 Historic England – No advice given.  
 
3.20 Highways England – No response.  
 
3.21 NHS Clinical Commissioning Group – No objection, subject to the provision of a 

financial contribution toward a new build primary care facility in Royston.  
 
3.22 Herts Constabulary (Crime Prevention Design Advisor) – No objection, subject to an 

informative regarding Secured By Design accreditation.  
 

Page 9



 

 

3.23 Sport England – Initial objection to the lack of on-site sport facilities. Objection removed 
on the agreement to make financial contributions toward the provision of off-site sports 
facilities including football, rugby, cricket, hockey, swimming pools and tennis.  

 
3.24 Anglian Water – No objection, subject to informatives.  
 
3.25 National Grid (Asset Protection Team) – No response received.  
 

Neighbour and Local Resident Representations  
 
3.26 The application has been advertised via 362 neighbour notification letters, the display of 

site notices and a press notice. At the time of finalising this report, a total of 52 
comments has been received including 48 objections and 4 neutral comments. There 
were two rounds of public consultation on this planning application: the second round 
was regarding an updated masterplan and updated full details on phase 1.  

 
3.27 The objections and the issues raised are summarised as follows:  
 

In principle: 
- Royston has experienced significant housing development in recent years and further 

development is not justified 

- Distance of the site from shops and services mean people will use their cars to get around 
- Increased spread into the countryside 
- Lack of consideration of brownfield sites for development rather than greenfield 
- Impact on the landscape 
- The number of dwellings is excessive for the site 
- The need to provide sufficient sustainable drainage with long term maintenance 
- Impact of the development on the quiet character of the area related to increased noise, 

air and light pollution 
- Loss of privacy to existing residents 
- Impact of the development on zero carbon targets 
- Viability should be based on up-to-date evidence, not relying on the previous application 
- The previous applications for outline permission and phase 1 reserved matters are lapsed 

and do not relate spatially to the current application 
- Question regarding how the overhead power lines will be dealt with and lack of 

consideration of the impact of underground electricity cables 
- Objection to multi storey flats which would be out of keeping with the area 
- Loss of agricultural use 
- Lack of ‘affordable’ homes 

 
Highways: 

- Cumulative negative impact on existing traffic in Royston  
- This will be a housing site reliant on the use of the car due to the distance to the town’s 

services and facilities 
- Increased housing in the area is not sustainable with the impact of cars on the roads 
- Lack of parking in the town 
- Newmarket Road is very busy during school pick up and drop off times, and is not safe to 

cross 

- Inadequate access and visibility up and down the hill of Newmarket Road 
- Junction of Newmarket Road to the A505 with no-right turn 

Page 10



 

 

- To have a footpath on the south side of Newmarket Road would result in felling of many 
mature trees 

- Impact on Icknield Way 
- Lack of public transport 
- Ambiguity regarding the footpaths through the plantation 
- Recommendation for lower parking rations, car club bays, EV charging and a travel plan 

 
Infrastructure: 

- Dentists and doctors are under too much pressure already 
- Impact on the water supply and foul water systems 
- Lack of school sites and places, poor standard of the buildings at King James school 
- Lack of social facilities 
- Significant negative impact on local services and infrastructure including schools, nursery 

and sixth forms 
- Other large developments in Royston have not mitigated their impact, and those sites full 

impact is not yet known as they near completion 
 

Ecology, trees and landscape: 
- The need for continued protection of the woodland buffer around the site for wildlife, 

privacy and character of the area 
- There should be a requirement that no trees are removed from the plantation which is 

outside of the applicant’s control 

- Displaced habitats, birds and wildlife 
- Loss of open countryside 
- Loss of ease of access to countryside 
- Loss of trees and existing hedgerow 
- Recommendation to include swift bird bricks into new homes 

 
Construction phase: 

- Objection to the construction phase causing traffic, noise and dust 
- The need to control construction traffic to appropriate hours, away from residential streets 

and to manage environmental impact 
- The need to phase the development in line with delivery of infrastructure 

 
Other considerations: 

- Impact on the wellbeing and mental health of existing residents 
 
4.0 Planning Considerations 
 
4.1.1 Site and Surroundings 
 
4.1.2 The application site comprises a large area of arable farmland to the east of the Valley 

Rise residential area. The site is about 1km from the town centre and 1.7km to Royston 
railway station.  
 

4.1.3 The site is to the south of the Newmarket Road and is surrounded by woodland to the 
south, east and west and a tree belt to the north along Newmarket Road. The site rises 
by about 30m from Newmarket Road traversing south with a dip in the central area. There 
is a small copse of trees in the southeastern corner of the site. An existing pair of semi-
detached cottages off Newmarket Road to be retained create a ‘notch’ out of the red line. 

Page 11



 

 

 

4.1.4 There are arable fields, some pockets of woodland, and Burloes Hall to the south and east 
of the site. Directly to the north of Newmarket Road lies the Newmarket Road Recreation 
Ground on the left and the housing site of Meridian Gate which is nearing completion on 
the right.  
 

4.2 Policy Background 
 

4.2.1 The application site has been allocated in the NHLP as housing site RY10. Allocation 
RY10 has a dwelling estimate of 300 homes with the following requirements: 
 

• Provide a site-specific landscape assessment and tree survey. Retention of trees and 
hedgerows where possible 

• Design and layout to respond to topography 

• Address potential surface water flood risk through SUDs or other appropriate solution 

• Archaeological survey to be completed prior to development 

• Detailed drainage strategy identifying water infrastructure required and mechanism(s) 
for delivery 

 
4.3 Proposal 

 
4.3.1 Hybrid application for residential development of up to 325 dwellings comprising two parts:  

 
a) Outline application for up to 219 dwellings and associated infrastructure with all 

matters reserved apart from primary means of access and emergency and 
pedestrian/cycle access from Burloes Hall Drive. 

 
b) Full planning application for Phase 1 comprising 106 dwellings and associated 

infrastructure including access from Newmarket Road, emergency and 
pedestrian/cycle access from Burloes Hall Drive, internal highways, public open 
space, landscaping and drainage.  

 
4.3.2 The application is supported by the following supporting documents and plans: 

 
Outline plans: 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0205-D5-P2 Location Plan 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0206-D5-P1 Site Plan 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0150-D5-P3 Developable Area Parameter Plan 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0151-D5-P4 Access Parameter Plan 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0153-D5-P1 Green and Blue Framework Plan 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0154-D5-P1 Play Framework Plan 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0155-D5-P1 Built Form Framework Plan 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0156-D5-P2 Movement Framework Plan 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0157-D5-P1 Phasing Framework Plan 
 

Full plans: 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0210-D5-P2-Site Location Plan Phase 1 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0230-D5-P5-Site Layout Plan 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0231-D5-P3-External Materials and Boundaries Plan 

Page 12



 

 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0232-D5-P3-Surfacing Material Plan 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0233-D5-P6-Affordable Tenure Plan 22%  

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0234-D5-P3-Refuse Strategy Plan  

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0235-D5-P3-Parking Strategy Plan 

• 23324-MA-XX-XX-DR-C-0103 P05 General Arrangement proposed site access 

• 23324-MA-XX-XX-DR-C-0130 P04 Visibility splays 

• 23324-MA-XX-XX-DR-C-7003 P02 Swept Path Analysis – single decker bus 

• 23324-MA-XX-XX-DR-C-7002 P02 Swept Path Analysis – refuse vehicle 

• ROY01-LLA-P1-GF-DR-L-(0101) P04 Detailed Hard Landscape Proposals 

• ROY01-LLA-P1-GF-DR-L-(0102) P04 Detailed Hard Landscape Proposals 

• ROY01-LLA-P1-GF-DR-L-(0103) P04 Detailed Hard Landscape Proposals 

• ROY01-LLA-P1-GF-DR-L-(0104) P04 Detailed Hard Landscape Proposals 

• ROY01-LLA-P1-GF-DR-L-(0105) P04 Detailed Hard Landscape Proposals 

• ROY01-LLA-P1-GF-DR-L-(0106) P05 Detailed Hard Landscape Proposals 

• ROY01-LLA-P1-GF-DR-L-(0201) P03 Detailed Planting Proposals   

• ROY01-LLA-P1-GF-DR-L-(0202) P03 Detailed Planting Proposals   

• ROY01-LLA-P1-GF-DR-L-(0203) P03 Detailed Planting Proposals   

• ROY01-LLA-P1-GF-DR-L-(0204) P03 Detailed Planting Proposals   

• ROY01-LLA-P1-GF-DR-L-(0205) P03 Detailed Planting Proposals   

• ROY01-LLA-P1-GF-DR-L-(0206) P04 Detailed Planting Proposals   

• ROY01-LLA-P1-GF-DR-L-0301_P01 Landscape Specification and Details 

• ROY01-LLA-P1-XX-RP-L-0601_P02 Landscape Management Plan 

• ROY01-LLA-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0001_P04 Landscape Masterplan 

• 2307-831-ST100D DRAINAGE STRATEGY PHASE 1 

• 2307-831-ST101D EXCEEDANCE FLOW PHASE 1 

• 2307-831-ST110D LEVEL STRATEGY Sheet 1 

• 2307-831-ST111F LEVEL STRATEGY Sheet 2 

• 2307-831-ST112D LEVEL STRATEGY Sheet 3 

• 2307-831-ST130D ROAD SETTING OUT PHASE 1  

• 2307-831-ST138D SECTION 38 LAYOUT PHASE 1  

• 2307-831-ST139D SECTION 38 LINE MARKINGS PHASE 1  

• 2307-831-ST200 RESTING PLACES RESTING PLACES  

• 2307-831-ST100 SPINE ROAD RESTING PLACES 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0300-D5-P01-234_V3 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0301-D5-P01-234 Side Patio_V3 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0302-D5-P01-242_V3 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0303-D5-P01-341_V1 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0304-D5-P01-341_V3 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0305-D5-P01-351_V1 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0306-D5-P01-351_V2 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0307-D5-P01-351_V3 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0308-D5-P01-354_V1 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0309-D5-P01-354_V3 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0310-D5-P01-461_K1 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0311-D5-P01-461_V1 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0312-D5-P01-461_V2 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0313-D5-P01-461_V3 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0314-D5-P01-462_K2 House type 

Page 13



 

 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0315-D5-P01-462_V3 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0316-D5-P01-466_K2 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0317-D5-P01-466_V1 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0318-D5-P01-466_V3 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0319-D5-P01-467_K1 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0320-D5-P01-467_K2 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0321-D5-P01-467_V2 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0322-D5-P01-467_V3 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0323-D5-P01-581_K1 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0324-D5-P01-581_V3 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0325-D5-P01-AF1+AF2 Maisonettes_V3 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0330-D5-P01-Garages  

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0331-D5-P01-Sales garage 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0332-D5-P01-Hipped Garages 
 
Illustrative and supporting plans and documents: 

• Planning Statement Addendum July 2025 V1 

• BNG PDF Version Biodiversity Metric 11.08.25 H  

• Ecological Appraisal FPCR October 2025 D  

• 24414-MA-XX-TN-D-TN-01 Technical Note TN01  

• APPENDIX B - ISOCHRONES Appendix B Isochrones  

• ROY01-MCB-XX-XX-DA-A-0020-D5-P2_Design and Access Statement (Parts 1 to 4) 

• ROY01-MCB-XX-XX-DA-A-0030-D5-P3_SMF design parameters and principles   

• 2025.07.21 Royston Flood Risk Assessment Rev B 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0233-D5-P5-Affordable Tenure Plan 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0140-D5-P8 Illustrative Framework 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0275-D5-P2 Site Sections 1, 2, 3, 4 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0277-D5-P1 Illustrative Sections 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0270-D5-P3-Illustrative Streetscene AA 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0271-D5-P3-Illustrative Streetscenes BB-CC-DD 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0276-D5-P1-Site Sections (Plots)  
 
4.4 Legal basis of determining the Planning application 

 
4.4.1 Members will be familiar with the standard legal advice that is set out at the end of each 

planning Control Committee report which advises that legislation requires planning 
applications to be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. This approach was developed within Section 54A of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). It is also re-emphasised within 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compensation Act 2004, which reads as follows: 
 

4.4.2 ‘if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purposes of any determination to be 
made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the 
Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise’. 

 
  

Page 14



 

 

4.5 Environmental Impact Assessment 
 

4.5.1 For certain types of development proposals, a screening opinion is necessary to determine 
if it is likely to result in significant environmental effects and, consequently, require an 
Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA). This screening process is undertaken by the 
local planning authority.  

 
4.5.2 As part of the previous outline application, a screening opinion request was made to the 

local planning authority for the proposed development (ref. 16/03246/1SO). The council’s 
response, provided in January 2017, confirmed that the development falls within Schedule 
2 of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 
2017 (as amended) and that as it does not exceed the threshold it was not considered 
likely to have a significant effect on the environment by virtue of factors such as its nature, 
size or location. On this basis, officers concluded that the proposed development is not 
'EIA development' within the meaning of the 2011 Regulations, which officers consider still 
applies in the context of the updated 2017 Regulations (as amended).  
 

4.5.3 For the avoidance of doubt, this decision is relevant only for the purpose of a screening 
opinion pursuant to the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2017 (as amended). The screening opinion, dated January 2017, was 
reviewed on submission of this application, and no changes to circumstances were 
identified to justify an alternative decision, so the determination of the application 
progresses as not ‘EIA development’. 
 

5.1 Key Issues 
 

5.1.1 The key issues for consideration of this planning application are as follows:  
 

a) Principle of development and housing delivery 
b) Masterplanning and site-specific requirements 
c) Impact of the development on the landscape and visual setting 
d) Impact of the development on trees 
e) Impact of the development on heritage assets including archaeology 
f) Impact on the local highway network, access and parking 
g) Flood risk and drainage 
h) Ecology and Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) 
i) Open Space Provision 
j) Sport Facility Impacts 
k) Primary Healthcare 
l) Environmental Health considerations 
m) Impact on the residential amenity 
n) Sustainability assessment 
o) Planning Obligations 
p) Planning Balance 

 
5.2 Principle of development and Housing Delivery 

 
5.2.1 The North Hertfordshire Local Plan 2011-2031 (NHLP) was adopted by the Council in 

November 2022 after it was found sound following Examination in Public between 2017 
and 2022. This planning application made in 2024, follows on from a previous outline 

Page 15



 

 

application approved ref 17/00110/1 and phase 1 ref 20/01138/RM, which have now 
expired. Weight was given to the emerging NHLP in consideration of the previous 
application as the preparation of the Local Plan was at advanced stage. The site allocation 
remained in the Local Plan ref RY10.  
 

5.2.2 NHLP Policy SP1 on sustainable development in the district is the backbone for 
considering proposals. It requires the main role of key settlement, such as Hitchin to be 
the main focus for new development. Proposals should ‘deliver an appropriate mix of 
homes, jobs and facilities that contribute towards the targets and spirations of this Plan’, 
‘provide the necessary infrastructure…’, ‘protect [the] environment’, and ‘secure any 
necessary mitigation measures that reduce the impact of development…’  
 

5.2.3 The site is allocated as a Local Housing Allocation through Policy RY10 land south of 
Newmarket Road in NHLP para. 13.299 for an estimated 300 homes. The applicant has 
been working through this planning application to produce an acceptable ‘comprehensive 
and deliverable Strategic Masterplan’ in accordance with Policy SP9. The detailed 
requirements of these policies will be assessed in the following sections of this report. 
 

5.2.4 Policy SP2 identifies a significant housing need in the district which for Royston equates 
to ‘at least 1,899 new homes’ (total allocated, completed and permitted at 2022) over the 
plan period, of which RY10 contributes 300 homes towards the 478 allocated sites. 
 

5.2.5 As set out in the Council’s most recent Housing Land Supply Update (November 2025), 
the total requirement for housing delivery in the District from 1 April 2025 to 31 March 2030 
is 3,629 dwellings. The Council therefore can only demonstrate a five-year land position 
of 2.6 years against our objectively assessed housing need of 1,120 homes per annum, 
annual shortfall and 5% buffer. This figure falls below the five-year figure as required in 
the NPPF.  
 

5.2.6 Paragraph 11 of the NPPF states that: ‘Plans and decisions should apply a presumption 
in favour of sustainable development... For decision-taking this means: c) approving 
development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan without delay’. 
 

5.2.7 Where a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites cannot be demonstrated, para. 11 
(d) of the NPPF confirms that where ‘the policies which are most important for determining 
the application are out-of-date’ [including the housing land supply]…unless (i) there are 
protected areas or assets of particular importance (i.e. Green Belt and heritage assets) 
which provide a strong reason for refusing the development proposed or (ii) ‘any adverse 
impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when 
assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole, having particular regard 
to key policies for directing development to sustainable locations, making effective use of 
land, securing well-designed places and providing affordable homes, individually or in 
combination’, permission should be granted. This process is known as the ‘tilted balance’. 
 

5.2.8 For the application site, as the development plan is out of date, the proposals should ‘be 
approved without delay’. Officers note the position on the Council’s 5-year housing land 
supply, meaning that the tilted balance is engaged and the remainder of this report will 
balance up the issues for consideration and conclusion at the end. The need for this 
housing is evident. The delivery of this site is realistic in the short-term (next 5 years) 

Page 16



 

 

especially given the hybrid nature of this application, which would give full permission for 
phase 1.  
 

5.2.9 This matter of housing delivery comprising provision of 254 market homes out of 325 units, 
weighs significantly in favour of the proposal in the planning balance.  
 

Provision of Affordable Housing 

 

5.2.10 NHLP Policy HS2 requires certain levels of affordable housing to be delivered on 
development sites in relation to the size of the site. This site is required to deliver 40% 
affordable housing, which is split at 65% rented and 35% other tenures, and the housing 
mix to reflect the needs of the housing register. Policy HS2 part a)i recognises that these 
targets are ‘subject to viability’. Affordable housing provision is to be secured by legal 
agreement.  
 

5.2.11 The applicant recognises that affordable housing needs to be delivered on site and 
proposed 15% of housing on site to be affordable. The applicant submitted a viability 
appraisal which has been independently assessed. Through prolonged examination of the 
viability appraisal and detailed negotiations on S106 contributions, the applicant has 
agreed to a level of 22% affordable housing that would be compliant on the division of 
tenures in both phases of development, together with a package of contributions, which is 
set out in the following sections of this report. The applicant, at the time of writing this 
report, has agreed to a conditional ‘viability review mechanism’ trigger based on the time 
that lapses before implementation meaning that the proportion of affordable homes could 
increase should a review mechanism be triggered. This will be discussed again in more 
detail in the Planning Obligations section of this report. 
 

5.2.12 Following an email from the applicant on 28th November 2025, the affordable housing 
phased proportion would be as follows: 
 

  
  Market  

Affordable    
Total Rent SO 

Phase 1 83 15 8 106 

Phase 2 171 31 17 219 

  254 46 25 325 

 
5.2.13 The housing mix and tenure for the outline part of the application (phase 2) would be 

subject of an affordable housing scheme secured by S106. In the same email identified 
above, the applicant proposes the affordable housing mix and tenure for Phase 1 would 
be as follows: 
 

 Phase 1 

  Rent SO 

1B maisonette 2 0 

1B Flat 0 0 

2b maisonette 2 0 

2B FOG 0 0 

2B flat 0 0 

Page 17



 

 

2b bungalow 4 0 

2B house 4 6 

3B house  3 2 

4B house 0 0 

Totals 15 8 

 
5.2.14 Officers are content that the affordable housing proportions, with a policy compliant mix of 

tenures is maximised according to the viability of developing this site, subject to re-
consultation with NHC Housing Strategy on the housing mix and tenure in phase 1. This 
will be secured by a legal agreement. Affordable housing should be spread across the site 
in small clusters rather than be situated on one or two parts of the site and should be 
physically indistinguishable from the market housing. Details of location and housing 
design for phase 1 are set out in the plans.   
 

5.2.15 The Local Plan has been adopted by the Council since the previous outline was given 
planning permission. The site is allocated for approximately 300 homes. The site will make 
a significant contribution to the delivery of homes in North Hertfordshire for the rest of the 
Plan period. The principle of development for this Local Housing Allocation is therefore 
acceptable in accordance with NHLP Policies SP1, SP2 and SP5, and noting the NPPF 
para 11.d) ii which emphasises regard to ‘providing affordable homes’.  
 

5.2.16 This matter of affordable housing delivery, despite the under provision according to the 
Local Plan, weighs very significantly in favour of the proposal in the planning balance.  
 

5.3 Masterplanning and site-specific requirements 
 

5.3.1 NHLP Policy SP9 allows for masterplans to be agreed “…prior to or as part of the grant of 
planning permission”. This current application was submitted in 2024 which included a 
draft masterplan. The applicant has therefore been working with the Council to address 
its requirements as part of the application with a view to the masterplan comprising the 
basis for the outline part of the application.  
 

5.3.2 The Council’s accompanying Policy SP9 Approval Process procedural guidance, at 
para.1.21-1.25, sets out how masterplans can be approved by virtue of granting planning 
permission through an application. Para 1.25 of the guidance states that Strategic 
Masterplans that will be approved as part of the grant of planning permission will be 
presented to the [Strategic Planning Project] Board for information and on an advisory 
basis only. The masterplan was presented to the Board in November 2025. The Board 
have been kept updated on progress with the application through the Strategic Sites 
Tracker.  
 

5.3.3 Policy RY10 is the site-specific policy for the site and has site-specific requirements to be 
read alongside Policy SP9 on Masterplanning. The submitted masterplan has been 
assessed under Policy RY10 as follows: 
 

5.3.4 A principal requirement is that there is a ‘comprehensive and deliverable Strategic 
Masterplan for the entire allocation and agreed between the developer and the Council’. 
This planning application is for outline permission and comprises the SMP that meets this 
requirement. Applications for reserved matters will follow to build on the foundations of 

Page 18



 

 

this strategic masterplan. Conditions to this permission would also build on the framework 
agreed through this application. As per Policy RY10 all subsequent applications will be 
assessed against this masterplan.  
 

5.3.5 The site is allocated for an estimated 300 homes, and this planning application is for 
development of ‘up to 325 homes’. This will be made up through phases of development 
with the first phase included in this hybrid application for 106 homes. This will be examined 
in more detail later in the report.  
 

a) Provide a site-specific landscape assessment and tree survey. Retention of trees and 
hedgerows where possible:  
The application is supported by a landscape assessment and an arboricultural 
assessment, which extends beyond the red line of the site into adjacent plantations. It is 
noted that objections relate to the removal of trees from the plantation. The plantations will 
generally not be affected, except for the new footpath link through to the end of Aintree 
Road, the new vehicular access onto Newmarket Road and the new emergency access 
from the lane to Burloes Hall.  
 

b) Design and layout to respond to topography:  
The masterplan has been through a series of workshops between the council and the 
applicant, in order to understand the constraints and opportunities for the site. Due to the 
constraints (topography, location of potential vehicular access, existing cottages, and 
plantations around the site) there are limited options for how the site can be laid out. 
However, together with advice on ecology, highways and drainage an appropriate and 
achievable masterplan has been worked up. The layout of the main road will inform how 
secondary roads sit and the houses around them. Generally, the road pattern follows the 
curve of the bowl shape of the site.  
 

c) Address potential surface water flood risk through SUDS or other appropriate solution: 
This has been addressed in the floor risk and drainage section of the report below.  
 

d) Archaeological survey to be completed prior to development:  
This has been addressed in the heritage assets section of the report below.  

 
e) Detailed drainage strategy identifying water infrastructure required and mechanim(s) for 

delivery:  
This has been addressed in the flood risk and drainage section of the report below.  
 

5.3.6 The proposals therefore comply with all requirements of Policy RY10.  
 

5.3.7 The application has been assessed under Policy SP9 on masterplanning as follows: 
 
i. create buildings, spaces and streets which positively reflect and respond to the local 

landscape, townscape and historic character  
The masterplan has been designed specifically for this site, in order to respond to the 
particular topography, adjacent residential development and respond to the plantations 
surrounding. Addressing topography is reflective of the character of this area and Royston. 
Much of Royston is characterised by hilly surrounds. Leaving a buffer to the plantations 
around all sides of the development helps the development settle into the edge of town 
setting and respond to the countryside beyond. New and/or reinforced footpath 

Page 19



 

 

connections will help to establish the network around the edge of the town and from the 
site into existing residential areas. The site will include quality greenspaces within the 
middle of the site in the form of a green corridor, play area and several SUDS features. 
The copse comprising existing good quality trees will form an established green space 
connecting the countryside to the site. There will be a good viewpoint from this corner over 
the development and there will be two focal points for residents within the site at the copse 
and at the bottom of the green corridor with the new play area.  

 
ii. create integrated, accessible and sustainable transport systems with walking, cycling and 

public transport designed to be the most attractive forms of transport and effectively linking 
into the surrounding areas;  
The masterplan process has enabled the applicant to look at the site again and build in 
from the beginning of the design of the site active and sustainable transport, by 
considering utility and leisure routes and designing it as a backbone to the development 
of the site. This is an improvement compared to the previously approved outline 
application (17/00110/1) in the collaborative consideration of how residents will access the 
site by foot and cycle. The highway authority have carefully considered the best ways that 
the developer can contribute towards active and sustainable travel in the vicinity of the site 
as well. The Access parameter plan shows the main site access will also be the best active 
travel route to and from the site onto Newmarket Road. There will also be a footpath 
connection into Aintree Road to connect to the existing residential area, and a leisure route 
south into the countryside. The ‘access and movement’ framework plan shows how the 
Icknield Way route which run along Newmarket Road on the north side and then switches 
to the south side of the road to the east of the application site. The application site has 
made provision for an alternative route, rather than having to cross Newmarket Road 
without a crossing on a faster part of that road, the alterative runs roughly parallel to 
Newmarket Road and would exit the site at Aintree Road.  

 
iii. provide a clear structure and hierarchy of pedestrian friendly streets and well-connected 

footpaths and cycleways integrate with the wider built and natural environment and 
communities;  
The masterplan sets out a clear hierarchy for how the street is structured with the main 
road running through the site, ‘secondary’ streets off the main streets, and ‘tertiary’ streets 
and private drives towards the edges of the site, defining a good sense of place and 
providing legibility through the site.  

 
iv. plan for integrated and mixed-use communities with walkable locally accessible 

community, employment and retail facilities;  
The development will have green and open space of a range of types including play space 
which will be attractive for residents’ social cohesion. The site will integrate physically 
using footpaths into Aintree Road and Newmarket Road and beyond into the recreation 
ground. The site will be walkable for the recreation ground, play space, skatepark and 
grass playing pitch. The developer will provide the highway infrastructure for safe highway 
access and beyond to enable easy active travel access into the town centre and railway 
station. The site will provide a mix of housing size and tenure. The provision of affordable 
housing is lower than the policy requirement, so there is a conflict with this element of 
providing an integrated community. Of the affordable housing provided the tenure split 
provided is policy compliant.  

 

Page 20



 

 

v. positively integrate with adjacent rural and urban communities and positively contribute to 
their character and the way the area functions, including addressing cumulative, cross 
boundary planning and infrastructure matters;  
The site will integrate with the existing community physically with foot and cycle links. The 
site benefits from a substantial and established plantation around all sides and so provides 
an existing boundary to the rural area, and so providing links on the north and west edges 
is logical. The developer will also provide a new permissive footpath around the field to 
the south of the site for leisure walking (rather than utility) and provides future and existing 
residents with further opportunity to enjoy the countryside, which will contribute towards 
all residents’ wellbeing. The new footpath will integrate into the existing rights of way 
network in the area and help connect the rural edges all the way around Royston.  

 
vi. create an accessible multi-functional green infrastructure network that provides:  

• a key structuring and functional place-making feature supporting healthy lifestyles, 
sport, play and recreation linking into the wider Green Infrastructure Network; and 
a high-quality integrated network to support ecological connectivity, biodiversity 
net gain, climate adaptation and mitigation linking into the wider Ecological 
Network  

• ensure the effective use of sustainable urban drainage and sustainable water 
management;  

• ensure a hierarchy of linked, high quality and attractive public spaces and public 
realm that is safe, attractive and supports social interaction for all age groups; and  

 
The site has provided key structural green infrastructure through complimentary habitat 
and by utilising a green corridor for blue infrastructure as well. The drainage system will 
be multifunctional and provide a setting to the site and accommodate an area for play. 
Sports provision is not achievable on site due to the steep topography and the size of 
the site, however the developer agreed to contribute towards sports provision and 
existing needs of clubs in the town. The site delivers biodiversity net gain provision and 
protects and existing valuable source of biodiversity and habitat in the copse on site. 
The proposed public and green spaces on site will deliver high quality and attractive 
public realm which will support social interaction for all residents.  

 
vii. design to last with a clear stewardship, management and maintenance strategy.   

The greenspaces and SUDS on this site will be managed by a management company. 
This will be robustly secured through the s106 legal agreement. This has been 
explored and will be address in more detail in the open space section of this report 
below.  

 
Compliance of Full Details of Phase 1 with the Masterplan 
 

5.3.8 Regarding detailed matters of Phase 1, where full planning permission is sought for the 
first 106 units on site, together with the main vehicular access, part of the main road, the 
bus turning circle, and main drainage feature for the site, this section will review the layout, 
scale, appearance and landscaping of this phase.  
 

5.3.9 In relation to layout and access, the phase 1 site stems off the main road, which will run 
from the main access from Newmarket Road. Phase 1 will fill in the first third of the site 
adjacent to the existing residential area on the west side of the site. Phase 1 will also see 
the delivery of several key pieces of infrastructure (access, substation, drainage and bus 
facility) and a proportionate amount of open and green space. As this part of the site will 

Page 21



 

 

be delivered first, this will include active travels links towards Royston town centre, 
including leisure route out to the field to the south, footpath through to Aintree Road, and 
the foot and cycle links onto Newmarket Road, ready for onward connection. The block of 
development in phase 1 has been based on these transport corridors, to allow for easy 
legibility and permeability of the site. This layout creates five blocks of development where 
there is space for housing to be looking out of the block onto the main street and the edges 
of the development. Two blocks are large enough to accommodate a smaller mews type 
street within the block which can help accommodate different types and sizes of units, 
adding to the housing mix on site. These proposals are in accordance with the Access, 
Developable Area, Land Use parameter plans.  
 

5.3.10 All plots on site will benefits from their own rear garden, which are logical areas and 
useable spaces. The smallest gardens would be about 38 sq.m which is acceptable for 
the two-bedroom homes proposed there. It is noted that some bin and cycle stores shown 
on the plans are in some awkward positions and Officers recommend a condition is 
imposed to ensure details of the bin and cycle stores are agreed prior to installation as 
well as their locations.  
 

5.3.11 The substation is located to the rear of the existing Burloes Cottages. The substation 
building is set back to avoid it being overly visible in the entrance to the site. It is reasonably 
well located here, as it is out of the ‘complimentary habitat buffer’, however despite 
comments from the Urban Design Officer the apron provided to the front of the substation 
is excessive, with the need for only one parking space which will be used rarely. 
Landscaping is proposed to screen the substation, particularly from the entrance of the 
site and from the existing cottages, however Officer consider that further detail by 
condition is needed to help rationalise this hardstanding around it and determine an 
appropriate hard standing material for the apron and parking space.  
 

5.3.12 For scale, Phase 1 delivers a third (106 units) of the housing number applied for (325 
units) and relates to about 5.3ha out of a total site area of about 13.6ha. Phase 1 provides 
additional greenspace compared to the remainder of this site. Phase 1 would deliver a 
density of about 20dpha, which is on the low side, although the Local Plan does not define 
what lower and higher density is. Officers consider that 20dpha is deliverable on this site, 
given the significant topographical constraint, and an appropriate density on this edge of 
town location.  
 

5.3.13 The Building Height parameter plan shows the majority of the site to be ‘up to 2-2.5 
storeys’ except in the steepest parts of the site the levels can be used to have 3-3.5 
storeys, where the ridgeline is no more than 15m and buildings could have a split level to 
help use the levels of the site. Phase 1 only relates to areas on this parameter plan noted 
as 2-2.5m and so phase 1 complies with this part.  
 

5.3.14 In terms of appearance the developer has proposed a range of their standard house types 
and adapted them for this site to suit the Council’s aspirations for urban design ahead of 
the publication of the District Design Code expected in 2026. There is a level of 
coordination and simplicity across the house types using roof forms and materials to help 
create a sense of place and enhance legibility of the site. This sets the bar for phase 2 
and the applicant is aware of areas of phase 1 where there could be improvements to the 
design, such as use of garages, mid terrace properties using fenced corridors to access 
their rear gardens, bin storage, landscaping and parking space design. Details regarding 

Page 22



 

 

materials will need to be secured by condition, should this application be granted planning 
permission.   
 

5.3.15 Regarding the use of retaining walls on site, this is understood due to the steep topography 
of the site. Whilst a levels strategy is submitted some of the proposed retaining walls are 
significant (for example a maximum height of 2.65m) plus a 2m high timber fence, this is 
thought to create an unpleasant environment for rear gardens and properties at the lower 
level. Given the site slopes down from the south, significant retaining walls would cause 
overshadowing particularly in the winter. A condition is therefore recommended whereby 
the applicant reconsiders the levels strategy and proposes a scheme of retaining walls to 
ensure that the height of these walls are kept to around 1m high and staggered so as to 
reduce the impact of particularly high retaining walls, the visual appearance and 
overshadowing.  
 

5.3.16 Regarding landscaping, a detailed hard landscaping plans is included for phase 1 together 
with a planting plan. This shows how various areas of the site will be dealt with according 
to the purpose of the green or open space, such as shrub borders, highway verge, new 
trees, complimentary habitat buffer, and drainage areas. In principle officers support the 
proposed planting plans, however no response was received to the consultation request 
for landscaping advice. As such it is recommended that a condition is used to agree 
planting details at a later date. This may well tie into ecological plans and the open space 
management plan, which would be a requirement for the whole site in relation to the outline 
part of this planning application.  
 

5.3.17 To conclude this section, as this site and the proposed development has been through the 
formal, collaborative masterplanning exercise which has been tied into extensive 
negotiations of this planning application. There have been improvements over the last 
year or so, and it is officers’ view that the proposals represent a good standard of urban 
design, in keeping with its context and which would include high quality green 
infrastructure and multi-functional green spaces. The site was presented to Strategic Sites 
Project Board as an ‘in-application’ masterplan on 18 November 2025.  
 

5.3.18 The full details submitted in relation to Phase 1 of the development are acceptable and in 
accordance with the masterplan and the parameter plans. The details submitted regarding 
layout, access, scale, appearance and landscaping are also acceptable.  
 

5.3.19 The NPPF paragraph 139 states that ‘significant weight should be given to: a) 
development which reflects local design policies and government guidance on design…’ 
As such, it is considered that an effective masterplan can be secured by condition which 
would comply with Policy SP9 and RY10. This matter weighs as a significant benefit in the 
planning balance.  

 
Impact on the landscape and agricultural land  
 

5.3.20 This is a large-scale housing development. Given its nature and scale there will inevitably 
be impact on the landscape. Within the context, national and development plan policies 
adopt an approach where development should only be approved where the harm would 
be outweighed by the benefits of the development.   
 
Landscape Character 

Page 23



 

 

 
5.3.21 NPPG Para 174 indicates that the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside should 

be recognised. The NPPF does not seek to protect the countryside for its own sake from 
development, rather it concentrates on seeking to protect valued landscapes. The site 
does not form part of any designated landscape.  
 

5.3.22 The NPPF does not define what is a valued landscape, albeit most landscapes are valued 
in one form or another, but case law demonstrates that value lies in it being considered 
more than just open countryside. Residents have indicated that they value the countryside 
within an around the application site, however there is nothing in the comments that would 
result in elevating the application site to that of a NPPF ‘valued landscape’.  

 
5.3.23 NHLP Policy NE1 seeks to protect, conserve and enhance the strategic green 

infrastructure network. Policy NE2 confirms that planning permission will be granted for 
development proposals that respect the sensitivities of the relevant landscape character, 
do not cause unacceptable harm to the character and appearance of the surrounding area 
or the landscape character area in which the site is located, taking account of any suitable 
mitigation measures necessary to achieve this, ensure the health and future retention of 
important landscape features and have considered the long-term management and 
maintenance of any existing and proposed landscaping.  

 

5.3.24 Policy RY10 for the site requires an application to include a ‘site-specific landscape 
assessment and tree survey. Retention of trees and hedgerows where possible; Design 
and layout to respond to topography…’ 
 
Landscape Character Assessment 

 
5.3.25 The application site is located in the far eastern end of National Character Area (NCA) 87 

for East Anglian Chalk, which is described as comprising ‘a visually simple and 
uninterrupted landscape of smooth, rolling chalkland hills with large regular fields enclosed 
by hawthorn hedges, with few trees and expansive views to the north’.  
 

5.3.26 The Council published the North Herts Landscape Study as part of the Local Development 
Framework in 2011 which is based on the Hertfordshire Landscape Character 
Assessment and subsequent sensitivity and capacity work. The site is within Region 3 The 
East Anglian Chalk, North Hertfordshire Ridge and detailed LCA 228 Scarp Slopes South 
of Royston. The key characteristics of this LCA are listed as: ‘chalk scarp slope incised by 
dry water cut valleys. Undulating landform with steeper slopes towards the upper playeau 
edge. Large scale arable fields with ordered pattern of rectilinear field boundaries and 
lanes with straight boundaries. Occasional farmsteads. Small tree plantations set out in 
discrete coverts. Individual tree belts’.  
 

5.3.27 The LCA evaluates the visual and sensory perception of the area as ‘expansive open area 
with long distance views to the north’, which is true of the application site, and notes on 
rarity and distinctiveness that ‘chalk scarps are a rare landscape type within the region’. 
On the condition and robustness of the LCA 228 the assessment states the condition to 
be poor and robustness to the strong.  
 

5.3.28 For LCA 228 the overall strategy is summarised in the assessment as follows: 
 

Page 24



 

 

• ‘Maintain the general open character of the area and in particular the long distance 
views over the lowland landscape to the north; 

• Promote management of woodland to encourage a diverse woodland flora; 

• Promote the creation of buffer zones between intensive arable production and areas 
of semi-natural habitat and the creation of links between habitat areas; and 

• Maintain and extend the rights of way network.’ 
 
The submitted Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) 

 
5.3.29 The application is accompanied by a LVIA prepared by Liz Lake Associates, which 

identifies the landscape and visual effects of the proposed development. In applying a 
standard methodology and professional judgement the LVIA sets out conclusions.  
 

5.3.30 The LVIA sets out that the site is deemed to be of ‘medium sensitivity’ to accommodate 
the proposed development, which is a combination of medium value and medium 
susceptibility, ‘since it is an established landscape where change of an appropriate nature 
could be absorbed without loss of key characteristics, individual elements or features and 
specific aesthetic or perceptual aspects or overall character’. While the site does not 
detract from the local landscape character, it also does not contain any features or 
attributes of rarity and is not particularly tranquil due to the proximity to the A505.  
 

5.3.31 The assessment finds that ‘there will be a direct and permanent change to the resource 
of the land’ from arable to residential with new built elements into an undeveloped part of 
the landscape. It states that the there will be an adverse effect on the landscape, but which 
is mitigated by limiting the type, design, colour, sales, height, mass and footprint of the 
development, which will be comparable to adjacent existing residential development. The 
proposals include new planting and greenspace which will have a beneficial effect. 
Overall, it is assessed that the proposals would have a ‘slight adverse to negligible effect.  
 

5.3.32 Regarding visual effects, the difference between temporary construction and permanent 
operational effects are noted, and will effect those closest to the site, albeit with the benefit 
of substantial landscaping between the application site and nearby residential properties, 
other than those at Burloes Cottages. The other most impacted viewpoints are from the 
Icknield Way, which is a public footpath in very close proximity to the northern boundary 
of the site.  
 
Suitability of the site  
 

5.3.33 In the previous outline application, it was not considered that the development would result 
in significant impacts on the landscape, but with the limit on the height of new buildings to 
mitigate the impact. There was no objection on this matter from Natural England, and this 
is maintained in this application.   
 

5.3.34 Officers agree with the LVIA that the existing site, while not detracting from local landscape 
character does not offer any particular special character that add to the landscape. The 
site is very well contained on all sides by existing structural landscaping, which is mature, 
and described on site and on plan as ‘plantations’, some of which are in public ownership. 
This mature landscaping offers substantial screening and physical containment of the 
development to almost all visual receptors locally.  
 

Page 25



 

 

5.3.35 Officers agree that the development will have an adverse effect on the landscape by virtue 
that any development here would, but the layout, height, scale, massing and appearance 
of the site with built up elements and greenspaces will help the site ‘blend’ into the overall 
picture of the town. The work the applicant has done on reviewing the masterplan for the 
site helps to mitigate the harm as far as possible on this allocated housing site. The steep 
topography is challenging as the site will also be visible in the distance, however the 
applicant has indicated in the masterplan that development can be laid out to reduce the 
built form impact on the landscape, stepping plots and stepping buildings within plots to 
make efficient use of the land and mitigate the impact.  
 

Phase 1 Full Details  
 

5.3.36 A landscaping scheme is submitted as part of the full details submitted for phase 1. In 
accordance with the masterplan, it shoes the complimentary habitat buffer to be a semi-
natural grassland. The areas amongst the houses will be decorative, and suitable for the 
locations proposed. The main drainage basin close to the existing Burloes Cottages is 
included in phase 1 and shown to be a useable greenspace with planting and mown paths 
through it. During periods of heavy rain the basin is likely to be wet, but otherwise due to 
the underlying chalk the site drains well. Officers expect the proposed landscaping plans 
for phase 1 would blend in well to the subsequent phase of development. A range of 
species and types of planting is shown on the plans which in principle is supported, 
however it is noted that no landscape response was received. So, despite the detailed 
plans, if approved, a condition should be included for the details to be submitted and 
agreed before implemented. The proposed extent and nature of landscaping proposed is 
acceptable, in accordance with the masterplan, and will help the development settle into 
the landscape.  
 

Conclusion  
 

5.3.37 In conclusion on this matter, it is considered that the site is of medium sensitivity due to its 
existing landscape character and topography, and that the proposals would inevitably 
have some adverse landscape and visual impact. Through reviewing the masterplan, 
provision of green spaces and green buffers around the perimeter of the site, it is 
considered that the adverse effect would be localised and limited as far as possible. The 
site, which would form an urban extension to Royston will sit in context of existing urban 
development and in time blend into the established urban character. Overall, the proposals 
are considered to be in accordance with the NPPF and NHLP Policies RY10, NE1 and 
NE2. This matter of visual and landscape impact is considered to result in moderate harm 
in the planning balance, but which has been suitably mitigated for within this allocated site.  
 

Agricultural Land 

 

5.3.38 Regarding the loss of agricultural land para 174(b) of the NPPF states decisions should 
recognise the economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land, 
however as this is an allocated site for housing in the adopted Local Plan officers have 
not considered this in the planning balance as the principle of development is accepted. 
This is neutral in the planning balance. 

 

5.4 Impact of the development on trees 
 

Page 26



 

 

5.4.1 Chapter 15 of the NPPF confirms that proposals should protect and enhance the natural 
environment. NHLP Policy SP1 seeks to protect key elements of North Hertfordshire’s 
environment. Policy NE2 seeks to ensure the health and future retention of important 
landscape features and their long-term management and maintenance.  

 
5.4.2 The application is supported by an Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Tree condition 

Survey by Ruskins Tree Consultancy, which was updated in July 2025 to reflect amended 
plans. The Survey has been undertaken for the application site as well as the plantations 
around the site. The assessment identifies the plantations around the site, and the copse 
within the site. There are no trees protected by protection order, and the site is not within 
a conservation area.  
 

5.4.3 The Assessment notes the quality of the trees around and within the site. Trees surveys 
within the plantations will not be permitted to be removed as intimated in ecological 
technical work, which has now been amended as land ownership prevents the removal of 
trees that may have been identified as Category U. There will be a need for tree removal 
to make way for the new main vehicular access into the site off Newmarket Road; the new 
construction and emergency access off Burloes Lane; the footpath on the northern side of 
Newmarket Road into the recreation ground; and the footpath through to Aintree Road. 
Detail of tree removal is provided for the first two vehicular accesses, and no detail of 
exact route of the footpaths including tree removal is proposed for either footpath, both of 
which are beyond the red line. Many of the trees to be removed for the vehicular accesses 
are category C, defined as ‘low quality and value – currently in adequate condition…’ 
 

5.4.4 It is understood the Aintree Road footpath link would be on NHDC land through the 
plantation, and the Newmarket Road recreation ground path would be through highway 
land and onto NHDC land of the recreation ground. These details need to be secured by 
condition and/or s106 agreement together with the highway authority, however following 
site visits and discussion with officers there are gaps through the plantations that would 
be a logical route and with as limited tree removal as possible.  
 

5.4.5 The copse within the site is formed of eight category B trees. The copse has been 
designed into the layout of the site, with green space around the copse to assist in its 
protection. It is envisaged this will provide a pleasant transition from countryside edge. 
Tree protection of phase 2 and especially the copse can be considered for relevant 
applications for reserved matters.  
 

Phase 1 Full Details 

 

5.4.6 With regard to the full details in phase 1, which includes the vehicular access, there will 
the loss of trees in implementing the main access. Most of these trees are identified as 
low quality and is necessary to facilitate the development. The proposed planting plans 
show the planting of some new trees particularly in the buffer to the plantations. As 
mentioned above, this should be conditioned in order to receive formal advice on the 
landscaping proposals. It is also recommended that a scheme of tree protection is agreed 
before work commences.  
 

5.4.7 To conclude, some low-quality trees will need to be removed to facilitate the development 
and to create new vehicular and active travel access points. More detail will be required 
for off-site accesses and associated tree removal which can be secured by condition 

Page 27



 

 

and/or s106 agreement. Otherwise, the category B trees within the copse will be protected 
and enhanced by being incorporated into the masterplan layout of the site. The proposals 
are therefore considered to be in accordance with the NPPF and NHLP Policy NE2. This 
matter weighs as neutral in the planning balance.  

 
5.5 Impact of the development on heritage assets including archaeology 
  
5.5.1 Section 66 (1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (the 

LBCA Act) stipulates that when considering whether to grant planning permission for 
development which affects a listed building, or its setting, and conservation area, special 
regard should be had to the desirability of preserving or enhancing those assets. 
  

5.5.2 The NPPF 2021 requires the description of ‘the significance of any heritage assets 
affected, including any contribution made by their setting’. LPAs should then ‘identify and 
assess the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by ta proposal 
(including by development affecting the setting of a heritage asset) …’ Para. 199 of the 
NPPF states that ‘when considering the impact of a proposed development on the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s 
conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be)’. This 
approach is reflected in NHLP Policies SP13 and HE1.  
 

5.5.3 The closest heritage assets are primarily in the town centre of Royston, with a 
Conservation Area and listed buildings focused on the historic core of the town, which is 
located to the west of the A10 roundabout and 750m from the application site. There is a 
range of Grade I, II* and II listed buildings and scheduled monuments. There is also a 
grade II listed building ‘Eagle House’ about 950m to the south on Barkway Road, and a 
scheduled monument off the A505 at Heath Farm 1.3km to the east of the application site.  
 

5.5.4 A response from Historic England gave no advice on the proposals. The conservation 
officer was not consulted due to the lack of proximity to heritage assets.  
 

5.5.5 A requirement of Policy RY10 is that an archaeological survey was undertaken prior to 
development. This has been done, and HCC Archaeology has confirmed that they are 
content with the report stating that no heritage assets of significance were revealed, 
concluding that development I unlikely to have a significant impact on heritage assets of 
archaeological interest. No further conditions were recommended.  
 

5.5.6 Due to the lack of proximity from the application site, together with the substantial 
enclosure of the site by existing plantations, Officers consider that there will be no harm 
to heritage assets as a result of the proposed development. The proposals are therefore 
in accordance with the NPPF and NHLP policies the proposals are considered to be 
compliant regarding the impact on heritage assets. This matter weighs as neutral in the 
planning balance. 

 
Impact on the local highway network, access and parking 

 
Impact on local highway network 

 
5.5.7 The issue of highway capacity is of concern to many local residents in terms of the 

additional traffic movements as a result of the development and that impact on the local 

Page 28



 

 

highway network. Of concern also is that the site is located on the far eastern side of the 
town, whereas many local services, facilities and infrastructure like the railway station is 
on the opposite side of the town, which is over a mile away from the site increasing reliance 
on the car for new residents. Another highlighted issue is the safety of the junction of 
Newmarket Road onto the A505. These points will be addressed in this section of the 
report.  
 

5.5.8 NHLP Policy SP6 on Sustainable Transport requires, amongst other matters considered 
later in this report, to ‘seek the earliest reasonable opportunity to implement sustainable 
travel infrastructure on Strategic housing Sites and other development sites in order to 
influence the behaviour of occupiers or users…’ 
 

5.5.9 Paragraph 115 of the NPPF states that: ‘In assessing sites that may be allocated for 
development in plans, or specific applications for development, it should be ensured that:  
a) sustainable transport modes are prioritised taking account of the vision for the site, 
the type of development and its location;  
b) safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users;  
c) the design of streets, parking areas, other transport elements and the content of 
associated standards reflects current national guidance, including the National Design 
Guide and the National Model Design Code48; and  
d) any significant impacts from the development on the transport network (in terms of 
capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an 
acceptable degree through a vision-led approach.’ 

 
5.5.10 The NPPF also sets a high bar in terms of grounds to refuse an application on highway 

matters: Para 116 states that ‘Development should only be prevented or refused on 
highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network, following mitigation, would be severe, 
taking into account all reasonable future scenarios’. The NPPF goes onto prioritise active 
and sustainable transport, creating places that are safe, secure and attractive, allow for 
delivery of goods, provide access for emergency services, and provide charging 
infrastructure. Travels plans are required where a development would ‘generate significant 
amounts of movement’ (para 118).  
 

5.5.11 NHLP Policy T1 on Assessment of Transport Matters states that ‘Planning permissions 
will be granted provided that a) development would not lead to highway safety problems 
or cause unacceptable impacts upon the highway network’.  

 
5.5.12 This planning application has been submitted with a Transport Assessment (TA) with 

appendices, draft Travel Plan and associated drawings. Additional supporting information 
was submitted in September 2025 to address comments from the highway authority.  

 
5.5.13 The ‘access parameter plan’ for the site features one main vehicular access point with 

main active travel paths onto Newmarket Road with a spine road through the site leading 
towards an additional emergency access to the lane to Burloes Hall. This emergency 
access would also be used for construction. There would be an additional footpath through 
the western boundary onto Aintree Road, and an informal unpaved path out from the south 
west corner into the countryside beyond. This reflects the proposal which previously 
secured outline planning permission in 2020. The proposals include a package of works 
related to vehicular access, passenger transport and active travel modes, which is set out 

Page 29



 

 

later in this section. These would either be secured by condition, s106 agreements and/or 
through a s38 and s278 highway agreements.  
 
Sustainable Transport 
 

5.5.14 The Highway Authority’s LTP4 contains Policy 1 and 4 which set out that in this declared 
climate emergency the site needs to be ‘unlocked’ in a sustainable way, by prioritising 
active and sustainable travel. NHLP Policy T1 also states that ‘Planning permission will 
be granted provided that:…b) mechanisms to secure any necessary sustainable transport 
measures and / or improvements to the existing highway network are secured in 
accordance with Policy SP7; and d) for major developments, applicants demonstrate (as 
far as is practicable) how: i. the proposed scheme would be served by public transport…’ 
 

5.5.15 In accordance with the NPPF, the application includes detail of various measures and 
mitigation to encourage pedestrian and cycle modes of transport: 

 
Strand 1 works: 

• The following works are all off site and are necessary to make the application 
acceptable in planning terms. These works are normally undertaken by the developer 
at their own expense and the detail agreed with the highway authority through a s278 
agreement. These works will enable residents easy and safe access to suitable routes 
around and out of the site by active and sustainable transport.  

• Toucan crossing over Newmarket Road 

• Widened footpath on the north side of Newmarket Road  

• Link from Newmarket Road through the corner of the recreation ground to the cul de 
sac in front of 86 Newmarket Road 

• Upgrade footway to a shared use path between Icknield Walk and Poplar Drive 

• Upgrade crossings at the southern ends of Icknield Walk and Poplar Drive with raised 
tabled to prioritise pedestrian movements and facilitate cycle access 

• New footpath from the western edge of the site into Aintree Road 

• Additional footpath connections into the adjacent plantation for leisure purposes 

• The main road through the site will have a parallel shared use path connecting with 
the Newmarket Road crossing 
 

Strand 2: 

• It is clear that the following interventions are necessary to make the application 
acceptable in planning terms but are included in Strand 2 because they offer wider 
benefits. 

• The strand 2 contribution with indexation to March 2024 is £9,861 per unit. The 
applicant has committed to pay the full contribution, which would be used to deliver 
two projects that would make the site sustainable in transport terms, and provide 
benefit to existing residents: a continuous shared-use path along Newmarket Road to 
the west side of the A10, including new or upgraded crossings; and a shared-use path 
along Melbourn Road between Garden Walk and Stamford Avenue (parts of LCWIP 
schemes NH46 and NH45, respectively). 

• The developer also has the option to complete the Newmarket Road project and pay 
a reduced financial contribution of £500,000 towards the Melbourn Road project.  
 

Page 30



 

 

5.5.16 The supporting plans to the application indicate broad acceptability for the off-site 
highways works but noted that this will need further work which will be identified as part of 
the S278 design process and a condition is recommended for this process.  
 

5.5.17 The highway authority at HCC also requires the inclusion of a bus turning facility within 
the application site. Its provision reflects a proposal in the previous planning application 
where the bus can enter the site, stop on the edge of a small gyratory where there will be 
a bus stop (with Kassel kerbing and a shelter), and then exit the site. This ensure all 
residents will be within 400m walking distance of a bus stop. Detail will be agreed through 
s38 and s278 agreements with the highway authority.  
 

5.5.18 A financial contribution is also requested towards the extension of an existing bus service 
to serve the site for the first 5 years, after which time the service will be reviewed 
accordingly.  
 

5.5.19 Overall, the highway authority at HCC considers that ‘the site can be unlocked sustainably 
in terms of appropriate pedestrian, cycle and bus access’ in accordance with the LTP4 
Policies 1 and 4, the NPPF, and NHLP Policies SP6 and T1.  
 
Road Safety 
 

5.5.20 The TA assessed road traffic collisions (RTCs) in the vicinity of the site, of which there 
were two at the junction of Newmarket Road with the A505., This junction has been 
reviewed and found to be safe in terms of the existing road network, and therefore this 
does not present a reason to restrict the application. Furthermore, as the existing layout 
was found to be acceptable there are no projects identified for the applicant to address or 
contribute towards.  
 

5.5.21 The highway authority comments on another RTC identified involving a pedestrian at the 
junction of Newmarket Road with the A10. The applicant is committed to either 
undertaking the project or paying the financial contribution towards this project for 
pedestrian and cycle access along Newmarket Road, which will improve road safety here 
and include a pedestrian crossing. The detail of this LCWIP project will need to be worked 
up with the highway authority through a s278 agreement.   
 
Traffic Analysis 
 

5.5.22 The traffic analysis undertaken by the applicant (prepared by Markides Associates in April 
2024 and with supplementary Technical Note in September 2025), and with advice from 
the highway authority, four nearby junctions have been assessed for the development 
proposals impact on those junctions which are: A505/Newmarket Road, A505/A10 
roundabout, A505/A1198 roundabout, and Newmarket Road/A10/Melbourn Road. The 
analysis has been extended to include the development proposals under application 
21/00765/OP should there get planning permission. The highway authority has concluded 
there will be a ‘negligible level of impact’ on three of those junctions. There is more than 
negligible impact at the A505/A1198 roundabout, but which is still at an acceptable level 
of impact, and which would be mitigated by the sustainable transport and bus provision 
that would be secured with the proposals. 
 

5.5.23 To conclude and in accordance with the NPPF, Officers are content that the development 
will not have a severe impact on the local highway network, which is reflected in the 

Page 31



 

 

summary of the TA relating to traffic analysis and in the context of mitigation works. 
Therefore, taking account of the lack of a severe impact as well as the package of 
sustainable transport measures, the residual cumulative impact of the proposals would be 
acceptable and in accordance with the requirements of the NPPF and NHLP Policies SP6 
and T1.  

 
Parking provision 

 

5.5.24 The NHDC Vehicle Parking at New Developments Supplementary Planning Document 
(‘Parking SPD’) sets out the minimum parking requirements for this proposal. This outlines 
that x1 space is required per 1 bedroom dwelling and that x2 spaces are required for any 
dwellings of 2 bedrooms or more. In addition, between 0.25 and 0.75 visitors parking 
spaces are required per dwelling, with ‘the higher standard applied where every dwelling 
in the scheme is to be provided with a garage’. 
 

5.5.25 Each phase of the development will be required to deliver the proportionate number of 
spaces for private and visitor use according to the particular mix in that phase. The 
illustrative masterplan has shown that parking has been designed into the layout and can 
be accommodated. The masterplan identifies that in order to create a distinctive 
neighbourhood parking needs to be integrated and designed in different ways across the 
site and often using innovative design where appropriate.  
 

5.5.26 Officers have been in discussions with the applicant regarding the use of garages in 
addition to provision of parking spaces with the view that garages if provided should be of 
a sufficient size to accommodate a car and therefore be considered a parking space. The 
applicant has significantly reduced the number of garages on phase 1, particularly those 
that do not serve as a parking space, however some remain, and officers have advised 
that it is not appropriate to include garages, particularly those that are detached that do 
not serve as a parking space. Officers consider that detached garages between gardens 
do not create a pleasant sense of place or neighbourliness; they create excessive 
overshadowing in gardens; and add unnecessary substantial built form in the landscape. 
Especially with the steep topography of the site additional garages, particularly those that 
are detached will require significant retaining walls, further exacerbate the effect of 
overshadowing and increased built form in the landscape. The applicant is aware of these 
issues well in advance of designing phase 2 and Officers expect this problem to have been 
designed out for subsequent phases. This matter weighs against the proposal, countered 
by the overall provision of parking being neutral in the planning balance. 
 

5.5.27 In terms of cycle parking and storage, the Parking SPD requires ‘1 secure covered space 
per dwelling. None if garage or secure area provided within curtilage of dwelling’. To 
ensure this is complied with and sufficient provision is provided on site, a schedule with 
details of cycle parking and storage across the site will be required with all applications for 
reserved matters on the site should planning permission be granted. A condition is also 
required for the full details part of the site to ensure sufficient cycle parking is provided 
and in suitable locations.  
 

5.5.28 In light of the above observations, it is considered that both the outline part of the 
application as well as the full details of Phase 1 the development would include sufficient 
parking provision, which is in accordance with the requirements of the Parking SPD. 

 

Page 32



 

 

Construction and phasing 
 
5.5.29 Regarding construction of the site, it is inevitable that there will be some disruption to the 

highway network and inconvenience to local residents as a result of construction activities, 
in particular creating the new access onto Newmarket Road and undertaking those works 
to provide a new crossing. Once the access is useable all construction activities will be 
retained within the site. The site benefits from an existing mature landscaped boundary to 
help contain construction noise and dust.  
 

5.5.30 It is anticipated that the emergency access would also be used as a construction access 
particularly for phase 2 of the development, rather than using the main access for 
residential and construction use. The applicant will require detailed discussion and s278 
agreement with the Highway Authority, and a Construction Traffic Management Plan is to 
be secured by condition.  
 
Travel Plan 

 
5.5.31 A Draft Travel Plan has also been submitted with the application which includes several 

short, medium and long-term actions to increase the use by residents of sustainable 
modes of travel and to reduce the use of the private car for the residential use on the site. 
It is acknowledged that some of the assumptions made in the draft plan are not accurate, 
and this has been examined by the highway authority who do not consider that updating 
it for this version would have an impact on the overall outcome.  
 

5.5.32 The need for an updated Travel Plan is therefore to be included by condition and 
monitored by HCC with s106 financial contribution of £6,000. The primary target over a 5-
year period is to increase the number of residents and visitors cycling, using public 
transport or being a car passenger to and from the development by 3% each, and increase 
walking by 1% compared to the current baseline for the area. The highway authority 
consider that traffic monitoring will be required associated with the travel plan, although 
the recommended condition does not meet the tests for conditions and has not been 
justified.  
 

Conclusion  

 

5.5.33 To conclude this section on highways, the application seeks outline permission for the 
access arrangement for the site, together with full details of the main vehicular access, a 
section of the main road, internal roads for phase 1 and the bus turning area. The highway 
authority at HCC have confirmed there is no objection to the principle of development on 
this site, as well as the full details shown for phase 1. Traffic impacts of the development 
will be mitigated through off-site highways works delivered by the developer (strand 1 
works) and secured by either condition or S106. The developer has also agreed to 
contribute towards Strand 2 highways works, which is towards active and sustainable 
travel in the vicinity of the site. Further detail will be required by S278 agreement with the 
highway authority on off-site highways works, including the Aintree Road and Newmarket 
Road paths and Newmarket Road toucan crossing. A traffic regulation order will be 
needed for the speed limit change as required in the S106. An updated Travel Plan will 
also be needed, with a financial contribution and secured in the S106.  
 

Page 33



 

 

5.5.34 The NPPF aims to balance development needs with the need for sustainable transport 
and highway safety. It encourages early consideration of transport issues, focusing on 
mitigating impacts and promoting sustainable travel choices. Paragraph 116 confirms that 
‘development should only be prevented or refused on highway ground if there would be 
an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road 
network following mitigation, would be severe, taking into account all reasonable future 
scenarios’. The proposal will result in some highway harm in terms of increased traffic 
measured by impact on junctions around Royston, but which will be well mitigated by 
physical works and financial contributions towards active and sustainable travel and is 
therefore in accordance with the NPPF and NHLP Policy T1. The harm weighs as neutral 
in the planning balance. 

 
5.6 Flood Risk and Drainage 
 
5.6.1 National policy on issues relating to flooding is set out int the NPPF at para. 170-182. This 

emphasises the importance of considering the potential for flooding for new developments 
particularly in areas identified as high risk. It also requires the considerations of including 
sustainable drainage solutions where necessary and appropriate.  
 

5.6.2 NHLP Policy NE7 on Reducing Flood Risk sets out that a Flood Risk Assessment is 
prepared to support applications for planning permission in accordance with national 
guidelines, and that development takes account of reducing flood risk, does not increase 
flood risk elsewhere, minimise residual flood risk, sensitively designed flood prevention 
and mitigation where applicable, and protection of overland flow routes and functional 
floodplain.  
 

5.6.3 The application is accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) prepared by 
consultants Ingent together with associated technical appendix and Drainage Strategy for 
Phase 1. This considered the risk to flooding from fluvial, surface water, groundwater, 
sewers and artificial sources. The site is located within flood zone 1, signalling the site has 
the lowest probability of fluvial flooding. The development is also at low risk of flooding 
from groundwater ad infrastructure failure. This application seeks outline planning 
permission for the whole site and full planning permission for phase 1 relating to the first 
106 units on the west of the site, and so supporting information reflects that need for 
different evidence required accordingly.  
 

5.6.4 The drainage strategy would mimic the existing natural drainage by infiltration by utilising 
infiltration basins, swales, permeable paving, tanks and rainwater harvesting across the 
site. Along the northern edge of the site, to the east of the existing cottage is the natural 
low point of the site and will be the main point for an infiltration drainage basin. This has 
been designed to be a dual purpose area for green space and ecological habitats as well 
as drainage. There are other areas of green space throughout the site and as detailed in 
phase 1 where surface water can infiltrate at that point as well. The copse area in the 
southeastern corner will be a larger area of greenspace able to take infiltration and a green 
‘corridor’ from the copse down the hill to the main basic will enable inclusion of blue 
infrastructure into the site. As set out in the masterplan, there could be potential for some 
of this to be made into a play or place making feature when the detail of that phase comes 
forward.  
 

Page 34



 

 

5.6.5 Having assessed the submitted reports and information, the Lead Local Flood Authority 
(LLFA) now raises no objection, with concern previously on the calculations used to 
assess the drainage strategy for phase 1 and subsequent impact on the rest of the site 
when those phases are planned in more detail. The drainage strategy was updated to 
enable more infiltration in phase 1, which has been reflected in the layout for the site as a 
whole. The LLFA confirmed that their concerns had been addressed and recommends a 
series of conditions relating to phase 1: a detailed construction phase surface water 
management plan and a surface water drainage system and verification report; and for 
the rest of the site: detailed designs of surface water drainage scheme and a SUDS 
phasing plan.  
 

5.6.6 The Council Ecologist has raised a concern about the proposed drainage feature close to 
the copse within the site. Depending on the character of this feature and engineering 
operations involved in installing and maintaining it with pipework and underground 
infrastructure, it could be quite an inappropriate feature, not just at the top of the hill, but 
within close proximity to the copse, where much design effort has been made to protect it 
from development and encroachment. When the detail for this phase comes forward for 
reserved matters the applicant will need to examine the detail of the drainage proposed 
and whether it is compatible to the objectives for this area.  
 

5.6.7 To conclude, there is no objection from the LLFA subject to conditions, and no objection 
from Anglian Water subject to informatives about connecting to the existing sewers, 
protection of assets, building near an existing sewer and potential adoption of new 
infrastructure. The proposals are therefore in accordance with the NPPF and NHLP Policy 
NE7. This is neutral in the planning balance.  
 

5.7 Ecology and Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) 
 

5.7.1 Chapter 15 of the NPPF requires decisions to contribute to and enhance the natural 
environment. NHLP policies SP1, SP12, NE4, NE6 and NE8 seek to protect, enhance and 
manage the natural environment. This application was submitted after the BNG 
requirements came into effect in February 2024.  
 

5.7.2 The application is supported by an Ecological Appraisal (rev D updated in October 2025) 
prepared by FPCR Environment and Design Ltd. It is acknowledged that this site was 
principally characterised by intensively managed arable land. Other habitats identified 
include the plantation of broadleaved woodland, neutral semi-improved grassland, tall 
ruderal vegetation, amenity grassland and some hardstanding. By way of a summary, 
there was found to be low to moderate potential for bats in some trees around the 
application site, but no current presence of roosting bats. An outlier badger sett is also 
identified within the site. There will be impact on nesting and foraging birds of the arable 
land, which can be mitigated against by providing scrub and avoiding disturbance during 
nesting seasons. The presence of great crested newts is highly unlikely.  
 

5.7.3 The masterplan recognises the copse within the site to be of habitat and ecological value. 
The plan makes provision for it to be retained with the development around it. The 
proximity to the plantations and countryside beyond it has been designed in so as to 
incorporate the copse as a link to the countryside, with a green corridor flowing from the 
copse through the development. The copse needs to be maintained well and protected 
during construction with a suitable offset from the copse to nearest houses and encourage 

Page 35



 

 

the existing habitat to continue. The copse sits broadly at the top of the hill and will be an 
attractive natural focal point for the site.  
 

5.7.4 The masterplan was redesigned compared to the previous outline application to 
incorporate the NHLP policy NE4 requirement for 12m buffer of complimentary habitat to 
‘wildlife sites, trees and hedgerows’. The 12m has been met around most perimeters of 
the site, which is surrounded by wooded plantations, however it has been agreed that the 
12m would be compromised on some places but increased in others. This buffer also helps 
the site deliver some of the open space requirements and is a benefit to the proposal and 
quality of development.  
 

5.7.5 The applicant has identified that it is not possible for the development to deliver 10% BNG 
onsite, but following the biodiversity hierarchy there is land within the same ownership and 
within the same LPA where habitat can be created to the required level. The land is located 
c.480m to the east of the application site. The offsite land is expected to deliver 0.51 
woodland habitat units and 12.39 units of scrub units, which above the baseline level 
would deliver 8.89 units. Overall, taking into account on and off site units, there would be 
a net gain of 16.59%, which exceeds requirements.  
 

5.7.6 Here is a summary of the district council’s ecologist comments: 
 

5.7.7 The April 2024 Ecological Appraisal (EA) considered the potential for some of the trees to 
be removed to be of interest for bats and advised further survey work to identify the 
presence/absence of roosting bats. A number of trees will need to be removed to facilitate 
proposed development were identified to present features suitable to support roosting 
bats. The updated October 2025 Ecological Appraisal informs further assessment of these 
trees did not identify the presence of roosting bats. As such, roosting bats have not been 
identified to pose a statutory constraint to proposed development. 
 

5.7.8 A condition is recommended for a lighting strategy and an Ecological Enhancement Plan 
to be submitted. These will be required for both phases, but both could be the subject of 
a condition on the reserved matters for phase 2 when that time comes. A site wide 
Construction Environment Management Plan (Biodiversity) condition is also 
recommended.  
 

5.7.9 The updated August 2025 Statutory Metric identifies a 12.6% loss of biodiversity units from 
the development site, and it is acknowledged that in order to meet the mandatory BNG 
requirements an element of off-site provision will be needed.  
 

5.7.10 A Biodiversity Gain Plan will be required; this should be based on the latest layout and 
design. As some of the habitat gains are classified as off-site, these will need to be 
registered on the Natural England Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) Site Register and secured 
via a s106.  
 

5.7.11 Further clarification over the phasing and delivery of BNG as well as suitable management 
and maintenance for 30 years will be needed through a condition for a Habitat 
Management and Monitoring Plan (HMMP) is required to ensure the BNG is secured with 
monitoring charges secured via s106 in accordance with the fee calculator.  
 

Page 36



 

 

5.7.12 Ecology has been a key consideration of the masterplan in its early stages. The 
masterplan incorporated the complimentary buffer and sought to protect existing habitat 
on site. It is considered that given the proposed biodiversity net gain utilising off site units, 
together with the on-site enhancement and creation of habitats, that the overall impact of 
this proposal in the long term is a benefit to ecology in accordance with the NPPF and 
NHLP Policies SP12, SP17, NE4, NE6 and NE8. This is a moderate benefit in the planning 
balance.  
 

5.8 Open Space Provision 
 

5.8.1 Chapter 8 of the NPPF confirms that development proposals should aim to achieve 
healthy, inclusive and safe places which: ‘enable and support healthy lives, through both 
promoting good health and preventing ill-health, especially where this would address 
identified local health and well-being needs and reduce health inequalities between the 
most and least deprived communities – for example through the provision of safe and 
accessible green infrastructure, sports facilities, local shops, access to healthier food, 
allotments and layouts that encourage walking and cycling’ (para.96).  
 

5.8.2 NHLP Policy NE1 encourages the protection, enhancement and creation of new strategic 
green infrastructure network, with appropriate long-term maintenance and management; 
and requires suitable mitigation to address adverse impacts on the strategic green 
infrastructure network.  
 

5.8.3 NHLP Policy NE6 ensures that development proposals ‘make provision for new and/or 
improved open space which: 

• Meets the needs of arising from the development having regard to the Council’s open 
space standards and other relevant guidance; 

• Contributes towards improving the provision, quality and accessibility of open space; 
and 

• Incorporate any necessary open space buffer(s) for landscape, visual, ecological or air 
quality reasons…’  

 

5.8.4 The policy also covers requirements for long term management and maintenance 
arrangements; consideration to phasing; and requirements for financial contributions 
which meet an identified need.  
 

5.8.5 The FiT standard would normally require 5.35ha of open space per 1,000 population. This 
should be made up of 1.6ha for outdoor sports and 0.55ha for play space, leaving a need 
for 3.2ha to be provided on site. In this case, sport provision will be provided off-site 
through financial contributions. No sports facilities will be provided on site however the 
applicant has committed to financial contribution toward a range of existing off-site 
facilities where projects have been identified (see section 5.9 below).  
 

5.8.6 The site should mitigate the impact on Therfield Heath SSSI with ‘suitable alternative 
natural greenspace’ (SANG), defined as ‘an area of land designated for recreational 
purposes that is designed to offset disturbance and pressures on sites that are protected 
for their habitat value under Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as 
amended)’. There is no nationally-set SANG standard, however, several solutions have 
been reached to mitigate recreational impacts on designated sites which require provision 
of SANG at 8ha per 1,000 population. Based on 325 homes on this application site, it is 

Page 37



 

 

estimated that the development will generate a population of about 900. This creates a 
need for 7.2ha of open space, which can overlap with FiT standards with dual purpose 
open space.  
 

5.8.7 A total of 3ha of open space is proposed on this site, which is a little short of the required 
FiT standard and meeting less than half of the SANG requirement. The proposed onsite 
greenspace would comprise the complimentary habitat around the perimeter of the site, 
plus a buffer and protection of the copse of trees in the southeastern corner, the green 
corridor going northwards from the copse, and inclusion of SUDS basins (open space) 
and play area (play space) on the northern side close to the Cottages.  
 

5.8.8 The complimentary habitat has been designed to be of a semi-natural condition, with as 
little hard standing encroachment and intervention as possible and will provide the 
plantations surrounding with a quality green space of ecological value This green and 
open space will contribute towards SANG. The proposed SUDS basin will be green and 
useable at times of low rainfall and has the potential to contribute towards SANG. The 
green corridor will act as both a green and blue infrastructure corridor, with some play on 
the way. Officers estimate that the on-site SANG provision would amount to about 2.8ha.  
 

5.8.9 The applicant is also proposing to reinstate and extend a permissive route in the field to 
the south of the site. The proposed circular route would be 2.3km and connect the 
application site with the wider rights of way network. It would also meet the aims and 
objectives of the Strategy. Whilst the provision of a permissive route to contribution 
towards to wider RoW network, it is not possible to assign an area to the scale that this 
footpath would contribute in SANG terms. Nevertheless, the route is connected to the site, 
a good length and would make a valuable contribution to the network; it is also considered 
to be a reasonable requirement given the constraints of the application site and under-
provision of on-site SANG.  
 

5.8.10 In addition, the Therfield Heath Mitigation Strategy also seeks financial contributions 
towards mitigation measures at the Heath. The Therfield Heath Mitigation Strategy is a 
document that was produced to support the Local Plan. It is a material consideration in 
the determination of this planning application. It is not a detailed management strategy for 
Therfield Heath. Section 5 of the Strategy sets out mitigation measures to address a range 
of issues relating to Therfeild Heath SSSI. The Strategy acknowledges that as common 
land the Heath will continue to be a major draw for residents of Royston. Developer 
contributions are one mitigation measure towards Therfield Heath. Other measures set 
out in the strategy are on-site mitigation measures relating to the provision of open space 
and recreational facilities, planning policies measures, and off-site avoidance and 
mitigation measures. 
  

5.8.11 The Conservators of Therfield Heath have identified several potential projects at the Heath 
that require ongoing funding. They have requested £1,000 per dwelling and a contribution 
toward a visitor/education facilities and related infrastructure. Total requested contribution 
£525,350 to be paid pre-commencement. However, in order to be proportionate to the 
location of the site in the context of the Heath, which is about 1.5km away, together with 
the proposed footpath around the footpath to the south, a sum of £350 per dwelling has 
been agreed with the applicant which will support mitigation measures set out in the 
strategy. 
 

Page 38



 

 

5.8.12 Regarding play space, the developer is required to deliver a LEAP and NEAP to meet the 
needs of the development. However, only one LEAP has been accommodated on site, as 
well as some play on the way features along the green corridor and having been through 
the masterplanning process for the site this is a reasonable assumption given the site 
constraints. This is set out in the submitted Play Strategy within the masterplan and would 
provide about 0.2ha onsite, compared to the required 0.55ha. The Newmarket Road 
recreation ground is on the opposite side of the road to the application site, where there 
is an existing LEAP, NEAP and skatepark, which has recently been refurbished. The 
applicant will be providing the crossing and footpath links to the recreation ground which 
will provide easy access. It is proposed that a financial contribution of £120,000 will be 
made towards the extension and refurbishment of the play facilities at this recreation 
ground to mitigate the need for an on-site NEAP but meet the need for the site.  
 

5.8.13 Regarding long term management and maintenance of greenspaces, the council’s 
greenspaces team expressed interest, in accordance with the Greenspaces Management 
Strategy to adopt and maintain the greenspaces on site. However, the site would not 
deliver a substantial amount of greenspace and would likely only serve the residents of 
this development, rather than a wider need. Having also calculated the potential 
contribution in the context of the submitted viability appraisal it is considered that the site 
would be better managed by a management company in this instance.  
 

5.8.14 To conclude, the development falls short of its onsite obligations to provide for open space 
in accordance with FiT and SANG requirements. However, this is being mitigated off site 
but in close proximity to the site, by providing a new 2.3km circular footpath round the field 
to the south, as well as a financial contribution towards sports provision in Royston, 
towards Therfield Heath mitigation measures and towards extension and refurbishment of 
play equipment at Newmarket Road recreation ground. Altogether this addresses this 
need in accordance with the NPPF, NHLP Policies NE1 and NE6 and the Therfield Heath 
Mitigation Strategy. This is neutral in the planning balance.   
 

5.9 Sport Facility Impacts 
 

5.9.1 Section 8 of the NPPF also requires planning decisions to aim to achieve healthy, inclusive 
and safe places. Para. 103 clarifies that ‘access to a network of high quality open spaces 
and opportunities for sport and physical activity is important for the health and well-being 
of communities and can deliver wider benefits for nature and support efforts to address 
climate change…Information gained from the assessments should be used to determine 
what open space, sport and recreational provision is needed, which plans should then 
seek to accommodate’.  
 

5.9.2 NHLP Policy SP10 says that the council will provide and maintain healthy, inclusive 
communities for our residents by (i) supporting the retention…and (ii) require appropriate 
levels of new community, cultural, leisure and built sport and recreation facilities to be 
provided in new developments.  
 

5.9.3 The masterplan confirms that the site will make provision for green corridors, active travel 
connections to and from the site, a play area, cycle access throughout the site, informal 
greenspaces, and access to the countryside from the site by foot. There is no on-site 
sports provision otherwise, particularly because of the steep topography of the site it 

Page 39



 

 

doesn’t lend itself to pitch provision. The site is located sustainably within Royston and it 
is logical to contribute toward town-wide facilities given the scale of development.  
 

5.9.4 The council adopted an updated Playing Pitch Strategy and Action Plan in October 2025. 
It provides an update on the 2018 document and plans for various sports, playing pitches, 
changing rooms, and leisure facilities for the town. Sports England applied their playing 
pitch calculator to the proposals, which identifies a need for natural and artificial grass 
pitches for football, rugby, cricket and hockey, as well as swimming pools and tennis. 
Although the calculator identifies demand for changing rooms, indoor bowls and sports 
halls, as there is no local need demonstrated, no contributions are being sought.  
 

5.9.5 This, together with feedback from consultees, has resulted in the applicant committing to 
a package of contributions towards sports in Royston, to help mitigate the impact of the 
additional residents in the town. The council’s adopted Developer Contributions SPD also 
sets out the broad framework for the provision of sports pitches and facilities in relation to 
new developments. Contributions were considered most suitable in this instance, due to 
the topography of the site, limited capacity given the housing numbers, and existing clubs 
and facilities that have the potential for upgrades. Capital sum contributions towards sports 
pitch and facilities needs are recommended on the basis that: there are current facility 
deficiencies; and there are identified projects that contributions could be used towards in 
order to ensure that the CIL Regulation 122 tests can be met.  
 

5.9.6 These contributions are set out in the table at paragraph 5.13.7 below and sufficiently 
mitigates the need of the development on local sporting facilities. This is neutral in the 
planning balance.  
 

5.10 Primary Healthcare 
 

5.10.1 NHLP Policy SP7 sets out that development proposals will be required to make provision 
for infrastructure that is necessary in order to accommodate additional demands resulting 
from the development. It is further noted that developers may be required to provide, 
finance and/or contribute toward provision including on- and/or off-site. The Developer 
Contributions SPD 2023 establishes the requirement for primary healthcare contributions 
and that these should be based on a formulaic approach related to floorspace. The 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan (September 2016) demonstrates that in 2016 the practices in 
Royston had no spare capacity, and the NHS Cambridge and Peterborough ICB response 
highlights that there has also been significant housing growth in the last 9 years.  
 

5.10.2 In the ICBs first response to the application, it was identified that a contribution would be 
needed, based on increased population for additional floorspace. Based on the required 
floorspace and a set price for extended properties for primary healthcare a contribution 
was suggested for extension of one or two GP surgeries close to the application site. 
Following the ICBs review a second response was submitted stating that there is a need 
to consider a new build primary healthcare facility, and so the contribution to recalculated 
to take into account the increased cost of new build compared to extension and 
refurbishment costs. It is requested that this contribution is paid pre-commencement of 
development, should planning permission be granted.  
 

5.10.3 To conclude, the current primary care facilities do not have sufficient capacity to 
accommodate the additional population arising from the proposed development. This 

Page 40



 

 

would have a direct impact on local healthcare services and therefore requires mitigation. 
The applicant has agreed to make a financial contribution toward the development of new 
primary healthcare facilities as a preference, or extension and refurbishment of existing 
facilities. This is neutral in the planning balance.  
 

5.11 Environmental Health considerations 
 

Land contamination 
 

5.11.1 The application is accompanied by a ‘Preliminary risk assessment and geo-environmental 
Site Investigation report’ (by RSK consultants). A Phase 1 report was considered 
appropriate during the Scoping of the proposals in line with EIA regulations. Having 
considered the submitted report, the NHDC Environmental Health Officer stated: ‘I have 
no objection to the granting of permission. I recommend that further investigation of 
potential contamination on land be undertaken, as recommended in the Phase I 
environmental risk assessment report that was submitted with the application. To this end, 
I have recommended that the following condition is attached to any permission…’ The 
proposed condition relates to a Phase II environmental risk assessment being undertaken 
and appropriate remediation if required undertaken, all pre-commencement of 
development.  
 

Air Quality 

 

5.11.2 The local air quality management (LAQM) regime requires every local authority to 
regularly review and assess air quality in their areas, supported by the NPPF 2024. The 
site is not located within a designated Air Quality Management Area. 
 

5.11.3 In this case, the application was not accompanied by an air quality impact assessment 
due to the scale of development and the planning history of the site. The Council’s 
approach and guidance to matters on air quality is outlined in the ‘North Herts Air Quality 
Planning Guidance (October 2018)’ document. The Council’s Environmental Health 
Officer advises that in accordance with NHDC guidance, there is no objection to the 
proposed development subject to conditions.  
 

5.11.4 The Planning Statement submitted with the application acknowledged that appropriate 
mitigation will be needed to address emissions of pollutants where appropriate. The 
Environmental Health Officer recommends a condition requiring a ‘Construction and 
Environmental Management Plan’.  

 
Noise  

 

5.11.5 The application is accompanied by a Noise Assessment by Ardent Consulting Engineers 
as per the previous outline application. It noted that the site benefits from being set back 
from Newmarket Road and separated by existing tree planting. The site is also 250m away 
from the A505, with landscaping in between, and so it is described as being ‘relatively 
unconstrainted in noise terms’ and that external noise levels across the development are 
at least within the recommended external amenity space standards of 50-55db. It was not 
considered that there had been any material changes to noise since the assessment was 
done previously.  
 

Page 41



 

 

5.11.6 Having assessed the submitted information, the Council’s Environmental Health Officer 
has not raised any objections and does not deem the need for a condition to be used for 
this matter. These matters on environmental health are neutral in the planning balance.  

 
5.12 Sustainability Assessment 

 
5.12.1 Section 2 of the NPPF requires the sustainability credentials of development proposals to 

be considered. Paragraph 8 sets out the three strands of economic, social and 
environmental, and in particular in point c) ‘using natural resource prudently, minimising 
waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a 
low carbon economy’.  
 

5.12.2 The Council declared a Climate Emergency in 2019 which pledged to do everything in the 
Council’s power to achieve zero carbon emissions in North Hertfordshire by 2030. The 
Council adopted a Climate Change Strategy to promote carbon neutral policies. NHLP 
Policy D1 sets out criteria on sustainable design of proposals, which includes the need to 
reduce energy consumption and waste, improve water efficiency and future proof for 
changing in technology and lifestyle. Policy SP9 also on design seeks the inclusion of a 
broad range of sustainability measures in developments. Policy NE12 on renewable and 
low carbon energy development supports the principle of renewable energy subject to the 
assessment of impacts. The Sustainability SPD sets out an approach for assessing the 
compliance level of measures proposed. Measures can be categorised as bronze, silver 
and gold, where bronze is the basic level of compliance with building regulations, and gold 
is highest standard thinking about Future Homes standards, BREEAM, Passivehaus and 
LETI.  
 

5.12.3 A range of sustainability measures have been assessed by the applicant’s consultants in 
their Energy and Sustainability Statement (April 2024). Whilst it appears that accurate 
reference has been made to the proposals at Land at Burloes Cottages reference is made 
to other local planning authorities and their policies. The Statement also needs to be 
updated to reflect the Council’s current position in the Sustainability SPD adopted in 
September 2024 and structure their energy and sustainability proposals in line with the 
structure of that document.  
 

5.12.4 As the submitted statement references incorporate policies and pre-dates the SPD. Here 
are some general comments on the Themes set out in the Sustainability SPD: 
 

▪ Theme 1: Optimising passive design and fabric performance – The cooling hierarchy 
has been considered and passive measures have been including such as a layout with 
greenspace around the perimeter and reduced tarmac areas; and consideration to glazing 
specification and thermal mass of construction materials.  
 

▪ Theme 2: Achieving low-carbon energy – The development will seek to deliver a range 
of low-carbon energy generation solutions including solar panels and air source heat 
pumps. This has the potential to reach the silver category for residential development, 
demonstrating that 75% or more of dwellings energy demand is supplied from on-side 
renewable energy. This should be pushed for in an updated Statement to silver level and 
secured by condition. 
 

Page 42



 

 

▪ Theme 3: Minimising carbon footprint – The Statement shows how the proposed 
development would achieve a reduction in CO2 emissions compared to the Part L target. 
However, this needs to be assessed against the SPD standards.  
 

▪ Theme 4: Healthy placemaking – As confirmed in the masterplan sections of this report, 
the development delivers appropriate green infrastructure, play space and open space. 
 

▪ Theme 5: Promoting biodiversity – As confirmed in the ecology section of this report, 
the application is supported by necessary surveys and overall will result in a biodiversity 
net gain over 10%. This theme has the potential to reach the silver level in the SPD.  
 

▪ Theme 6: Sustainable travel – As described in the highways section of this report, the 
proposals include integration of the wider foot and cycle path network into the structure of 
the site, and a package of improvement works to enhance connections directly into the 
site, and into the wider area to connect the site to the town centre. EV chargers are now 
required for all residential properties.  
 

▪ Theme 7: Conserving water – The Statement in its current form supports reduced water 
use at 107 litres per person per day, which is supported and would be better than Bronze 
level, but not reduced enough to reach Silver.  
 

▪ Theme 8: Incorporating sustainable drainage – As set out in the flood risk and drainage 
section of this report the proposals include several drainage features to deal with surface 
water. In particular the main drainage basin to the north of the site is designed to be large 
and shallow meaning that it should be dry much of the year and can be used for amenity 
and nature with quality planting and mown paths. This category has potential to meet the 
silver level but needs to be assessed in line with the SPD.  
 

5.12.5 The proposal has the potential to exceed existing minimum standards over a few of these 
themes as set out in the Sustainability SPD. Where standards are exceeded, these are 
benefits which would weigh moderately in the planning balance. However full details of 
how each phase of development will deliver specific levels across all the themes will need 
to be confirmed via the submission of detailed, correctly reference and updated Energy 
and Sustainability Statement secured by condition. The updated Statements for all phases 
of development should focus on reaching the silver level of the themes covering: achieving 
low-carbon energy, promoting biodiversity, conserving water, and incorporating 
sustainable drainage in order for the benefit in the planning balance to be maintained.  
 

5.13 Planning Obligations and Viability 
 

5.13.1 In considering planning obligations in relation to this development NPPF para. 57 advises 
that: ‘Planning obligations should only be sought where they meet all of the following tests:  

• necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;  

• directly related to the development; and  

• fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.‘ 
 
5.13.2 NHLP Policy SP7 sets out infrastructure requirements and developer contributions that 

are ‘necessary in order to accommodate additional demands resulting from the 
development’. This policy reflects the NPPF principles set out above. It also cites the 

Page 43



 

 

recently adopted Development Contributions SPD 2023 and the update to Development 
Contributions adopted by the County Council.  
 

5.13.3 The applicant has submitted a viability appraisal to accompany the planning application, 
which has been independently tested by Dixon Searle partnership (DSP) over the course 
of several months. The position taken on build costs, benchmark land values, development 
finance costs, professional fees and profit levels varies between the applicant’s 
assumptions and estimates proposed by DSP. Between all these assumptions, the 
appraisal indicates that a wide range of financial contributions that could be supported but 
proposed a mid-point figure with two scenarios of either 22% or 25% affordable housing.  
 

5.13.4 The conclusion was that with 22% affordable housing the scheme could support 
contributions of about £10.175m and with 25% affordable housing the scheme could 
support contributions of about £9.625m. To illustrate the range of potential scope for S106 
contributions, depending on various assumptions and with those proportions of affordable 
housing, DSP used three scenarios for build costs, this is shown in the table below:  

 

Build cost assumption Level of S106 with 22% 
affordable housing 

Level of S106 with 25% 
affordable housing 

BCIS Median build cost £6,900,000 £6,200,000 

Submitted build costs £10,175,000 £9,625,000 

BCIS Lower Quartile  £14,050,000 £13,700,000 

 
5.13.5 As a result of the high degree of potential change in viability because of changes in the 

estimated build costs, housing mix, and dwelling values, it was considered that a viability 
review mechanism is required together with a ‘late stage review’ to capture uplift in viability 
headroom as a result of greater certainty in these factors moving forwards. This aligns to 
the supporting text of viability in the Local Plan under policy HS2, and the further details 
provided in the Viability Review Mechanism section of the Developer Contributions SPD, 
which says:  

 
The Council will consider using a viability review mechanism where obligations or 
covenants are agreed at lower than policy compliant levels on viability grounds. A viability 
review mechanism can trigger a review of the originally agreed contributions where there 
is an improvement in viability and/or broader economic conditions since the original 
viability appraisal was undertaken… (para. 2.4.1) …Further developer contributions will 
only be required if a surplus is identified during the review over and above the returns 
necessary to be deemed viable. (para. 2.4.2) 
 

5.13.6 The applicant previous did not support the inclusion of a Viability Review Mechanism and 
has submitted information by way of rationale and justification for not including the 
Mechanism in the heads of terms. In summary, the applicant’s justification is that a Review 
Mechanism would represent a ‘material risk to delivery’ of the development. It would add 
delay to the delivery the scheme, which is showing to be not viable by circa £7m by their 
consultants. The applicant argued that a Review Mechanism would cause problems in 
securing joint venture partners to deliver the development due to ‘programme 
misalignment’ and ‘contractual conflict’.  
 

5.13.7 Officers were not convinced by the argument presented by that applicant that a Review 
Mechanism is not suitable. The argument is not supported by any evidence or detail on 

Page 44



 

 

how JV partners or the programme for delivery of the site would be affected by the 
imposition of a mechanism. The view of the applicant’s viability consultant that the 
development is not viable by about £7m is not supported by DSP, who have reviewed the 
Viability Appraisal (see para. 5.13.4 above).  
 

5.13.8 Moving back to what obligations are required to make the development acceptable in 
planning terms, Officers have held detailed negotiations with the applicant as well as 
consultees including HCC, Sports England, NHS, Natural England, NHC Housing and 
NHC Greenspaces, and agreement had been reached on a range of matters which are 
included in the draft s106. In order to secure an appropriate level of financial contributions 
to mitigate the impact of the scheme it is necessary to accept the lower level of affordable 
housing provision on the site, at 22%. Alongside this there have been some compromises 
on contributions, in particular HCC Growth and Infrastructure have significantly reduced 
their contributions towards education and other services; NHC have agreed not to adopt 
the greenspaces due to the level of contributions required for maintenance; and the 
Conservators of Therfield Health requested additional funds which cannot be justified in 
this instance. 
 

5.13.9 Those contributions that are sought in full include the contributions towards NHS Primary 
Care, relating to the new build facilities in Royston, where there is a long-standing need 
and this site should contribute to help facilitate that. Sports provision has also been sought 
in full for capital projects identified, due to the lack of provision of any sports facilities on 
site, and the significant need for particular facilities in the town. A contribution to play 
facilities is also sought due to the under provision on the application site. A full contribution 
towards passenger transport and travel plans is also sought to ensure they can be 
delivered in full. The total contributions set out below amount to £9,858,031, which 
following indexation up to June 2024 when the viability work was undertaken, would be 
£10,418,235, which is over the viable position by £243,235 as set out above using their 
build costs. Despite being over this agreed with the applicant, subject to a ‘conditional 
viability review’.  
 

5.13.10 The provision of 22% affordable housing across the site will be delivered in two 
phases, at a policy compliant tenure split of 65% social and 35% intermediate tenures. 
The mix is set out in the table below and awaiting final agreement from the Housing 
Strategy team within the District Council.  
 

5.13.11 All of the s106 obligations are listed in the following table as well as other heads 
of terms:  
 

Element Detail Justification 

Affordable 
Housing 
(NHDC)  

22% affordable housing of which 65% social 
(affordable rent) and 35% intermediate (shared 
ownership) tenures 
 
Proposal dated 28th November: 
Phase 1 will deliver 106 units, 23 of which will be 
affordable (22%) with a tenure split of 65:35 
Phase 2 will deliver up to 219 units, 48 of which will 
be affordable (22%) with a tenure split of 65:35.  
 

NHDC 
Developer 
Contributions 
Supplementary 
Planning 
Document 
(SPD) Feb 
2023 
 

Page 45



 

 

  
  Market  

Affordable    
Total Rent SO 

Phase 1 83 15 8 106 

Phase 2 171 31 17 219 

  254 46 25 325 

 
This is the proposed housing mix of affordable 
housing in phase 1 (subject to re-consultation with 
NHC Housing Strategy):  
 

  Rent Intermediate 

1B maisonette 2  
2b maisonette 2  
2b bungalow 4  
2B house 4 6 

3B house  3 2 

Totals 15 8 

 
The housing mix of phase 2 would be subject to a 
scheme secured in the S106.  
 

NHLP Policy 
HS2 Affordable 
Housing 
 

Education 
(joint pot) and 
SEND (HCC) 

Indicative contribution of £4,434,892 (to be index 
linked) towards first education provision and/or 
middle education provision and/or upper education 
provision and/or Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities (SEND) provision serving the 
development 
 

Policy SP7 
Infrastructure 
requirements 
and developer 
contributions 
 
Developer 
Contributions 
SPD  
 
HCC ‘Guide to 
Developer 
Infrastructure 
Contributions’ 
2022 
 

Childcare 
Services 
(HCC) 

Indicative contributions of £14,239 for 0-2 year old 
childcare facilities at Little Acorn Nursery and/or 
provision serving the development; and £2,390 for 5-
11 year old childcare facilities at St Marys Primary 
School and/or provision serving the development (to 
be index linked)  
 

As above 

Library 
Services 
(HCC) 

Indicative contribution of £43,781 (to be index linked) 
towards increasing the capacity of Royton Library 
and/or provision serving the development 
 

As above 

Page 46



 

 

Youth 
Services 
(HCC) 

Indicative contribution of £37,141 (to be index linked) 
towards increasing the capacity of the Young 
Peoples Centres and detached work in Royston 
and/or provision serving the development 
 
 

As above 

Waste 
Service 
(HCC) 

Indicative contributions of £31,140 (to be index 
linked) towards the new provision at the Northen 
Transfer Station and/or provision serving the 
development 
  

As above 

Sustainable 
Transport 
contributions 
(HCC) 

Strand 1 –  
Contributions of £875,000 (to be indexed linked) 
towards bus diversion (£175k for 5 years) first 
payment to be received prior to occupation 
 
Contributions of £6,000 (to be indexed linked) 
towards Residential Travel Plan to be approved and 
monitored for 5 years 
 
Physical works to be implemented: 

• Toucan crossing over Newmarket Road 

• Widened footpath on the north side of 
Newmarket Road  

• Link from Newmarket Road through the 
corner of the recreation ground to the cul de 
sac in front of 86 Newmarket Road 

• Upgrade footway to a shared use path 
between Icknield Walk and Poplar Drive 

• Upgrade crossings at the southern ends of 
Icknield Walk and Poplar Drive with raised 
tabled to prioritise pedestrian movements 
and facilitate cycle access 

• New 2m wide footpath from the western edge 
of the site into Aintree Road to be supported 
by a tree survey 

 
Strand 2 –  
Contributions of approx. £3,204,825 based on 
£9,861 per unit (to be indexed linked) towards 
improving active and sustainable travel to and from 
the site. In particular the provision of a foot and 
cycleway from Poplar Drive to the A10 roundabout 
(LCWIP NH46) and improving crossing the A10 by 
foot or cycle from Garden Walk to Stamford Avenue 
as part of LCWIP NH45.  
 

Policy SP7 
 
Policy SP17 
 
Policy D1 
 
Developer 
Contributions 
SPD 
 
HCC LTP4 
 
HCC ‘Guide to 
Developer 
Infrastructure 
Contributions’ 
2022 
 

Monitoring 
Fees (HCC) 

Contribution of £1,161 (to be index linked) towards 
the County Council’s reasonable and proper 

Policy SP7 
 

Page 47



 

 

administrative costs of monitoring compliance with 
the provision in the S106 legal agreement 
 

Developer 
Contributions 
SPD 
 
HCC ‘Guide to 
Developer 
Infrastructure 
Contributions’ 
2022 

Health 
Services  

Contribution of £466,013 to be indexed linked, 
towards primary care facilities in Royston 

Policy SP7 
 
Developer 
Contributions 
SPD 

Sports 
Contributions 
(NHDC) 

Contribution of £33,407 to be index linked, towards 
cricket for practice nets and additional wickets at 
Royston Cricket Club 
 
Contribution of £36,480 to be index linked, towards 
hockey for a new hockey club site (sand based 
artificial grass pitch and clubhouse facilities) on a 
new sports hub site 
 
Contribution of £149,492 to be index linked, towards 
playing pitches for natural turf and 3G grass: 
provision of a new 3G artificial grass pitch that could 
be used for football match play as well as training at 
Royston Town FC, Roysia School, King James 
Academy or a new sports hub site 
 
Contribution of £67,328 to be index linked, towards 
playing pitches for Royston Rugby Club Heath sports 
club for pitch quality, changing facilities or social 
space, or towards the relocation of the rugby club to 
a new sports hub site  
 
Contribution of £11,880 to be index linked to provide 
new Padel or Pickleball courts, resurfacing work to 
existing courts, improved clubhouse facilities, gated 
access, floodlights at Royston Tennis Club, Priory 
Memorial Gardens, or Studlands Rise 
 
Contribution of £184,937 to be indexed linked, 
towards a new learner pool at Royston Leisure 
Centre 

Policy SP7 
 
Developer 
Contributions 
SPD 
 
Play Pitch 
Strategy 

Open space 
provision and 
management/ 
maintenance 
arrangements 
(NHDC) 

On-site provision of open space including 1x LEAPs 
and Play on the Way to be managed and 
maintained by a resident’s management company  
 

Policy SP7 
 
Developer 
Contributions 
SPD 
 

Page 48



 

 

Contribution of £120,000 to be index linked toward 
the extension and refurbishment of the play 
equipment at Newmarket Road Recreation Ground 
 

Therfield 
Heath 
mitigation 

Contribution of £113,000 to be index linked toward 
management measures at Therfield Heath.  
 
Provision of a permissive footpath around the field 
to the south 

Policy SP7 
 
Developer 
Contributions 
SPD 
 
Therfield Heath 
mitigation 
strategy 

Viability 
Review 
Mechanism 

The applicant and the Council have agreed that an 
early-stage viability review mechanism and late-
stage viability review mechanism will be triggered if 
the reserved matters application is not submitted 
within the specified period, and if a specified number 
of units are not occupied within an agreed period. 
The review mechanisms will require the viability of 
the site to be re-assessed at agreed stages of 
development. At this time the costs will be known as 
well as any changes in market conditions. 
 

Policy SP7 
 
Policy HS2 
 
Developer 
Contributions 
SPD 

Habitat 
Management 
and 
Monitoring 
Plan 

A Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan (HMMP) 
shall be prepared in accordance with the approved 
Biodiversity Gain Plan  
 

Developer 
Contributions 
SPD 

Monitoring 
Fee (NHDC) 

One off monitoring fee of £25,000 (to be index linked) 
to cover the monitoring of all obligations (except for 
those relating to HCC) 

As above  

 
5.13.12 Back to the matter of a Viability Review Mechanism, Officers have consulted with 

NHDC Housing and HCC Growth and Infrastructure on this submission, as both 
organisations are signatories to the legal agreement, and due to the concessions made 
by HCC GIU on their requested policy compliant contributions they would normally require 
a Review Mechanism as standard.  
 

5.13.13 The Developer Contributions SPD describes Review Mechanisms as being 
suitable on multi-phased or long-term schemes, or where there is consideration of ‘large-
scale, estimates or bespoke costs which may be subject to change or further surety upon 
investigations’ (para. 2.4.2). This site is the next largest site allocated for housing in the 
NHLP after the Strategic Housing Sites, and it has two phases and is therefore multi-
phased. The site would deliver below policy compliant levels of affordable housing, 
planning contributions toward county infrastructure; and would also have been eligible for 
public management and maintenance of open space. Officers acknowledge the bespoke 
costs on the development due to the topography of the site and need for retaining walls 
and other engineering challenges as a result of steeps slopes. These costs are factored 
into the appraisal.  

Page 49



 

 

 

5.13.14 At this stage the planning contribution figures have been agreed by all parties, 
including a commitment to c.£243k over the ‘viable position’ for 22% affordable housing, 
and a ‘conditional viability review’. Discussions are ongoing regarding the wording of the 
s106 Agreement, such as trigger points. However, it is considered that the s106 
Agreement is advanced enough to refer this matter to Planning Committee and that the 
outstanding issues are minor in nature and can be resolved prior to determination as set 
out in the resolution.  
 

5.13.15 All the elements of these Obligations are necessary to make the development 
acceptable in planning terms, are directly related to the development, and are fairly and 
reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. In the light of the detailed 
evidence, all the elements of the Obligation meet the policy in paragraph 256 of the NPPF 
and the tests in Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 
(as amended). However, there is a shortfall of policy compliant contributions toward 
County infrastructure. There is also shortfall in policy compliant affordable housing 
delivery, as well as the transfer of open space to the council and their management and 
maintenance, both of which are discussed in previous sections of this report.  
 

5.13.16 Because the applicant has proposed that there will be a ‘conditional viability 
review’, Officers have identified the applicant fails to do all they can to ensure the 
development addresses its full infrastructure requirement. Overall, the failure to fully 
address is impacts upon infrastructure is regrettable but local and national policies allow 
for reductions in contributions based upon viability. As the applicant has now agreed to 
viability review, albeit conditionally, this failure to deliver fully policy compliant obligations 
does not weigh against the proposal in the planning balance.    
 

5.14 Impact on residential amenity  
 

5.14.1 Concern has been raised from residents living nearby to the proposed development with 
regard to impact on their amenity as a result of the development as a whole.  
 

5.14.2 NHLP Policy D3 states that ‘planning permission will be granted for development 
proposals which do not cause unacceptable harm to living conditions’. Supporting text 
identifies harm in terms of traffic, parking, loss of daylight and sunlight noise, overlooking, 
pollution and dominance.  
 

5.14.3 In the short term, it is noted that there would likely be at least some impacts to existing 
neighbouring properties during the construction phase due to construction noise and 
general traffic in the vicinity. Whilst various conditions would be imposed on the grant of 
planning permission, which seek to minimise this impact (for example, construction 
method statements and construction hours etc), there is likely to be at least some impact 
and disturbance, even if it is kept at a minimal level. All construction traffic will come from 
Newmarket Road, thereby limiting the impact of construction traffic on residents in the 
adjacent residential areas. This will also be managed through a Construction Traffic 
Management Plan. It is therefore considered that the construction phase of this proposal 
will have an overall small adverse impact on residential amenity as it is at least temporary.  
 

5.14.4 In relation to the amenity of future residents of the application site, all proposed house 
types comply with the ‘Technical housing standards – nationally described space 

Page 50



 

 

standards’. As previous stated, all properties will have private amenity space, with the 
smallest comprising 38sq.m. properties have been arranged to ensure a useable garden. 
The back-to-back distances are good and where properties are closer the elevations are 
considered in relation to back to side distances and windows in those elevations to ensure 
privacy and overlooking is respected. Officers consider that this will offer future residents 
a good standard of residential amenity in accordance with NHLP Policy D1 and D3. 
Officers conclude that the living conditions of existing residents would not be significantly 
affected as a result of the development as a whole as there is a substantial existing buffer 
of mature trees and vegetation between the application site and properties in adjacent 
residential streets (Goodwood Road, Aintree Road, Bury Plantation, Brampton Road, 
Foxglove Bank, Saffron Street). There would be a distance of about 50m from the closest 
properties to properties on the site. The main vehicular access would be from Newmarket 
Road as well so there will be limited interaction from that perspective. There may be 
glimpses of the development through from existing residential areas, but not to the extent 
that it would harm existing resident privacy or create any overlooking.  
 

5.14.5 This has been examined in greater detail for the full part of this hybrid planning application, 
knowing the position of proposed dwellings in phase 1 of the development. Along the edge 
of this part of the site houses are positioned to front a street running alongside the 
plantation. There will be some houses that will be side on to this western boundary. With 
the houses that front the plantation there will be front gardens, the street, the 
complimentary habitat buffer before the plantation. This will form a pleasant and spacious 
environment and natural buffer to the woodland. The layout has demonstrated the 
distance between nearest properties will be respected: the closest gap is 47m to the 
closest properties in Goodwood Road, and the greatest distances will be alongside 
Foxglove Bank and Saffron Street of about 70m. It is not considered that there will be any 
privacy or overlooking issues arising from the proposed development in relation to phase 
1. Overall, this matter weighs as neutral in the planning balance. 
 

5.15 Planning Balance 
 

5.15.1 The site at land south of Newmarket Road, known as land around Burloes Cottages, in 
Royston was allocated for housing development under Policy RY10 on adoption of the 
North Hertfordshire Local Plan in November 2022. The site is allocated to deliver about 
300 homes, with this application propping up to 325 homes. Notwithstanding the site 
allocation, and as identified in the foregoing section of this report, the tilted balance applies 
due to the housing land supply position the council is in at this time.  
 

5.15.2 The following table summarises the matters that weigh in favour and against the proposed 
development: 
 

Issue Effect Weight 

Delivery of 254 market homes  Benefit* Significant 

Provision of 71 affordable homes (22% 
affordable housing) of which 65% would be 
social tenure (46 units) and 35% would be 
intermediate tenure (25 units) 

Benefit* Very significant 

Masterplanned and well designed Benefit* Significant 

Sustainability credentials Benefit* Moderate 
Ecology Benefit*  Moderate 

Page 51



 

 

   

Landscape and visual impact Harm* Moderate 

   

Compliance of phase 1 with the masterplan Neutral* None 

Loss of agricultural land Neutral None 

Trees Neutral* None 

Heritage including archaeology Neutral None 

Highways and traffic Neutral* None 

Flood risk and drainage Neutral* None 

Open space provision Neutral* None 

Sport facility impact Neutral* None 

Primary healthcare  Neutral* None 

Environmental health Neutral* None 

Residential amenity Neutral* None 

 

Table 1: Planning Balance Summary (*conditions and obligations recommended) 

 

5.16 Overall Assessment 
 

5.16.1 This is an allocated housing site in the adopted Local Plan. It will therefore make an 
important contribution to the housing land supply. As the Council is currently unable to 
demonstrate a 5-year housing land supply, the tilted balance of paragraph 11(d) of the 
NPPF 2024 is engaged. The several collective benefits of the development, including the 
provision of affordable housing which is very significant; provision of market housing and 
design are described as significant; and ecology and sustainability issues positively albeit 
less than significant. There are adverse effects identified regarding landscape impact to a 
limited degree. The agreed planning obligations do not fully address the impact of the 
proposed development. However, development plan and national policies make provision 
for reductions in obligations due to issues of viability, because the key aim is to boost the 
supply of housing. Therefore, the shortcomings of the proposal in this regard do not weigh 
against the proposal in the planning balance, subject to the conditional viability review 
mechanism proposed by the applicant. Without fully assessed viability issues and the 
provision of viability review, albeit conditional in this instance, the failure to address the 
infrastructure impacts of the development, would otherwise weigh against the proposal.   
 

5.16.2 Overall, the moderate adverse impacts of granting planning permission for this proposed 
development would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the more abundant 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF 2024 taken as a whole. The 
proposed development therefore benefits from the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development which is a material consideration.  
 

5.16.3 The proposal would accord with the development plan as a whole and other material 
consideration do no indicate otherwise. Accordingly, it is recommended that planning 
permission be granted for this hybrid application.  
 

6.0 Alternative Options 
 

6.1 None applicable (see ‘Key issues’ section of this report above) 
 
7.0 Pre-Commencement Conditions 

Page 52



 

 

 
7.1 I can confirm that the applicant is in agreement with the pre-commencement conditions 

that are proposed. 
 
8.0 Legal Implications  
 
8.1 In making decisions on applications submitted under the Town and Country Planning 

legislation, the Council is required to have regard to the provisions of the development 
plan and to any other material considerations. The decision must be in accordance with 
the plan unless the material considerations indicate otherwise. Where the decision is to 
refuse or restrictive conditions are attached, the applicant has a right of appeal against 
the decision. 

 
9.0 Recommendation  
 
9.1 That planning permission is resolved to be GRANTED subject the following: 
 

A) The completion of a satisfactory legal agreement including a conditional viability 
review mechanism and for officers to negotiate appropriate viability review triggers to 
ensure that viability is revisited at appropriate junctures throughout the development  
 

B) The applicant agreeing to extend the statutory period in order to complete the 
agreement as required;  

 
C) Providing delegated powers to the Development and Conservation Manager to update 

conditions and informatives with minor amendments as required; and  
 

D) Conditions as set out below: 
 
Definitions: 
 
‘Development Parcel’ means a phase or part of the development excluding the full details as 
part of this hybrid application and Enabling and Associated Works. For instance, this would 
include another phase or part of the development.  
 
‘Enabling and Associated Works’ means the preparation of a site in readiness for the first stage 
of development: this includes (i) surveying, (ii) environmental and hazardous substance testing 
and sampling (including the making of trial boreholes, sampling and test pits in connection with 
such testing) (iii) soil tests, (iv) pegging out, (v) tree protection, (vii) ecological survey and 
mitigation works, and (vii) archaeological investigation.  
 
1. Time limit (Phase 1 – full application) 

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years from the date 
of this permission.  
 
Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
2. Approved plans (Phase 1 – full application) 

The development hereby permitted for phase 1 shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the 
details specified in the application and supporting approved documents and plans listed: 

Page 53



 

 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0210-D5-P2-Site Location Plan Phase 1 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0230-D5-P5-Site Layout Plan 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0231-D5-P3-External Materials and Boundaries Plan 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0232-D5-P3-Surfacing Material Plan 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0233-D5-P6-Affordable Tenure Plan 22% 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0234-D5-P3-Refuse Strategy Plan  

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0235-D5-P3-Parking Strategy Plan 

• 23324-MA-XX-XX-DR-C-0103 P05 General Arrangement proposed site access 

• 23324-MA-XX-XX-DR-C-0130 P04 Visibility splays 

• 23324-MA-XX-XX-DR-C-7003 P02 Swept Path Analysis – single decker bus 

• 23324-MA-XX-XX-DR-C-7002 P02 Swept Path Analysis – refuse vehicle 

• ROY01-LLA-P1-GF-DR-L-(0101) P04 Detailed Hard Landscape Proposals 

• ROY01-LLA-P1-GF-DR-L-(0102) P04 Detailed Hard Landscape Proposals 

• ROY01-LLA-P1-GF-DR-L-(0103) P04 Detailed Hard Landscape Proposals 

• ROY01-LLA-P1-GF-DR-L-(0104) P04 Detailed Hard Landscape Proposals 

• ROY01-LLA-P1-GF-DR-L-(0105) P04 Detailed Hard Landscape Proposals 

• ROY01-LLA-P1-GF-DR-L-(0106) P05 Detailed Hard Landscape Proposals 

• ROY01-LLA-P1-GF-DR-L-(0201) P03 Detailed Planting Proposals   

• ROY01-LLA-P1-GF-DR-L-(0202) P03 Detailed Planting Proposals   

• ROY01-LLA-P1-GF-DR-L-(0203) P03 Detailed Planting Proposals   

• ROY01-LLA-P1-GF-DR-L-(0204) P03 Detailed Planting Proposals   

• ROY01-LLA-P1-GF-DR-L-(0205) P03 Detailed Planting Proposals   

• ROY01-LLA-P1-GF-DR-L-(0206) P04 Detailed Planting Proposals   

• ROY01-LLA-P1-GF-DR-L-0301_P01 Landscape Specification and Details 

• ROY01-LLA-P1-XX-RP-L-0601_P02 Landscape Management Plan 

• ROY01-LLA-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0001_P04 Landscape Masterplan 

• 2307-831-ST100D DRAINAGE STRATEGY PHASE 1 

• 2307-831-ST101D EXCEEDANCE FLOW PHASE 1 

• 2307-831-ST110D LEVEL STRATEGY Sheet 1 

• 2307-831-ST111F LEVEL STRATEGY Sheet 2 

• 2307-831-ST112D LEVEL STRATEGY Sheet 3 

• 2307-831-ST130D ROAD SETTING OUT PHASE 1  

• 2307-831-ST138D SECTION 38 LAYOUT PHASE 1  

• 2307-831-ST139D SECTION 38 LINE MARKINGS PHASE 1  

• 2307-831-ST200 RESTING PLACES RESTING PLACES  

• 2307-831-ST100 SPINE ROAD RESTING PLACES 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0300-D5-P01-234_V3 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0301-D5-P01-234 Side Patio_V3 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0302-D5-P01-242_V3 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0303-D5-P01-341_V1 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0304-D5-P01-341_V3 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0305-D5-P01-351_V1 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0306-D5-P01-351_V2 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0307-D5-P01-351_V3 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0308-D5-P01-354_V1 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0309-D5-P01-354_V3 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0310-D5-P01-461_K1 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0311-D5-P01-461_V1 House type 

Page 54



 

 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0312-D5-P01-461_V2 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0313-D5-P01-461_V3 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0314-D5-P01-462_K2 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0315-D5-P01-462_V3 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0316-D5-P01-466_K2 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0317-D5-P01-466_V1 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0318-D5-P01-466_V3 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0319-D5-P01-467_K1 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0320-D5-P01-467_K2 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0321-D5-P01-467_V2 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0322-D5-P01-467_V3 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0323-D5-P01-581_K1 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0324-D5-P01-581_V3 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0325-D5-P01-AF1+AF2 Maisonettes_V3 House type 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0330-D5-P01-Garages  

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0331-D5-P01-Sales garage 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0332-D5-P01-Hipped Garages 
 
Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with details which form the basis 
of this grant of permission. 
 
3. Materials (Phase 1 – full application) 

Details and/or samples of materials to be used in phase 1 on all external elevations and the roof 
of the development hereby permitted shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority before the development is commenced and the approved details shall be 
implemented on site. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development will have an acceptable appearance which does not 
detract from the appearance and character of the surrounding area and to comply with Policy D1 
of the North Hertfordshire Local Plan 2011 to 2031. 
 
4. Soft landscaping (Phase 1 – full application) 

Notwithstanding the approved plans, prior to commencement above slab level, full details of soft 
and hard landscaping will be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Details will include:  
 
Soft Landscape: 
a) Details of trees, hedgerows, habitats, ponds and other natural features it is proposed to retain 
or remove and details of how they will be protected during the construction phase. Such a scheme 
will comply with the provisions of BS5837 and BS3998. The approved scheme for the protection 
of the existing trees shall be implemented BEFORE DEVELOPMENT COMMENCES on the 
relevant development phase and be maintained in full until the development within that phase has 
been completed. 
b) Full details of planting plans and written specifications, including cultivation proposals for 
maintenance and management associated with plant and grass establishment, details of the mix, 
size, distribution, density and levels of all trees/hedges/shrubs to be planted and the proposed 
time of planting. The planting plan shall use botanic names to avoid misinterpretation. The plans 
should include a full schedule of plants;  
c) 1:100 plans (or at a scale otherwise agreed) with cross-sections of mounding, ponds, ditches 
and swales and proposed treatment of the edges and perimeters of each development phase;  

Page 55



 

 

d) The landscape treatment of roads;  
e) A specification for the establishment of trees within hard landscaped areas including details of 
space standards (distances from buildings etc.), tree pit details and details of the species, number 
and spacing of trees and shrubs;  
f) The planting and establishment of structural landscape to be provided in advance of all or 
specified parts of the site as appropriate;  
g) Full details of any proposed alterations to existing watercourses/drainage channels and details 
of any water features;  
 
No subsequent alterations to the approved landscape details are to take place unless submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The landscape within each 
Development Parcel shall be implemented in accordance with the approved landscape details for 
that Development Parcel or Strategic Engineering and Landscape Element.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of residents and to ensure that a detailed approach to the 
development of the built-up area (or parcels thereof) is agreed, in order to safeguard the setting 
of the site and its surroundings, and to ensure a suitable relationship and integration of the built 
development with its surroundings in accordance with NHLP Policy NE4.  
 
5. Hard landscaping (Phase 1 – full application) 

Notwithstanding the approved plans, prior to commencement above slab level, full details of hard 
landscaping will be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details 
will include:   
 
Hard Landscape: 
a) Full details, including cross-sections, of all bridges and culverts;  
b) The location and specification of minor artefacts and structures, including furniture, refuse or 
other storage units, signs and lighting columns/brackets;  
c) 1:200 plans (or at a scale otherwise agreed) including cross sections, of roads, paths and 
cycleways; and  
d) Details of all hard surfacing materials (size, type and colour).  
 
No subsequent alterations to the approved landscape details are to take place unless submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The landscape within each 
Development Parcel shall be implemented in accordance with the approved landscape details for 
that Development Parcel or Strategic Engineering and Landscape Element.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of residents and to ensure that a detailed approach to the 
development of the built-up area (or parcels thereof) is agreed, in order to safeguard the setting 
of the site and its surroundings, and to ensure a suitable relationship and integration of the built 
development with its surroundings in accordance with NHLP Policy NE4.  
 

5. Substation (Phase 1 – full application) 
Prior to the commencement of the development above slab level, notwithstanding the details 
approved via condition 2 in-so-far as it relates to phase 1, in relation to hard and soft landscaping, 
and, full details of a comprehensive hard and soft landscaping details (including planting details) 
and all boundary treatments pertaining to land surrounding the proposed sub-station shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
The soft landscaping / planting details approved pursuant to this condition shall be carried out 
before the end of the first planting season following either the occupation of the (first) dwelling or 

Page 56



 

 

the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; and any trees or plants which, within 
a period of 5 years from the completion of the development, die, are removed or become seriously 
damaged or diseased, shall be replaced during the next planting season with others of similar 
size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority agrees in writing to vary or dispense with 
this requirement.  
 
Reason: To ensure the development is comprehensively landscaped in the interests of visual 
amenity.  Local Plan Policies D1 and N2. 
 
6. Retaining walls (Phase 1 – full application) 

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, notwithstanding the drawings 
approved via condition 2 in-so-far as it relates to phase 1, full details in regard locations, lengths, 
depths, and treatments of retaining walls throughout the phase of development will be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The details approved via this condition 
shall then be implemented prior to the occupation of each dwelling affected. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development will have an acceptable appearance which does not 
detract from the appearance and character of the surrounding area, and protect the amenities of 
future residents, in accordance with Policy D1 of the North Hertfordshire Local Plan 2011 to 2031. 
 

7. Energy and Sustainability Statement (Phase 1 – full application) 
Notwithstanding the submitted Energy and Sustainability Statement, prior to commencement 
above slab level an updated Energy and Sustainability Statement for phase 1 shall be submitted 
to the Local Planning Authority for approval in line with the nine themes of the Sustainability SPD. 
The approved measures must be implemented on site for each dwelling hereby approved prior to 
its first occupation and thereafter retained.  
 
Reason To reduce carbon dioxide emissions and promoting principles of sustainable construction 
and the efficient use of buildings in accordance with the Sustainability SPD 2024 and North 
Hertfordshire Local Plan Policies SP9 and D1.  
 

8. Ecology – lighting (Phased) 
Prior to the installation of any lighting, a lighting design strategy for biodiversity for the site, or 
each development parcel thereof, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The strategy shall;  
a) identify those areas/features on site to which bats and other nocturnal species are particularly 
sensitive and that are likely to cause disturbance in or around their breeding sites and resting 
places, or along important routes used to reach key areas of their territory, for example, for 
foraging, and:  
b) show how and where external lighting will be installed (through the provision of appropriate 
lighting contour plans and technical specifications) so that it can be clearly demonstrated that 
areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent the above species using their territory or having access 
to their breeding sites and resting places. All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with 
the specifications and locations set out in the strategy, and these shall be maintained thereafter 
in accordance with the strategy. Under no circumstances should any other external lighting be 
installed without prior consent from the local planning authority. 
Reason:  
 

9. Ecological Enhancement Plan (Phased) 
No development above slab level shall take place until an Ecological Enhancement Plan (EEP) 
for the site, or each development parcel, for the creation of new wildlife features including 

Page 57



 

 

integrated bird/bat and bee boxes in buildings/structures, where heights allow swift bricks should 
be used, together with hedgehog holes in boundary features has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority.   
 
Reason: To ensure development is ecologically sensitive and secures biodiversity enhancements 
in accordance with the North Herts Local Plan policy NE4. 
 

10. LLFA Condition 1 (Phase 1 – full application) 
Development shall not commence until a detailed construction phase surface water management 
plan for the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The scheme shall subsequently be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the construction of the site does not result in any flooding both on and off 
site and that all Surface water Drainage features are adequately protected.  
 
11. Highways Electric Vehicle (EV) Charging Point (Phase 1 – full application) 
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, details of the location of the 
EVCP for each residential dwelling shall be submitted and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The approved EVCP will be installed and active (ready to use) prior to the 
residential units first occupation and shall thereafter be permanently retained. 
 
Reason: To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and to promote sustainable 
development in accordance with Policies 5, 19 and 20 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan 
(adopted 2018). 
 
12. Highways Cycle Parking (Phase 1 – full application) 
Prior to the occupation of any dwelling, a scheme for the parking of cycles including details of the 
design, level and siting shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved scheme shall be fully implemented before the development is first 
occupied and thereafter retained in perpetuity for this purpose. 
 
Reason: To ensure the provision of cycle parking that meets the needs of occupiers of the 
proposed development and in the interests of encouraging the use of sustainable modes of 
transport in accordance with Policies 1, 5 and 8 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 
2018) NHLP Policy T1.  
 
13. Time limit (Phase 2 – outline) 
Application for approval of the reserved matters for phase 2 shall be made to the Local Planning 
Authority before the expiration of 3 years from the date of this permission, and the development 
hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 2 years from the date of approval of the 
first of the reserved matters to be approved.  
 
Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
14. Approval Plans and Documents (Phase 2 – parameter plans) 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the parameter 
plans listed below, together with the reserved matters approved by the Local Planning Authority, 
or with minor modifications of those details or reserved matters which previously have been 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority as being not materially different from those 
initially approved: 

Page 58



 

 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0205-D5-P2 Location Plan 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0206-D5-P1 Site Plan 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0150-D5-P3 Developable Area Parameter Plan 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0151-D5-P4 Access Parameter Plan 
 
Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with details which form the basis 
of this grant of permission or subsequent approval of reserved matters. 

 
15. Approval Plans and Documents (Phase 2 – framework plans) 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out broadly in accordance with the framework 
plans listed below, together with the reserved matters approved by the Local Planning Authority, 
or with minor modifications of those details or reserved matters which previously have been 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority as being not materially different from those 
initially approved: 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0153-D5-P1 Green and Blue Framework Plan 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0154-D5-P1 Play Framework Plan 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0155-D5-P1 Built Form Framework Plan 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0156-D5-P2 Movement Framework Plan 

• ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0157-D5-P1 Phasing Framework Plan 
 
Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with details which form the basis 
of this grant of permission or subsequent approval of reserved matters. 

 
16. Masterplan compliance checklist (Phase 2 – reserved matters) 

Prior to or concurrent with the submission of the first Reserved Matters application, and any 
subsequent Reserved Matters applications, a Masterplan Compliance Statement shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Masterplan Compliance 
Statement shall provide detailed explanation of how the proposal accords with the Masterplan 
framework and parameter plans and document approved under application reference No. 
24/01013/HYA. Where the proposal does not accord with a specific principle or parameter within 
the approved Masterplan, the Masterplan Compliance Statement must provide clear and robust 
justification for each departure.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the development as envisaged by the outline application is satisfactorily 
implemented in accordance with Policy SP9 of the North Hertfordshire Local Plan. 
 

17. Submission of Reserved Matters (Phase 2 – reserved matters) 
No part of the built development of phase 2 or sub parcel identified on ROY01-MCB-ZZ-ZZ-DR-
A-0157-D5-P1 Phasing Framework Plan hereby permitted shall be commenced within a particular 
development parcel or sub-phase until full details of the layout, scale, access (other than main 
vehicular access), appearance and landscaping within the parcel (hereinafter referred to as 
reserved matters) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 and the provisions of the Town and Country Development Management Procedure Order 
2015 and to ensure high quality urban design and co-ordinated development. 
 
18. Energy and Sustainability Statement (Phase 2 – outline application) 
Notwithstanding the submitted Energy and Sustainability Statement, prior to or concurrently with 
the any application for reserved matters submission an Energy and Sustainability Statement shall 

Page 59



 

 

be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in line with the nine themes of the 
Sustainability SPD. The approved measures must be implemented on site for each dwelling 
hereby approved prior to its first occupation and thereafter retained.  
 
Reason To reduce carbon dioxide emissions and promoting principles of sustainable construction 
and the efficient use of buildings in accordance with the Sustainability SPD 2024 and North 
Hertfordshire Local Plan Policies SP9 and D1.  
 

19. CEMP Biodiversity (Site wide) 
No development shall take place (including ground works or vegetation clearance) until a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP: Biodiversity), has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The CEMP (Biodiversity) shall include the 
following.  
a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.  
b) Identification of “buffer zones” both for species and sensitive habitats to be informed by up to 
date surveys.  
c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid or 
reduce impacts during construction, may include method statements.  
d) The location and timing of sensitive works to harm to biodiversity features.  
e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site to oversee 
works.  
f) Responsible persons and lines of communication.  
g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or similarly 
competent person. 
h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.  
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction period 
strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local 
planning authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure the protection, enhancement and management of biodiversity, and to comply 
with Policy NE4 of the North Hertfordshire Local Plan 2011 to 2031. 
 

20. LLFA (Site wide) 
Prior to commencement on any phase, in accordance with the submitted FRA and Drainage 
Strategy (dated 21 July 2025, REF 2307-831 REV B), detailed designs of a surface water 
drainage scheme incorporating the following measures shall be submitted to and agreed with the 
Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme will be implemented prior to the first occupation 
of the development. The scheme shall address the following matters:  
I. Detailed infiltration testing in accordance with BRE Digest 365 (or equivalent) along the 

length and proposed depth of the proposed infiltration feature/s. or  
II. If infiltration is proven to be unfavourable, then Greenfield runoff rates for the site shall be 

agreed with the Lead Local Flood Authority. The post development runoff rates will be 
attenuated to the equivalent Greenfield rate for all rainfall events up to and including the 
1% Annual Exceedance Probability (AEP). The discharge location for surface water runoff 
will be confirmed to connect with the wider watercourse network.  

III. Provision of surface water attenuation storage, sized and designed to accommodate the 
volume of water generated in all rainfall events up to and including the critical storm 
duration for the 3.33% AEP (1 in 30 year) and 1% AEP (1 in 100) rainfall events (both 
including allowances for climate change).  

IV. Detailed designs, modelling calculations and plans of the of the drainage conveyance 
network in the: a. 3.33% AEP (1 in 30 year) critical rainfall event plus climate change to 

Page 60



 

 

show no flooding outside the drainage features on any part of the site. b. 1% AEP (1 in 
100 year) critical rainfall plus climate change event to show, if any, the depth, volume and 
storage location of any flooding outside the drainage features, ensuring that flooding does 
not occur in any part of a building or any utility plant susceptible to water (e.g. pumping 
station or electricity substation) within the development. It will also show that no runoff 
during this event will leave the site uncontrolled.  

V. The design of the infiltration basin will incorporate an emergency spillway and any 
drainage structures include appropriate freeboard allowances. Plans to be submitted 
showing the routes for the management of exceedance surface water flow routes that 
minimise the risk to people and property during rainfall events in excess of 1% AEP (1 in 
100) rainfall event plus climate change allowance.  

VI. Finished ground floor levels of properties are a minimum of 300mm above expected flood 
levels of all sources of flooding (including the ordinary watercourses, SuDS features and 
within any proposed drainage scheme) or 150mm above ground level, whichever is the 
more precautionary.  

VII. Details of how all surface water management features to be designed in accordance with 
The SuDS Manual (CIRIA C753, 2015), including appropriate treatment stages for water 
quality prior to discharge.  

VIII. A maintenance and management plan detailing the activities required and details of who 
will adopt and maintain the all the surface water drainage features for the lifetime of the 
development.  

 
Reason: To prevent flooding in accordance with National Planning Policy Framework paragraphs 
181,182 and 187 by ensuring the satisfactory management of local sources of flooding surface 
water flow paths, storage and disposal of surface water from the site in a range of rainfall events 
and ensuring the SuDS proposed operates as designed for the lifetime of the development.  
 

21. LLFA  
Prior to commencement of development a detailed Site SuDS Phase plan which aligns with the 
site phasing plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
This SuDS Phasing plan shall ensure that each phase does not exceed the agreed discharge 
rates for that phase and that source control measures are installed within each phase to 
adequately address the phases own surface water runoff. The plan shall ensure that each SuDS 
component is adequately protected throughout the development of the scheme. The plan shall 
show all exceedance routes throughout the site clearance and construction of the scheme 
ensuring flood risk is not increased elsewhere or to the site itself and that the site remains safe 
for all exceedance event flow routes for the lifetime of the development during rainfall (i.e. greater 
than design events or during blockage) and how property on and off site will be protected.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the development achieves a high standard of sustainability and ensure 
the flood risk is adequately addressed for each new dwelling and not increased in accordance 
with NPPF and Policies of North Herts Council.  
 

22. LLFA  
All development shall be constructed in accordance with the submitted and approved Flood Risk 
Assessment (dated 21 July 2025, REF 2307-831 REV B), this includes all new residential 
dwellings to have a finished floor level raised a minimum of 300mm above any flood level and 
150mm above the surrounding proposed ground level unless otherwise first approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  
 

Page 61



 

 

Reason: To ensure the flood risk is adequately addressed and not increased in accordance with 
NPPF and Policies of North Herts Council.  
 

23.  LLFA  
Upon completion of the surface water drainage system, including any SuDS features, and prior 
to the first use of the development; a survey and verification report from an independent surveyor 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The survey and 
report shall demonstrate that the surface water drainage system has been constructed in 
accordance with the details approved pursuant to condition [LPA to specify numbering]. Where 
necessary, details of corrective works to be carried out along with a timetable for their completion, 
shall be included for approval in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any corrective works 
required shall be carried out in accordance with the approved timetable and subsequently re-
surveyed with the findings submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Reason: To ensure the flood risk is adequately addressed, not increased and users remain safe 
for the lifetime of the development in accordance with NPPF and Policies of North Herts Council.  
 

24. Remediation method statement (Site wide) 
No development approved by this permission (other than that necessary for the discharge of this 
condition) shall be commenced until a Remediation Method Statement report has been submitted 
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
This site shall not be occupied, or brought into use, until: (i) All works which form part of the 
Remediation Method Statement report pursuant to the discharge of condition (c) above have been 
fully completed and if required a formal agreement is submitted that commits to ongoing 
monitoring and/or maintenance of the remediation scheme. (ii) A Remediation Verification Report 
confirming that the site is suitable for use has been submitted to, and agreed by, the Local 
Planning Authority.  
 
Any contamination, other than that to be dealt with by virtue of condition (a), encountered during 
the development of this site shall be brought to the attention of the Local Planning Authority as 
soon as practically possible; a scheme to render this contamination harmless shall be submitted 
to and agreed by, the Local Planning Authority and subsequently fully implemented prior to the 
occupation of this site.  
 
Reason: To ensure that any contamination affecting the site is dealt with in a manner that 
safeguards human health, the built and natural environment and controlled waters. 
 

25. Fire hydrants (Phased) 
Prior to the commencement of any roads (excluding the construction access), details of a scheme 
for the provision of fire hydrants to serve the relevant phases of the development has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The provision and installation of fire hydrants, at no cost to the County 
or Fire & Rescue Service. 
 
Reason: To ensure all proposed dwellings have adequate water supplies for in the event of an 
emergency in accordance with North Hertfordshire Local Plan Policies SP1 and SP7. 
 

26. Highways (Phase 2 – reserved matters) 

Page 62



 

 

No development shall commence on phase 2 or subsequent development parcel until full details 
(in the form of scaled plans and / or written specifications) have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority to illustrate the following: 
i) Roads, footways. 
ii) Cycleways. 
iii) Foul and surface water drainage. 
iv) Visibility splays 
v) Access arrangements 
vi) Parking provision in accordance with adopted standard.  
vii) Loading areas. 
viii) Turning areas. 
 
Reason: To ensure suitable, safe and satisfactory planning and development of the site in 
accordance with Policy 5 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018). 
 

27. Highways accesses (Phase 1 – onsite works) 
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, the vehicular & Sustainable 
Transport Accesses as illustrated on drawing numbers (23324-MA-XX-XX-DR-C-0103 Rev P05 
Sheets 1-4) shall be completed in accordance with details/specifications to be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the highway authority and 
thereafter implemented and retained.  
Prior to use appropriate arrangements shall be made for surface water to be intercepted and 
disposed of separately so that it does not discharge from or onto the highway carriageway. 
 
Reason: To ensure satisfactory access into the site and avoid carriage of extraneous material or 
surface water from or onto the highway in accordance with Policy 5 of Hertfordshire’s Local 
Transport Plan (adopted 2018). 
 

28. Highways (Site Wide – Surface Water) 
Prior to the first use of the development hereby permitted, arrangement shall be made for surface 
water from the proposed development to be intercepted and disposed of separately so that it does 
not discharge onto the highway carriageway. 
 
Reason: To avoid the carriage of extraneous material or surface water from or onto the highway 
in accordance with Policy 5 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018).  
 

29. Construction Management Plan (Site wide) 
No development shall commence until a Construction Management Plan has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the construction of the 
development shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved Plan: The Construction 
Management Plan shall include details of: 
a. Construction vehicle numbers, type, routing; 
b. Access arrangements to the site; 
c. Traffic management requirements 
d. Construction and storage compounds (including areas designated for car parking, loading / 
unloading and turning areas); 
e. Siting and details of wheel washing facilities; 
f. Cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public highway; 
g. Timing of construction activities (including delivery times and removal of waste) and to avoid 
school pick up/drop off times; 
h. Provision of sufficient on-site parking prior to commencement of construction activities; 

Page 63



 

 

i. Post construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas and temporary access to the 
public highway; 
j. where works cannot be contained wholly within the site a plan should be submitted showing the 
site layout on the highway including extent of hoarding, pedestrian routes and remaining road 
width for vehicle movements; 
k. Phasing Plan. 
 
Reason: In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other users of the public highway 
and rights of way in accordance with Policies 5, 12, 17 and 22 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport 
Plan (adopted 2018). 
 

30. Highway Improvements (Site wide – off-site) 
A)  Design Approval 
Notwithstanding the details indicated on the submitted drawings, no on-site works above slab 
level shall commence until a detailed scheme for the off-site highway improvement works as 
illustrated on drawing number (23324-MA-XX-XX-DR-C-0103 Rev P05 Sheets 1-4) have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the 
Highway Authority. 
B)  Implementation / Construction 
Prior to the first use of the development hereby permitted, the improvement works referred to in 
part A of this condition shall be completed in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and that the highway improvement 
works are designed to an appropriate standard in the interest of highway safety and amenity and 
in accordance with Policy 5, 13 and 21 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018). 
 

31. Travel Plan (Site wide) 
Notwithstanding the submitted Travel Plan, at least 3 months prior to the first occupation / use of 
the approved development a detailed Travel Plan for the site shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Highways Authority. The 
approved Travel Plan shall be implemented in accordance with the timetable and target contained 
in therein and shall continue to be implemented as long as any part of the development is 
occupied subject to approved modifications agreed by the Local Planning Authority in consultation 
with the Highway Authority as part of the annual review. 
 
Reason: To ensure that sustainable travel options associated with the development are promoted 
and maximised to be in accordance with Policies 3, 5, 7, 8, 9 and 10 of Hertfordshire’s Local 
Transport Plan (adopted 2018). 
 
 
Proactive Statement: 
 
Planning permission has been granted for this proposal. The Council acted proactively through 
positive engagement with the applicant at the pre-application stage and during the determination 
process which led to improvements to the scheme. The Council has therefore acted proactively 
in line with the requirements of the Framework (paragraph 38) and in accordance with the Town 
and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015. 
 
 
Informatives 
 

Page 64



 

 

LLFA 
Please note if, you the Local Planning Authority review the application and decide to grant 
planning permission, notify the us (the Lead Local Flood Authority), by email at 
FRMConsultations@hertfordshire.gov.uk. 
 
Anglian Water 
1. INFORMATIVE - Notification of intention to connect  
to the public sewer under S106 of the Water Industry Act Approval and consent will be required 
by Anglian Water, under the Water Industry Act 1991. Contact Development Services Team 
0345 606 6087 Option 2.  
2. INFORMATIVE - Protection of existing assets - A public sewer is shown on record plans 
within the land identified for the proposed development. It appears that development proposals 
will affect existing public sewers. It is recommended that the applicant contacts Anglian Water 
Development Services Team for further advice on this matter. Building over existing public 
sewers will not be permitted (without agreement) from Anglian Water.  
3. INFORMATIVE - Building near to a public sewer - No building will be permitted within the 
statutory easement width of 3 metres from the pipeline without agreement from Anglian Water. 
Please contact Development Services Team on 0345 606 6087 Option 2.  
4. INFORMATIVE: The developer should note that the site drainage details submitted have not 
been approved for the purposes of adoption. If the developer wishes to have the sewers 
included in a sewer adoption agreement with Anglian Water (under Sections 104 of the Water 
Industry Act 1991), they should contact our Development Services Team on 0345 606 6087 
Option 2 at the earliest opportunity. Sewers intended for adoption should be designed and 
constructed in accordance with the Sewers for Adoption guide for developers, as supplemented 
by Anglian Water’s requirements. 
 
Crime prevention SBD Accreditation  
Prior to construction the applicant will contact the Hertfordshire Constabulary CPDS with a view 
to seeking to achieve accreditation to the Police preferred minimum security standard that is 
Secured by Design. Reason: To ensure that the development is compliant with both National 
and Local Planning Policies, in addition, this will also demonstrate the discharge of obligations 
under Approved Document ‘Q’ – Security of Building Regulations. 
 
HIGHWAYS 
HCC as Highway Authority recommends inclusion of the following Advisory Note (AN) / highway 
informative to ensure that any works within the highway are carried out in accordance with the 
provisions of the Highway Act 1980: 
AN1) Extent of Highway: Information on obtaining the extent of public highway around the site 
can be obtained from the HCC website: www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-
and-pavements/changes-to-your-road/extent-of-highways.aspx 
AN2) Storage of materials: The applicant is advised that the storage of materials associated 
with the construction of this development should be provided within the site on land which is not 
public highway, and the use of such areas must not interfere with the public highway. If this is 
not possible, authorisation should be sought from the Highway Authority before construction 
works commence. Further information is available via the County Council website at: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-
developer-information/business-licences/business-licences.aspx or by telephoning 0300 
1234047. 
AN3) Obstruction of highway: It is an offence under section 137 of the Highways Act 1980 for 
any person, without lawful authority or excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct the free passage 
along a highway or public right of way. If this development is likely to result in the public highway 

Page 65

mailto:FRMConsultations@hertfordshire.gov.uk


 

 

or public right of way network becoming routinely blocked (fully or partly) the applicant must 
contact theHighway Authority to obtain their permission and requirements before construction 
works commence. Further information is available via the County Council website at: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-
developer-information/business-licences/business-licences.aspx or by telephoning 0300 
1234047. 
AN4) Debris and deposits on the highway: It is an offence under section 148 of the Highways 
Act 1980 to deposit compost, dung or other material for dressing land, or any rubbish on a made 
up carriageway, or any or other debris on a highway to the interruption of any highway user. 
Section149 of the same Act gives the Highway Authority powers to remove such material at the 
expense of the party responsible. Therefore, best practical means shall be taken at all times to 
ensure that all vehicles leaving the site during construction of the development and use 
thereafter are in a condition such as not to emit dust or deposit mud, slurry or other debris on 
the highway. Further information is available by telephoning 0300 1234047. 
AN5) Avoidance of surface water discharge onto the highway: The applicant is advised that the 
Highway Authority has powers under section 163 of the Highways Act 1980, to take appropriate 
steps where deemed necessary (serving notice to the occupier of premises adjoining a 
highway) to prevent water from the roof or other part of the premises falling upon persons using 
the highway, or to prevent so far as is reasonably practicable, surface water from the premises 
flowing on to, or over the footway of the highway. 
AN6) Works within the highway (section 278): The applicant is advised that in order to comply 
with this permission it will be necessary for the developer of the site to enter into an agreement 
with Hertfordshire County Council as Highway Authority under Section 278 of the Highways Act 
1980 to ensure the satisfactory completion of the access and associated road improvements. 
The construction of such works must be undertaken to the satisfaction and specification of the 
Highway Authority, and by a contractor who is authorised to work in the public highway. Before 
works commence the applicant will need to apply to the Highway Authority to obtain their 
permission and requirements. Further information is available via the County Council website at: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-
developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx or 
by telephoning 0300 1234047. 
AN7) Roads to remain private: The applicant is advised that all new roads* / the access routes 
marked on the submitted plans * / the access routes [describe*] [*delete as appropriate] 
associated with this development will remain unadopted (and shall not be maintained at public 
expense by the highway authority). At the entrance of the new estate the road name plate 
should indicate that it is a private road and the developer should put in place permanent 
arrangements for long-term maintenance. 
AN8) Estate road adoption (section 38): The applicant is advised that if it is the intention to 
request that Hertfordshire County Council as Highway Authority adopt any of the highways 
included as part of this application as maintainable at the public expense then details of the 
specification, layout and alignment, width and levels of the said highways, together with all the 
necessary highway and drainage arrangements, including run off calculations must be 
submitted to the Highway Authority. No development shall commence until the details have 
been approved in writing and an Agreement made under Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980 
is in place. The applicant is further advised that the County Council will only consider roads for 
adoption where a wider public benefit can be demonstrated. The extent of adoption as public 
highway must be clearly illustrated on a plan. Further information is available via the County 
Council’s website at: https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-
development-management.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047. 

Page 66



 

 

AN9) Construction Management Plan (CMP): The purpose of the CMP is to help developers 
minimise construction impacts and relates to all construction activity both on and off site that 
impacts on the wider environment. It is intended to be a live document whereby different stages 
will be completed and submitted for application as the development progresses. A completed 
and signed CMP must address the way in which any impacts associated with the proposed 
works, and any cumulative impacts of other nearby construction sites will be mitigated and 
managed. The level of detail required in a CMP will depend on the scale and nature of 
development. The CMP would need to include elements of the Construction Logistics and 
Community Safety (CLOCS) standards as set out in our Construction Management template, a 
copy of which is available on the County Council’s website at: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-
developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx 
AN10) Street works licence (New Roads and Street Works Act - Section 50): The applicant is 
advised that they are not authorised to carry out any work within the Public Highway and that to 
do so they will need to enter into a legal agreement with the Highway Authority (NRSW 
agreement). This consent is separate and additional to any planning permission that may be 
given. Before proceeding with the proposed development, the applicant shall obtain the 
requirements and permission for the associated placement of apparatus within the adjacent 
highway as part of the proposal via the County Council’s website at: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-
developer-information/permit-scheme/east-of-england-permit-scheme.aspx or by telephoning 
0300 1234 40047. This should be carried out prior to any new apparatus is placed within the 
highway. 
AN11) Abnormal loads and importation of construction equipment (i.e. large loads with: a width 
greater than 2.9m; rigid length of more than 18.65m or weight of 44,000kg - commonly 
applicable to cranes, piling machines etc.): The applicant is directed to ensure that operators 
conform to the provisions of The Road Vehicles (Authorisation of Special Types) (General) 
Order 2003 in ensuring that the Highway Authority is provided with notice of such movements, 
and that appropriate indemnity is offered to the Highway Authority. Further information is 
available via the Government website www.gov.uk/government/publications/abnormal-load-
movements-application-and-notification-forms or by telephoning 0300 1234047. 
AN12) Travel Plan (TP): A TP, in accordance with the provisions as laid out in Hertfordshire 
County Council’s Travel Plan Guidance, would be required to be in place from the first 
occupation/use until 5 years post occupation/use. A £1,200 per annum (overall sum of £6000 
and index-linked RPI March 2014) Evaluation and Support Fee would need to be secured via a 
Section 106 agreement towards supporting the implementation, processing and monitoring of 
the full travel plan including any engagement that may be needed. Further information is 
available via the County Council’s website at: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-
developer-i nformation/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx 
OR by emailing travelplans@hertfordshire.gov.uk 
 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



SITE BOUNDARY

KEY

P
a
th

 (u
m

)

G
reen W

alk

Walk
Green

GP

T
ra

c
k

Track

Posts

R
o

a
n

 W
a

lk

R
o

a
n

 W
a

lk

MS

Post

Post

Butchers Baulk (Path)

(P
a

th
)

Angel Pavement

C
h

u
rc

h
 L

a
n

e

Post

Posts

TITCHMARSH CLOSE

T
ra

c
k

T
ra

c
k

T
rack

Track

Ash Way

Path (um
)

G
re

e
n

W
al

k

T
ra

c
k

T
ra

c
k

Track

T
ra

c
k

Track

Ash Trees

Flint

Flint Hall

The

West

1

3

5

1

9

Farm

Hovel

Haven

2

Cottage

4

31

The Ridings

7

6

2

12

11

Keepers Cottage

The Paddocks

The Lodge

16

14

Sub Sta

3

12

17

16

14

El

Royston Hospital

2
3

26

5
8

21

10

7

3
1

Meridian

Eagle

New Stud

C
ott

age

Cam
pion

Nursery

Farm

Hillside

C
otta

geHouse

M
erid

ia
n

Koala

Farm

Tavern

Sunnymead

Birch Bungalow

6 5
1

Royston Town

Hall and

Annex

1 to 9

Pine Tree Lodge

39
45
43

41

14

5

16

1

2
9

3
7

19

6
 t

o
 1

5

12
10

6

28a

28

9

1b
1a

4

1  to  8

Kingfisher House

Gas Valve House

14

4a

34

32

30

30

16

14

12

3

1

9

1

9a

12

2

10
16

7

3

12

14

2

18

24

26

2
b

2
a

2

28

1a
1

7
7

a

9

19
13

11
5

14

6

4

2

2
4

26

31

46

35

41

Nought

First School
Studlands Rise

21

13

16

16

18

32

7

11

10

18

7
1

11

1

1

15

2

16
18

21

3
321

31

26
20

31

21

9
15

13

20

10
2

19

9

6

1

18

20

15

17

26

1

5

Works
Mitre

1c

7

11
15

29

3
7

2
7

13

41

4
2

2
6

22

6

7

18

2

1

2

1

7

7b

7a

9

17

2
7

7
19

29

T
h

e
 B

e
e

c
h

e
s

Shelter

Lawns Court

Hall

12

10

611
2

a
7

2

83
9 15

4
10

16
5

11

14

3

20

1

3
2

4
b

6

H
e

a
lth

C
e

n
tre

1

Hall

G
as

 G
ov

34

3b 4

Nursery

1

2

1

2
2

12

8

13

1

6

3

Bus Station

House

Warren Court

Mulberry

El Sub Sta

2

5

SheltersPC

27

23

5
 to

 1
2

4
1

Electricity
Distribution

Site

1

4

Primary School
Roman Catholic
St Mary

4

28

3
4

3
2

12

6

1

19

34

Chapel

44

45

30

47

38a

28

58

11

64

80

30a

24a

26

24

12a

4
4

14

C
o
u
rt

24

11

26

52

36a

13

20

23

15

38

14

15

10

27

41

4
2

32

50

2

3
2

a

Club 2

30
2

8

54 56

Hall

26a

12

3
4

a

21

60 3
640

22

17

GVC

46
31

28a

36

22
18

40

48

62

22
12

7

6

Two
Hoots

8
4

8

5
9

51 41

3
5

2
6

20
a

Works

20

3
8 Presby

Cutlers
House

Church

3
5

20

7

King James Academy (Greneway Site)

10

1 to 12

14 to 41

Collingwood Court

1

4

5

65

4

20

10

8

The Gables

Silver Birch House

41

5
3

a

2

42

6
3

1

77

6
6

47

37

6
9

7
5

3a

19

8

13

20

32

71

25

School

81

4

2
4

36

Hall

15

16

61

39

51a

6
5

1

51

14

9

13

5
9

2
2

3

8

5

8

7

1

10

21

24

2
7

39

2

24a

13

53

9

41

1a

5
5

a

69

10

12
10

7

14

El

2
8

7

20

10

1

1

26

50

1

49

8
9

51

Stand

22

5
2

1

5
8

Sub

2a

19

4
3

Sta

3
6

17

18

2

19a

5
7

16

31

3
2

2a

19

2
9

2
3

1b

6

107

4
6

1a

110

122

98

12

17

3
9

40
3

8 5
3

26

3
2

6
4

60

64a

6
0

a

24

17

21

3
3

15
16

18
14

2b

3
4

5
6

11

19

16

13

15
17

3
6

2
4

1

31

10

3
5

41

6

2
3

46

2
1

15

9

Sports Pavil ion

109

2

3
4

Bungalow

21

8

11

16

1
3

a

51b

95

1
 to

 1
0

Precious
Court

22a

Greneway

HaywoodsLodge

28 28a

16

Football Ground

12

6

19

1

4

3

79a

5
9

12

10

2
3

22

43

93

12

41

12

25

107

11

34

3

8

121

14

4

26

13

31

36

35

33

23

2

4
2

97

35

4
2

10

17

117

14

5
9

2

79

33

13

56

29

40

2

1

105

2

3
9

24

4
4

1

4
5

83

13

2

12

95

1

1

40

1

31

22

15

5

85
2

15a

17

1

70

19

54

32

2

9

37

6
2

7

27

32

Icknield Walk

42

38

3
7

119

87

10

32

21

43

9
11

50

22

52

58

10
5

1

103

93

85

61 to
 71

73 to
 83

37

51

35

23

21

12

7

16

18

20
22

86

12a

1

31

52

First School

Nursery

21

28 to
 3

4

26

House
Tey

St John the Baptist 's Church

E
xchange

T
h
e
 C

o
rn

1 to 30

Court

2
3

1

Kennedy

31

22

37 39

20

The Priory

Library

PC

PH

2
5

2
9

31
33

35

3
4

1
 to

 8

2
1

 to
 6

G
o

o
d

m
a

n
 H

o
u

se

1

T
a

lb
o

t Y
a

rd

2

S
t J

a
m

e
s
 H

o
u

s
e

6
 to

 8

7

3

2

The Range

Tey House

1

S
u
rg

e
ry

Club

1 to
 13

2
 to

 3

2
8

9

8

41

2 3

10a
2 to 6

1
3

 to
 2

0

5

1

1

3 to 12
2

Jepps C
ourty

ard

Old Bull Inn

6
3

2
9

 t
o

 3
9

6
3

a

6
5

6
7

a

6
5

b

6

6
76

5

2

5

17
a

1

3

9

1
 t

o
 6

Templars CourtPH

14
12

8
6

2
6

30

4
4

4
6

48TerraceMount

24

14

2

77

6
9

71
7

5

1

1

H
all

PO

Court
Mulberry

The Chequers

4
5

21

6
3

6
5

a

6
7

1
59

7

10
8 6

2

4a
4

5 2 5
7

4
7

53

43a

4
5

4
3

3
7

7
9

11

15
15

a

2
5

27a

27b

27c

176

27d

41

4
7

4
9

5
1

 t
o

 5
5

5
7

5
9

61

6
9

5
6

54a

5
4

1

4
5

6

7
8

14

9

15

13

11

10

5
2

4
6

44b
44a

1

4

9

40
3

8

4
2

2
8 1

2
2

2
6

2
4

20
18

12
10

8

7

12

16

14

10

4

1

The Old Barn

King's Walk

t o

31

17

2

1 3

1416

5

30

26a
Roysia

House

18
a

13

2a

4

The Workshop

Industr ial  EstateGarage

1a

21
2

211
12

15

16

1

10

3

BakeryThe Old

37

6

1

2
6

18

10

2

14

The Half-A-Crown

7

2
a

2

45

43

5

2
2

42

12

3

40

15

66

13

1

13

16

34

26

1a

76

17

7

3
3

2
3

38

3
1a

10
a

20

36
34

1

19

5
a10

9

8

14

17
18

20
19

1

49

Garage

44

20

6

42

2
2

28

2

8 to 24

2
4

1 to 17

23

26

7

19

34
36

3

21

1

32

22

35

8

2
3

4

5

13

1

21

6

Hyde Hill Farm

17 to 20

2
1

 t
o

 2
4

1 to
 4

9
 to

 1
2

81

71

Ridgeway

1 2

Burloes Cottages

2

25

14

6

2

10

8

18

6

3

Chester Court

L
a

 L
o

u
p

e
 C

o
u

rt

2
 t

o
 5

1

4

Royal M
ews

1

4
a

3

H
u

n
te

rs
 M

e
w

s35

313
2

30

16a

95

Police Station

31a
31b

Beech
C

opper

Jow
lers

Crof ton

Cox House
Richard

PC

PH

B
a

n
k

2
2

a

16

14

20

18

18

14
10

2

2
4

5
7

15

1
7

 to
 2

1

9
8

9
6

12
6

12
4

1715

117

31

33
31

21
19

9
4

2

5

8

3a

3b

2

1

Club

14

(Home for
the Elderly)

14

The

Bank

Banyers
Hotel

Lanterns
The

2
2

 t
o

 2
4

Lodge

House

The White

15

7

16a

47

Haunt

7

13

18
17

15

14

12

10

9
7

1

6

1

4

4
b

4
a

17

25

20

211

5

6

11

12 14

16

15

4
c

4
d

5

12

7

814
15

16 20

27

23

22 29

26

2
3

Owls

GVC

21

23

19
13

1

12
24

2

3

21 14
2

14
16

2

16

13

1

2

10

2017

1

8
6

39
33

10
12

10
16

57

67

49

17

3

11

1

2
6

14

2

26

2

36

28

1
9

2
1

1

4
56

12
2

12

8

3

2
4

2

11

9

1

19

9

20

10
2

1
7

19

9

1

14

2

1

25

13

23

23

13

1

30

2
6

1

2

3

9

14

1

7

9

15 2
9

30

14

12

8

6

2

11

9

2
8

2220

1

2

1

9

1

4

5

31

30

21

17

2

11

16b

Valley

16

11

3

6
6

7
6

1
4

7
to1
2

5

34

4
6

5
8

8

2

51

5
5

1

5

43

4
9

24

18

16

10

5
3

5
5

11

8
6

11
3

40

12
3

50

14

2

60

66

6

7

1

42

32

64

52

74

52

14

26

52

C
a

in
 C

t
1

 to
 1

0

1
1

 to
 1

6

74

1
 to

 2
2

2

7

49

33

20

54

46

57

38

7

1 2

71

85

19 to 35

42

81

18

1

19

38

48

W
re

x
h

a
m

 T
e

rra
c

e

40

47

10

44

59

21

Hall

32

11

35

9

39

83

95

1 45

PW

C
o

u
rt

8

B
la

c
k
e

tt-O
rd

71

35

13

41

66
60

62

33a

King James Academy (Meridian Site)

12

7
4

7
2

103

46

4
4

6
8

35a

3
5

3
5

b

Manse

Beldam H
ouse

Thurn
all 

House
Kin

gsto
n H

ouse

44

34

24

12

25

2

37

13

1

33

1a

23

13

3

Three

8

9

2
1

61

20

19

44

Sta
Sub

7

1

11

60

87

10
1

75

1

7

27

15

7

1

11

955

67

33

45

10

2

17

15
11

9

42

36

22

16

14

2

24

34

50
t o60

56
54

52

62
58

45

31

19

5
7

57

51

45

4
1

3

6

2

5

10
8

9
7

84
to

78

68to
62

46

52
to

1

18

2

7 20

9

1

1

6

2

30

8

10

18

16

2

1

5

7

14

2

54

60

V
ictory C

ourt

Edgley

Greens

Cheynes

Mallards

Silverhill

El

10

1

2

5
7

21
15

1214

8

7

2

1

2

21

11
9

23

29

32

40

48

1

3

4

1

3

4
2

1

2

3

15

S
helter

15Weathervane
Cottage

14

2
6

30

103

15

16

Pumping Station

2
4

10

6

2
14

1

11

19

28 14

1

2

7

12

14

2
4

3
4

4
4

5
4

5
6

6

5

31

29

15

5
4

50

4
4

24

3
4

2
6

20

16
12

1

5

1

2

17

19

20

23

24

126

27

48

50

99

100

114

112

102 11
1

10
8

107

104

115

127

121

128129

132

3
5

2
315

7

1

5

El Sub Sta

2
5

96

4

16

25

2

Hall

Stable Cottage

3

1

Farm
Burloes

Burloes Hall

Cottage
Flint

RIS
EHAMPDEN

W
ORTHAM ROAD

M
IL

L H
IL

L

GROVE

SHRUBBERY

R
O

YSE G
R

O
VE

LO
N

D
O

N
 R

O
A

D

B 1039

B 1039

PRIORY CLOSE

AUSTIN CORNER

E
A

S
T

F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

TALL TREES

H
O

L
L

IE
S

 C
L

O
S

E

PARKLANDS

HUNTERS WAY

THE SHIRES

P
R

IO
R

Y
 C

L
O

S
E

P
R

IO
R

Y
 C

L
O

S
E

W
a

lk
C

h
e

s
tn

u
t

LA
N

E

PRINCE

P
R

IO
R

Y

ANDREW'S CLOSE

STREETBARKWAY

A10
A10

MOUNTEAGLE

T
H

E
 W

A
R

R
E

N

LU
M

E
N

 R
O

A
D

Q
U

E
E

N
 A

N
N

E
 C

O
U

R
T

STAMFORD AVENUE

QUEENSWAY M
IL

L R
OAD

A1
0

A1
0

H
A

LF
 A

C
R

E

PO
PLAR

P
E

R
R

Y
 D

R
IV

E

CLOSE

LA
N

E

C
H

E
R

R
Y

 D
R

IV
E

GARDEN CLOSE

MORTIMER

GARDEN W
ALK

PO
PL

AR

MILL ROAD

M
E

LB
O

U
R

N
 R

O
A

D

HAYWOODS

ROAD

WOODLANDS

WALNUT CLOSE

H
A

R
V

E
S

TE
R

 C
LO

S
E

HAWTHORN

THE CLOSE

CLOSE

H
A

W
TH

O
R

N

IC
K

N
IE

LD
 W

A
LK

FIELD CRESCENT

ELM WALK

FIELD CRESCENT

W
AY

NEWMAN AVENUED
A

C
R

E
 G

R
E

E
N

ICKNIELD WALK

MARKET LIN
K

F
IS

H
 H

ILL

HILL
MARKET

NORMAN'S LANE

STREET

KIN
G

H
IG

H
 S

T
R

E
E

T GEORGE LANE

JEPPS LANE

U
P

P
E

R
 K

IN
G

 S
T

R
E

E
T

M
A

R
K

E
T H

ILL

JOHN STREET

E
V

A
N

S
 C

LO
S

E

CR
ES

CE
NT

LO
W

E
R

 G
O

W
E

R
 R

O
A

D

V
IC

T
O

R
IA

M
O

R
TO

N
 S

TR
E

E
T

G
A

G
E

 C
LO

S
E

CROMWELL WAY

A505

A505

HAM
M

OND CLOSE

F
A

IR
F

A
X

 LA
N

E

LILB
U

R
N

 A
V

E
N

U
E

NEWMARKET ROAD

K
E

N
N

E
L LA

N
E

DOG

LO
W

E
R

 K
IN

G
 S

T
R

E
E

T

MELBOURN STREET

K
IN

G
 JA

M
E

S
 W

A
Y

ST M
ARYS PARK

V
A

L
L

E
Y

 R
IS

E

V
IE

W
PR

IM
R

O
SE

WALK

C
LO

S
E

VALE

BETONY

A
S

C
O

T
 R

O
A

D

H
A

Y
D

O
C

K
 R

O
A

D

G
O

O
D

W
O

O
D

 R
O

A
D

AINTREE ROAD

W
IN

D
S

O
R

 R
O

A
D

BRAMPTON ROAD

LINGFIELD ROAD

C
O

W
SL

IP

BANK

F
O

X
G

LO
V

E

STREET
SAFFRON

S
O

R
R

E
L

CAMPION WAY

MALLOW

V
A

L
L

E
Y

 R
IS

E

CLYDESDALE ROAD

SUFFOLK ROAD

MARTINGALE ROAD

HIGHLANDS

PARTHIA CLOSE

COLTSFOOT DRIVE

S
T

U
D

L
A

N
D

S
 R

IS
E

GROVE
FURZE

ROAD

NEWMARKET

CRES
CEN

T

W
H

E
A

T
F

IE
LD

P
O

P
L

A
R

 D
R

IV
E

H
O

N
E

Y
W

A
Y

NEWMARKET ROAD

S
TA

M
FO

R
D

 C
O

U
R

T

QUEENS ROAD

THE DRIFT WAY TRACK

LIM
E

K
ILN

 C
LO

S
E

CLO
SE

SHEPHERD

CL

C
LO

S
E

BRAMBLES

T
E

A
S

E
L

THE

WAY

G
R

AN
G

E BO
TTO

M

BARKWAY ROAD

SHAFTESBURY

K
IN

G
S

TO
N

 V
A

LE

FO
RDHAM

 RO
AD

A
V

E
N

U
E

AV
EN

U
E

B
E

LD
A

M

B
E

LD
A

M

B 1039

AVENUE

THURNALL

A
V

E
N

U
E

B
E

LD
A

M

HARGREAVES ROAD

NASH R
OAD

W
HYDALE R

OAD

A10

G
A

R
D

E
N

 L
A

N
E

T
U

R
P

IN
'S

 R
ID

E

LO
N

D
O

N
 R

O
A

D

LAYSTON

ROADPARK

TOWNE

CARTWRIGHT ROAD

115.0m

110.1m

98.3m

75.4m

91.8m

98.1m

85.4m

104.9m

68.2m

63.8m

61.0m
61.8m

68.8m

70.9m70.8m

74.6m

60.6m

58.5m

63.7m

64.2m

65.6m
68.3m

68.9m

76.3m 79.0m74.9m

62.7m

61.4m

69.1m

75.7m

68.9m

113.0m

103.5m

75.2m

79.6m

83.3m

87.6m

G
reen W

alk P
lantation

Gas Valve
Compound

T
h

e
C

ro
s

s
a

lm
e

ro
d

e
G

a
rd

e
n

Car Park

Sub Sta

S
tile

 P
la

n
ta

tio
n

Sta
Sub
El

El

Courts
Tennis

Play Area

Play Area

The Priory Memorial Gardens

Car Park

SM

Cemetery

El S
ub S

ta

Cemetery

E
l S

u
b

 S
ta

ESS

El S
ub Sta

Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

El

ESS

Play Area

Market Place

(Car Park)

Car Park

El
Sub Sta

M
a

u
ric

e
's

 B
e

lt

Burloes Plantation

Recreation Ground

El Sub Sta

El S
ub Sta

B
u

ry

El S
ub Sta

P
la

n
ta

tio
n

Court
Tennis

Lay-by

El Sub Sta

P
la

y
 A

re
a

E
l S

u
b
 S

ta

E
l S

ub S
ta

ESS

Plantation
Green Walk

Cow Plantation

El Sub Sta

LB

FS TCB

Statue

War Memorial

LB

S
p

o
rt

s
 C

o
u

rt

LB

M
a

s
t

LB

Chy

TCB

Chy

TCB

LB

LB

TCB

LB

StoneT
C

B
s

(telecommunication)

Mast

MarkerGreenwich Meridian

Mast

War Meml

LB

LB

TCB

LB

LB

0 50 100 200 500m

Notes:
The contractor must verify all dimensions on site before commencing any work

on shop drawings, do not scale from this drawing
McBains Ltd copyright

BIM Transmittal Disclaimer

McBains Ltd makes no express or implied warranties with respect to the
character, function, or capabilities of the data (inclusive of 3rd party data

incorporated within), or the suitability of the data for any particular purpose
beyond those originally intended by McBains Ltd. Please refer to our standard

terms and conditions for further details.

Scale @ A0MCB Number

Project Iden NumberFnBrOriginator SpBr Form Discipline Suitability Revision

- - - - - -

McBains Ltd
5th Fl, 26 Finsbury Square London EC2A 1DS
+44 (0)20 7786 7900 mcbains.co.uk

Date created

Approved byDrawn by Reviewed by

Client

Project

Drawing Title

Drawing / Document Reference Status

-

Rev Rev Description Reviewed ByDrawn ByRev Date

Land at Newmarket Road

Royston

LOCATION PLAN

ARCHITECTURE
ROY01 MCB ZZ ZZ DR A 0205 D5 P2

ES EC POR

62523 FEB. 24 1:5000@ A2

P1 Issued for planning 14.03.2024 EC PO'R

P2 Scale of drawing amended to a wider
scale following LPA's comments.
Name of drawing amended to
"Location plan"

06.03.2025 ES PO'R

P
age 69



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  
Location: 
 

 
Highover Farm, Highover Way, Hitchin, Hertfordshire, 
SG4 0RQ 

  
Applicant: 
 

 
Gill-Hudson Homes 

 Proposal: 
 

Change of use and external alterations to former 
agricultural buildings comprising grade II listed 
threshing barn and non-listed courtyard buildings. 
Partial demolition of courtyard building between 
proposed Units 1 and 2 to facilitate access. Single-
storey rear extension to facilitate Unit 10. Subdivision 
and two-storey rear extension to farmhouse to form 
Units 11 and 12. Erection of new building for two 
dwellings (Units 13 and 14). Partial demolition and 
modify building for cycle storage to Units 2 to 8 
inclusive. Erection of building to accommodate 2 car 
port spaces for Unit 5 and refuse storage for Units 2-8 
inclusive. Detached bin enclosure / cycle store 
buildings for Units 9 - 14 inclusive. Hard and soft 
landscaping in association with the provision of private 
and communal space. Boundary treatment, installation 
of 14no. EV charging points, installation of solar PV 
array on south facing roof slopes of Unit 14 and both 
the cycle and refuse storage buildings serving Units 2 -
8 including provision of BNG area.  
 

 Ref. No: 
 

25/01420/FP 

 Officer: 
 

Sarah Kasparian 

 
 Date of expiry of statutory period: 19 August 2025 
 
 Extension of statutory period: 20 March 2026 
 
 Reason for Delay  
 
 Due to detailed negotiations, receipt of amended plans, subsequent re-consultation 

and viability review. Joint consideration with application ref. 25/01383/LBC 
 
 Reason for Referral to Committee  
 
 Site area 
 
1.0 Relevant History 

 
1.1 There is no planning history for the application site.  

 
1.2 This application site is adjacent to outline planning permission ref. 18/01154/OP. Both 

sites are within a Strategic Housing Site ref. HT1.  
 
2.0 Policies 

 
2.1 North Hertfordshire District Local Plan 2011-2031 adopted 8th November 2022 Page 71

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 
Policy SP5: Countryside and Green Belt 
Policy SP6: Sustainable transport 
Policy SP7: Infrastructure requirements and developer contributions 
Policy SP9: Design and sustainability 
Policy SP10: Healthy communities 
Policy SP11: Natural resources and sustainability 
Policy SP12: Green infrastructure, biodiversity and landscape 
Policy T1: Assessment of transport matters 
Policy NE1: Strategic green infrastructure 
Policy NE2: Landscape 
Policy NE4: Biodiversity and geological sites 
Policy NE6: New and improved open space 
 
The application site is associated with the Strategic Housing Site under Policy SP17: Site 
HT1 ‘Highover Farm, Hitchin’ in the NHDC Submission Local Plan 2011-2031.  

 
2.2 Supplementary Planning Documents 
 

North Hertfordshire and Stevenage Landscape Character Assessment  
 
2.3 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) 
 

Section 2: Achieving sustainable development 
Section 5: Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 
Section 8: Promoting healthy and safe communities 
Section 9: Promoting sustainable transport  
Section 12: Achieving well-designed places 
Section 13: Protecting Green Belt land 
Section 14: Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
Section 15: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
Section 16: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

 
2.4 Hertfordshire County Council  
 

Local Transport Plan (LTP4 – adopted May 2018)    
 
3.0 Representations 
 

Statutory Consultees 
 

3.1 NHC Environmental Health – No objection subject to a condition relating to a phase 2 
land contamination report.  
 

3.2 NHC Urban Design Officer – No objection. Additional comments were made on detailed 
elements of the scheme, which the applicant reviewed alongside the Conservation 
Officers comments.  
 

3.3 NHC Conservation Officer – No objection, subject to conditions. Various comments on 
the detail of the scheme were made, and the applicant has amended the drawings.  
 

3.4 NHC Waste and Recycling – No response received. 
 

3.5 Place Services Landscape – There is concern about the relationship of the site to the 
main Highover Farm site and the approved Strategic Masterplan. In particular, the Page 72



 

 

proposed rear gardens of the Threshing Barn to the ‘Threshing Barn Green’, an area of 
‘semi-natural’ greenspace to the north of the listed building. The landscape consultant is 
concerned about the type of boundary treatment proposed, that it should maintain open 
and visual relationship between the Green and the Barns by being low at 1.2m and ‘open’ 
(ie not close boarded fencing). More detail is needed on this. It is noted that the middle 
of the farmyard to remain visually permeable. More detail is needed on the future 
maintenance of new trees and of the proposed grass areas. There was a question about 
the retention of tree T1077, but it has been confirmed to be removed and replaced with 
a new tree, which will continue to be protected by the existing Tree Preservation Order.  
 

3.6 HCC Growth and Infrastructure Unit – No objection, subject to planning contributions 
towards County Council services.  

 
3.7 LLFA – Initially there was objection as there was no relevant documentation regarding 

flood risk and drainage matters. Once a FRA was amended the LLFA now raise no 
objection subject to conditions.  
 

3.8 HCC Ecology – No objection subject to conditions.  
 

3.9 HCC Archaeology – The application site is likely to have an impact on heritage assets 
of archaeological interest and therefore there is no objection subject to a suitable 
condition for a Written Scheme of Investigation setting out pre-commencement 
investigation, recording and analysis of the historic building and development area.  
 

3.10 HCC Highway Authority – No objection, subject to a range of conditions, including a 
pedestrian audit, road safety audit, detail drawings and implementation, cycle parking, 
electric vehicle charging points, and Construction Method Statement; and informatives 
relation to storage of materials, obstructions of public highway, the need for s278 
agreements with the highway authority, and management and service arrangements for 
private and/or unadopted roads.  

 
Neighbour and Local Residents 

 
3.11 The application has been advertised via 74 neighbour notification letters, the display of 

a site notice and a press notice. A total of three representations have been received from 
adjacent residents to the farmyard ‘objecting to the proposals’, although officers note 
there is support for the conversion of the barns in principle. 

 
3.12 The objections and the issues raised by residents are summarised as follows:  

• Note that the landscape plan and tree plan do not align, clarity is needed on which 
trees will be retained and works to existing trees 

• Concern about the impact of the proposals on wildlife including hedgehogs, newts, 
bats and badgers, and noting the need for updated bat surveys for the license to 
the issued 

• Concern about the hours of operations and future construction including the noise 
and dust pollution 

• Concern about the noise increase from proposed residential properties on existing 
residents 

• Question about location of new boundary treatment and what that will comprise 

• Concern about overlooking and impact on privacy from proposed new dwellings 
and the gardens to existing residents 

• Note that the access to the farmyard from Highover Way floods 

Page 73



 

 

• Concern about the increased traffic along Highover Way towards the farmyard and 
level of access from the farmyard development into site allocation ref. HT1 for 700 
homes, including emergency access 

 
3.13 Other matters: 

• Concern about work currently being undertaken before permission is given 

• Concern that letters sent to neighbours took two weeks to arrive, limiting the 
consultation window 

 
3.14 Officers are aware that the applicant and developer of the site has  undertaken various 

works to the site including vegetation clearance and removing the slate from the roofs to 
preserve and reuse them later. The Conservation Officer approved a schedule of work 
to remove the slate on the Threshing Barn to protect the structure. Officers understand 
there has also been investigation into drainage at the site. None of this work comprises 
development and therefore does not require planning permission or listed building 
consent.  

 
3.15 Although neighbour letters took longer than they should have on this occasion there is 

always opportunity for representations to be sent by email any time prior to determination 
and comments will be taken into account.  
 

4.0 Planning Considerations 
 
4.1 Site and Surroundings 

 
4.1.1 The application site is located at the end of Highover Way, tucked behind existing 

residential properties at the end of Highover Way and Armour Rise. The farmyard was 
historically associated with the fields to the north of the site, all of which is allocated for 
Strategic Housing development. There is a paddock area to the north-east of the 
application site left out of this application and out of the outline application strategic 
housing development but has the potential to be developed and gain access from the 
larger development site. There is an existing pond located within the paddock area close 
to the application site.  
 

4.1.2 The farmyard comprises a large farmhouse, a Grade II listed Threshing Barn, a range of 
other timber framed and brick-built barns, and two less substantial modern structures in 
the middle of the farmyard used for storage. The farmyard and house have clearly not 
been occupied for a long time; the farmhouse is boarded up and vegetation has 
overtaken parts of the existing buildings. Some of the buildings are in a state of disrepair, 
and at risk of collapse due to a lack of ongoing maintenance.  
 

4.1.3 There are some protected trees within the site, which are in a variety of conditions. The 
southern boundary is defined alongside existing residential properties; and the eastern 
boundary is defined by an established hedgerow. The western and northern boundaries 
are currently not defined by any particular topographical or landscape feature; the north 
boundary runs part way across the main track into the larger development site and so is 
not marked out just yet.  
 

4.1.4 The site is accessed via the end of Highover Way, which is not a through route. There is 
an un-surfaced access road from the end of the road towards the farmyard and also 
serves a row of terraced properties known as Highover Cottages. This access is owned 
by Barratt David Wilson, and planned to provide a new surfaced foot and cycle way into 
the strategic housing development. There will be no vehicular traffic into the larger site 
from Highover Way. There is currently some informal car parking alongside this access 
road.  Page 74



 

 

 
4.2 Proposal 

 
4.2.1 The proposal is for the change of use of the former agricultural buildings at Highover 

Farmyard together with limited demolition and external alterations to the buildings, in 
order to facilitate the provision of 14 residential units.  
 

4.2.2 Residential mix will comprise 100% market homes of which five will have two bedrooms, 
five will have three bedrooms and four will have four bedrooms.  
 

4.2.3 In terms of demolition, part of the barn forming the western boundary will be demolished 
to facilitate the driveway into the farmyard. The timber frame building to the north of the 
access is retained and its part of the brick barn that will be demolished to enable 
vehicular access. Within the middle of the farmyard are two modern structures. One will 
be removed and replaces with a bin store and car port; the other will be partly demolished 
to open up the space in the yard and provide cycle storage.  
 

4.2.4 There will be a single storey rear extension to the barn along the eastern boundary, to 
facilitate a unit there. There will also be alterations and extensions to the farmhouse in 
order to subdivide it into two residential units.  
 

4.2.5 There will be new boundary treatment to define rear gardens for new residential 
properties, where the fronts of new units will face into the yard. The new yard will 
generally be open with hardstanding, providing access to the new units with green 
landscaping and cycle parking. There will be a path access in the north-eastern corner 
of the site into one the new parks on the strategic housing allocation. Proposals include 
electric vehicle charging points, solar photo-voltaic panels on various roof slopes, and 
provision of an ecological area.  
 

4.2.6 The application is supported by the following plans and documents: 
 

• 2208.PL.01 Location Plan 

• Amended 2208.PL.02F Proposed block master plan with measured survey 

• Amended 2208.PL.03C Proposed ground floor plans with measured survey 

• Amended 2208.PL.04B Proposed first floor plans with measured survey 

• Amended 2208.PL.05F Proposed block master plan 

• Amended 2208.PL.06C Proposed ground floor plans 

• Amended 2208.PL.07B Proposed first floor plans 

• Amended 2208.PL.08B Proposed elevations Units 1, 2 and cycle 

• Amended 2208.PL.09B Proposed elevations Units 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 

• Amended 2208.PL.10B Proposed elevations Units 9, 10 and refuse 

• 2208.PL.11 Proposed elevations Units 11 and 12 

• Amended 2208.PL.12A Proposed elevations Units 13 and 14 

• Amended 2208.PL.13A Proposed boundary treatments 

• 7219_01 Surface water drainage layout 

• 7219_02 Drainage details 

• 7219_04 External works details 

• 7219_05 Catchment areas 

• 7219_06 Exceedance flow path 

• 7219 Drainage Design Statement and Calculations 

• 20250819-FRA-B Flood Risk Assessment 

• 21939 MBS Global Survey Existing Elevations  

• 21939 MBS Global Survey Existing Floor Plans 

• 21939 MBS Global Survey Roof Plans Page 75



 

 

• 7219 Structural Appraisal of Removal of Roof Covering 

• 5521 Tree Constraints Plan 

• 5521 Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan 

• 5521 Arboricultural Impact Assessment Report and Plan 

• HFH 01 Landscape plus specification maintenance notes 

• 002_4250115_DK Transport Technical Note Issue 3 by Glanville 

• 4250115-SK004 I3 Swept Path Assessment 

• 4250115-SK005 I3 Swept Path Assessment 

• 4250115-SK006 I3 Swept Path Assessment 

• 4250115-SK007 I3 Swept Path Assessment 

• 4250115-SK008 I3 Visibility Splay Assessment 

• R18029 V1 Historic Environment Desk Based Assessment by PCA July 2025 

• 2025/1533 Phase 1 Desktop Study by Ground Science Solutions July 2025 

• Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and Bat Report by Cotswold Wildlife Surveys July 
2024  

• Reptile and Amphibian Survey Report by Cotswold Wildlife Surveys September 
2024 

• Nocturnal Bat Survey Report by Cotswold Wildlife Surveys September 2024 

• Statutory BNG Metric June 2025 

• M005066 Viability Report by Kirkby Diamond June 2025 

• Sustainability Report by AP Consulting Engineers May 2025 

• Planning Statement by Collins and Coward Ltd May 2025 

• Heritage Statement by Collins and Coward Ltd May 2025 
 

4.3 Environmental Impact Assessment 
 
4.3.1 For certain types of development proposals, a screening opinion is necessary to 

determine if it is likely to result in significant environmental effects and, consequently, 
require an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA). This screening process is 
undertaken by the local planning authority.  

 
4.3.2 As part of the outline application for the larger part of HT1 ref 18/01154/OP, an 

Environmental Statement was submitted, which was considered to constitute Schedule 
2 development.  

 
4.3.3 There are some principles to follow when assessing whether development comprises 

EIA development. According to a judgement known as Wingfield v Canterbury CC four 
factors become known and helpful in assessing whether two sites should be considered 
as one for the purpose of EIA regulations. These are as follows together with officers’ 
commentary: 
 

• Common ownership: The two sites (Highover Farmyard and the larger part of the 
site comprising fields to the north of the farmyard) used to be in the same 
ownership but are not any longer. The whole site allocation is now in three separate 
ownerships: one large and two much smaller land parcels. Outline permission was 
issued in 2024 for the wider development which went through a master planning 
process. This application is for the conversion of existing buildings, including a 
Grade II listed building, comprising a relatively small proposal for a total of 14 units.  

• Simultaneous determinations: Outline permission (18/01154/OP) was granted 
in November 2024. This planning application was submitted in June 2025. The 
determinations will not be simultaneous.  

• Functional interdependence: The two applications are separate, albeit both for 
housing development. Vehicular access to the larger site is taken primarily from 
Stotfold Road and then from High Dane, whereas the farmyard has existing and Page 76



 

 

continued vehicular access and right of way from Highover Way. Both projects 
could proceed one without the other. It is noted that a non-motorised route will be 
installed from Highover Way towards the larger Highover Farm site, which can run 
alongside the entrance, and new roadway into the farmyard.  

• Stand-alone projects: Both projects are justified on their own merits and are 
pursued independently. Neither project is an integral part to each other or a wider 
scheme: where the farmyard development relates primarily to a bespoke range of 
barn conversions; whereas the larger development is significantly larger, owned 
and to be developed by a national housebuilder.  

 
4.3.4 In conclusion Officers view is that given the very limited scale of this development, 

separate ownerships, different types of development, and separate nature of this project 
compared to that of application ref 18/01154/OP, the farmyard development, subject of 
this application, does not constitute EIA development and therefore does not require an 
ES. This is taking into account the ownership, determination timescales, functional 
interdependence and standalone character of the two projects in line with the ‘Wingfield 
Principles’ set out above. This decision is relevant only for the purpose of a screening 
opinion pursuant to the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2017 (as amended). The screening opinion, dated January 2017, was 
reviewed on submission of this application, and no changes to circumstances were 
identified to justify an alternative decision, so the determination of the application 
progresses as not ‘EIA development’. 

 
4.4 Legal basis of determining the Planning application 
 
4.4.1 Members will be familiar with the standard legal advice that is set out at the end of each 

planning Control Committee report which advises that legislation requires planning 
applications to be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. This approach was developed within Section 54A of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). It is also re-emphasised within 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compensation Act 2004, which reads as follows: 

 
4.4.2 ‘if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purposes of any determination to 

be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with 
the Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise’. 

 
5. Key Issues 
 
5.1 The key issues for consideration of this planning application are as follows:  
 

1) Policy background and provision of housing 
2) Masterplanning and site-specific requirements 
3) Impact of the development on heritage assets 
4) Archaeology 
5) Impact of the development on the character and appearance of the area 
6) Impact on amenity of existing and future residents 
7) Impact of the local highway network, access and parking 
8) Flood risk and drainage 
9) Ecological, trees and landscaping considerations 
10) Sustainability 
11) Environmental health considerations  
12) Viability and planning obligations 

 
5.1 Policy background and provision of housing 

 Page 77



 

 

A. The North Hertfordshire Local Plan 2011-2031 (NHLP) was adopted by the Council in 
November 2022. NHLP Policy SP1 on sustainable development in the district is the 
backbone for considering proposals. It requires the main role of key settlements, such 
as Hitchin to be the main focus for new development. Proposals should ‘deliver an 
appropriate mix of homes, jobs and facilities that contribute towards the targets and 
aspirations of this Plan’, ‘provide the necessary infrastructure…’, ‘protect [the] 
environment’, and ‘secure any necessary mitigation measures that reduce the impact of 
development…’  

 
B. Policy SP2 identifies a significant housing need in the district which is for ‘at least 13,000 

new homes’ over the plan period. Hitchin is planned to accommodate around 1,800 in 
total between this Strategic Housing Site, other smaller site allocations for housing, sites 
within the existing urban area and any other ‘windfall sites’. This site does form part of 
Site HT1 under Policy SP17 for ‘approximately 700 homes’ for which outline planning 
permission was granted for the main part of the site allocation ref 18/01154/OP for ‘up to 
700 homes’. It is noted that the farmyard was excluded from the outline application, and 
development of the site masterplan, due to the emerging statutory listing of the Threshing 
Barn at the time the outline application was submitted. The Threshing Barn was listed ref 
1452743 on 2 May 2018. This farmyard site would contribute an additional 14 units in 
addition to the maximum 700 units permitted on the main part of the site, which stays 
within the estimate for the site allocation overall.  
 

C. As set out in the Council’s most recent Housing Land Supply Update (November 2025), 
the total requirement for housing delivery in the District from 1 April 2025 to 31 March 
2030 is 3,629 dwellings. The Council therefore can only demonstrate a five-year land 
position of 2.6 years against our objectively assessed housing need of 1,120 homes per 
annum, annual shortfall and 5% buffer. This figure falls below the five-year figure as 
required in the NPPF. Paragraph 11 of the NPPF states that: ‘Plans and decisions should 
apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development... For decision-taking this 
means: c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development 
plan without delay’. 
 

D. Where a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites cannot be demonstrated, para. 11 
(d) of the NPPF confirms that where ‘the policies which are most important for 
determining the application are out-of-date’ [including the housing land supply]…unless 
(i) there are protected areas or assets of particular importance (i.e. Green Belt and 
heritage assets) which provide a strong reason for refusing the development proposed 
or (ii) ‘any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole, 
having particular regard to key policies for directing development to sustainable 
locations, making effective use of land, securing well-designed places and providing 
affordable homes, individually or in combination’, permission should be granted. This 
process is known as the ‘tilted balance’. 
 

E. For the application site, as the development plan is out of date, the proposals should ‘be 
approved without delay’. Officers note the position on the Council’s 5-year housing land 
supply, meaning that the tilted balance is engaged and the remainder of this report will 
balance up the issues for consideration and conclusion at the end. The need for this 
housing is evident. The delivery of this site is relatively small but realistically delivered in 
the short-term (next 5 years) and given that full planning permission is sought.  
 

F. The proposals therefore accord with the NHLP Policies SP1, SP2 and SP17. The delivery 
of market housing here would weigh positively in the planning balance to a significant 
degree given the small scale of housing provision. The contribution of financial 
obligations toward affordable housing would also weigh positively in the planning Page 78



 

 

balance, despite the off-site provision and reduction on the commuted sum (see section 
5.12 below), the contribution in the planning balance is still very significant.   

 
5.2 Masterplanning and site-specific requirements 
 

A. NHLP Policy SP9 ‘requires Strategic Masterplans to be produced for Strategic Housing 
Sites and other significant development’, defined at over 100 units. As the site is within 

site allocation HT1 on the proposals map the farmyard should have been included in the 
masterplan, however at the time the Threshing Barn was in the process of being statutory 
listed and so it was excluded, acknowledging that it could be developed independently. 
The listed building was considered as part of the masterplanning process and 
determination of the outline application ref. 18/01154/OP, and the farmyards functional 
independence was also considered achievable in principles (due to independent 
vehicular access) to ensure the site could still be developed separately.  

 
B. The conclusion of the Officers report for that outline application was that the proposals 

were in accordance with the NPPF and the NHLP and would enable the delivery of a 
‘strategic housing site’ allocated in the adopted local plan.  

 
C. However, it was also acknowledged that the farmyard and adjacent paddock was not 

included in the outline planning application and subsequent masterplan, due to the 
imminent listing of the Threshing Barn. It was considered that this land could have been 
developed separately, whilst taking into account how any proposal would fit into the 
existing masterplan and requirements of Policy SP17. This section of the report therefore 
considers that dynamic: 
 

• Neighbourhood-level retail facilities providing approximately 500m2 (net) of retail and 
food and beverage floorspace;  
 
The proposals in this application do not compromise this element of the masterplan. 
 

• Principal access from Stotfold Road with provision for sustainable modes of transport 
and comprehensive integration into the existing pedestrian and cycle, public transport 
and road networks;  
 
The farmyard has an existing vehicular entrance and right of way from Highover Way, 
this will be maintained, although the location will be moved from the southernmost corner 
to be along the range of barns facing southwest.  
 
The owner of the main HT1 site also owns the access road up to the metalled edge of 
Highover Way and is obliged to provide a 3m wide pedestrian and cycle route from the 
end of Highover Way, so the new access to the farmyard will be able to work with that.  
 
There will also be a footpath leading from the top northern corner of the farmyard into 
what will be a park alongside the farmyard and towards the main park in the middle of 
the larger HT1 site, known as ‘Highover Park’ on the masterplan. The path will ensure 
there is a permeable route through and promoting a development of integrated 
communities. The width and material of the path will be the same as that on the larger 
site, enabling a consistent appearance.  
 
It should also be noted that the paddock land appears to now be landlocked, where 
access could not be gained through the farmyard, and should not be in order to comply 
with Policy SP17 regarding ‘principal access from Stotfold Road’. It is understood that 
Barratts David Wilson have an obligation in the acquisition of the land to deliver access 

Page 79



 

 

to the paddock within 5 years, which would enable the future development of that plot 
with access from Stotfold Road.  
 

• At least 7 serviced plots for self-build development;  
 
The proposals in this application do not compromise this element of the masterplan. 
 

• Approximately two hectares of land reserved for provision of a new primary school;  
 
The proposals in this application do not compromise this element of the masterplan. 
 

• Appropriate separation distances from the adjoining railway embankment to safeguard 
residential amenity;   
 
The proposals in this application do not compromise this element of the masterplan. 
 

• Lower density development and / or green infrastructure provision as informed by 
detailed landscape assessments at the north of the site to: i. maintain appropriate visual 
and physical separation between Hitchin and Letchworth Garden City; ii. address surface 
water flood risk; and iii. respect the setting of the scheduled burrows to the north-east;  
 
The proposals in this application do not compromise this element of the masterplan. 
 

• Sensitive consideration of other designated and non-designated heritage assets at 
Highover Farm including the Grade II listed Threshing Barn;   
 
The masterplan reflects this principle, with Threshing Barn Green adjacent to the 
farmyard; and this application has also been made with that principle in mind, where 
buildings are to be converted, rather than demolished. This will be further assessed in 
the section for heritage assets below.  
 

• Undertake Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment, particularly relating to 
current and historic agricultural use; and  
 
The proposals in this application do not compromise this element of the masterplan. The 
Environmental Health Officer raises no objection and recommends a suitable condition. 
 

• Undertake ecological appraisal in relation to Stotfold Road Verges and Hitchin Railway 
Banks Wildlife Sites. 
 
The proposals in this application do not compromise this element of the masterplan. 
 

D. Overall, the proposals are in accordance with the approved Strategic masterplan for the 
site, as approved by 18/01154/OP, as well as NHLP Policy SP17 for site allocation ref. 
HT1. This weighs as neutral in the planning balance. 
 

5.3 Impact of the development of heritage assets 
 

A. Section 66 (1) of The Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Area) Act 1990 (the 
LBCA Act) stipulates that when considering whether to grant planning permission for 
development which affects a listed building, or its setting, special regard shall be had to 
the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural interest which it possesses. Effect upon listed buildings therefore should be 
given considerable importance and weight. Relevant factors include the extent of 
assessed harm and the heritage value of the heritage asset in question. Page 80



 

 

 
B. Paragraph 194 of the NPPF states that in determining applications, local planning 

authorities should require an applicant to describe the significance of any heritage assets 
affected, including any contribution to their setting and where a site on which 
development is proposed includes or has the potential to include heritage assets with 
archaeological interest, local planning authorities should require developers to submit an 
appropriate desk-based assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluation. 
Paragraph 195 of the NPPF confirms that local planning authorities should identify and 
assess the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a 
proposal (including by development affecting their setting) taking account of the available 
evidence and any necessary expertise.  
 

C. NHLP Policy SP13 confirms that the Council will balance the need for growth with the 
proper protection and enhancement of the historic environment. When considering the 
impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, 
great weight will be given to the asset’s conservation and the Management of its setting. 
Regarding designated heritage assets, NHLP Policy HE1 stipulates that planning 
permission for development proposals affecting Designated Heritage Assets or their 
setting will be granted where they will, amongst other things, lead to less than substantial 
harm to the significance of the designated heritage asset and this harm will be 
outweighed by the public benefits of the development, including securing the asset’s 
optimum viable use. This policy reflects paragraph 208 of the NPPF which confirms that 
where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance 
of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits 
of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.  
 

D. The Conservation Officer considers that the building is at risk, although it is not identified 
on the national register or on the Council’s ‘at risk’ register, therefore Policy HE2 is 
applicable, which states that proposals will be supported that ‘seek to conserve or 
provide new uses for designated heritage assets identified [as being at risk] ’that are 
justifies and propriate to the significance of the asset to return a heritage asset to 
beneficial use’.  
 

E. The application is accompanied by a Heritage Statement (HS) prepared by Collins and 
Coward Ltd. This considers the impact of the proposed development on the identified 
heritage assets. With the exception of archaeology matters which are considered 
separately below, the designated Heritage Assets within the application site to be the 
Threshing Barn (Grade II). The site is not located within a Conservation Area. The other 
buildings in the farmyard including the farmhouse are locally listed and therefore ‘non-
designated heritage assets’ (NHDA).  
 

F. For the avoidance of doubt, the internal and external alterations to the listed building (the 
Threshing Barn) are dealt with in the accompanying listed building application. From a 
heritage perspective, this planning application is concerned with the proposed new 
residential use of the listed building and other buildings, external alterations of all the 
listed building, other buildings and demolition works, and the impact of all new 
development on the setting of the listed building. These will be assessed here: 
 

G. The listed buildings and structures across the site are in varying states of disrepair. 
Intervention is therefore both necessary and important to secure their long-term 
protection. Residential uses of the larger buildings is considered to be optimal from a 
heritage perspective providing the immediate and long-term protection.  
 

H. Regarding the external alterations to the buildings, this is set out in the description and 
proposals above. For the Threshing Barn itself the building is in a poor state of repair Page 81



 

 

with external materials and roof slates that have fallen away. The building has not been 
used for some time and use by pigeons is extensive. There have been some minor 
unsympathetic repairs in the past, which pre-dates the listing of the building. There would 
be some inherent harm caused through the conversion of the building, and the 
subdivision to create two new homes, however the proposal will secure a new viable use 
for the building, which is supported. The proposed alterations internally and externally 
are sympathetic to the structure, character and appearance of the listed building and 
have been well thought out in discussion with the Conservation Officer. There would be 
some harm to the fabric of the listed building as a result of subdivision and conversion to 
the standards required for residential use, however the benefit of securing a new viable 
use for the building, as stated previously is supported. A range of conditions are 
recommended to secure the details of the proposals.  
 

I. The external alterations to the other buildings within the farmyard, including the former 
farmhouse have also been considered with care for subdivision and extension sensitively 
proposed to take account of the existing layout of buildings and the yard. The proposals 
would result in the demolition of a section of existing brick barn along the western side 
of the yard that is not statutorily listed to facilitate access to the site, as well as demolition 
of an existing modern former farm structure in the centre of the site and part of another 
structure, the remainder of which will form a cycle store. Again, a range of conditions are 
recommended to secure the details of the proposals.  
 

J. In relation to the setting of the listed building, much of the existing built form will be 
retained as a result of the proposals. There will be some demolition, as well as extension 
and two newbuild units. The openness within the farmyard will be retained and enhanced, 
and appreciation for the enclosure of the farmyard as a whole will also be respected as 
a result of the retention of most of the existing buildings. The external alterations are 
sensitively designed and will conserve and enhance the farmyard character, whilst 
facilitating the residential use of the site which will secure the long-term viable use of the 
site and buildings. Overall, there will be some degree of harm to the setting of the listed 
building.  
 

K. The proposals will result in identified harmful impacts on the listed building itself, and the 
setting of the listed building, as a result of external alterations, including new buildings, 
extensions and demolition of existing structures. However, the proposals also deliver a 
range of meaningful heritage benefits by securing the long-term viable re-use of the listed 
building as well as the non-designated heritage assets, as buildings which are in a state 
of disrepair at present and ‘at risk’ as identified by the Conservation Officer. The re-use 
of the site will help preserve the listed building and enhance the appearance of the 
existing farmyard. Overall, it is considered that this would equate to harm to significance 
that would be ‘less than substantial’. Para. 215 of the NPPF confirms that ‘this harm 
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where 
appropriate, securing its optimum viable use’. The public benefits arising from the 
proposal in the form of provision of new housing is considered to weigh positively against 
the harm to the heritage assets.  
 

5.4 Archaeology 
 

A. The application site is not located within an Area of Archaeological Significance (AAS). 
Wilbury Hill to the north is an AAS approximately 1km to the north which contains a 
Scheduled Ancient Monument.  

 
B. NHLP Policy HE4 on Archaeology states that permission for development proposals 

affecting heritage assets with archaeological interest will be granted provided that: a. 
developers submit an appropriate desk-based assessment and, where justified, an Page 82



 

 

archaeological field evaluation. Policy HE4 as modified also states that ‘Areas of as yet, 
unknown archaeology may be identified during research, or through the planning or plan 
making process. These sites or areas should be treated in the same way as archaeology 
areas and areas of archaeological significance’. The NPPF para.199 sets out the same 
approach to sites of archaeological significance as other heritage assets, in that ‘great 
weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, 
the greater the weight should be)’. Para. 203 also requires ‘in weighing applications that 
directly or indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be 
required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the 
heritage asset.’ 

 
C. The site is not supported by any specific archaeological investigations but with County 

Archaeologist has reviewed the proposals. It is noted that the Historic Environment 
Record (HER) identifies that the farmstead is shown on the 1844 tithe map as 'High-Over 
Farm'. The name, meaning 'the high bank or slope' is documented since the thirteenth 
century. From the mid fifteenth century Highover was owned by wealthy wool merchants 
named Pulter and regarded as a manorial estate. In 1690 it consisted of the farmhouse, 
outbuildings, barns, stables and land, both arable and pasture. The current house is 
timber-framed and probably of sixteenth or seventeenth century date (HER17200), and 
the Threshing Barn dates from at least the 17th century, as noted above, along with the 
hay barn. It is noted that an Iron Age and |Roman site has been revealed to the north of 
the farm (within the wider HT1 site) suggesting activity from these periods as well.  

 
D. Therefore, given the history of the application site, the proximity of this site to other 

heritage assets, and the likely impact of the proposed development on assets of 
archaeological interest there is no objection in principle, subject to conditions relating to 
a written scheme of investigation for the archaeological recording of historic buildings 
prior to development, a recording of the interventions taken as a result of the 
development, an evaluation of the development area, and for appropriate excavation and 
monitoring. This should be followed by an analysis of the results, production of a report 
and publication of the results.  

 
E. By way of conclusion on archaeology, officers consider that the risk of harm to 

archaeological heritage assets is managed appropriately as a result of the proposed 
development. The proposals are therefore in accordance with the NPPF and NHLP 
Policy HE4. This matter weighs as neutral in the planning balance.  

 
5.5 Impact of the development on the character and appearance of the area 
 
A. NHLP SP9 requires development to be ‘well designed and located and responds 

positively to its local context’ which is reiterated in Policy D1 on Sustainable Design.  
 
B. The farmyard is adjacent to the existing urban area and allocated as part of HT1 for new 

housing. The retention of existing buildings and their conversion would respond well to 
local context by retaining historic buildings. The reuse of the farmyard has been well 
designed to consider interaction with the existing development and development as part 
of the masterplan.  

 
C. Policy SP9 also requires consideration against ‘detailed policy requirements set out in 

this Plan and have regard to the Design SPD’. This assessment has already been 
undertaken above in regard to Policy SP17.  

 
D. Relevant elements in Policy D1 on ‘Sustainable design’ require proposals to ‘take all 

reasonable opportunities, consistent with the nature and scale of the scheme, to:  
 Page 83



 

 

• create or enhance public realm;  
 

The farmyard will be regenerated; it will be open for access and the buildings reused 
and brought back to life. The proposals will overall make a great improvement on the 
immediate vicinity. Public realm is provided, although landownership is private, there 
will be a footpath through to link the farmyard to new surrounding communities.  

 

• optimise the potential of the site by incorporating Sustainable Drainage Systems 
(SuDS);  

 
 This has been assessed and the LLFA raise no objection; landscaping is provided in 

and around the barns within the site and surface water can be dealt with on site.  
 

• reduce energy consumption and waste;  
 
 There will inevitably be an increase in energy consumption compared to the existing 

situation. In principle the reuse of the buildings will reduce waste. However, the 
applicant has provided a sustainability statement with the application which states that 
the proposals will exceed various building regulations requirements by using Air Source 
Heat Pumps and some solar PV where suitable on site. This will be explored in more 
detail later in this report.  

 

• retain existing vegetation and propose appropriate new planting;  
 

Some of the trees on site are protected and as far as possible these are retained. The 
site was very overgrown when the applicant acquired the site, and much of the 
vegetation has been cleared. This is taken into account in the analysis of the site for 
ecology and BNG calculations. However, the overgrown parts of the site would have 
needed to have been cleared at some point to enable the use of the site for residential 
gardens. New planting is proposed in the form of residential gardens and also 
landscaping and small greenspaces within the farmyard. Hard standing is limited as 
farm as possible and greenspaces encouraged through negotiations on the site. 
Officers considered that lower-level planting was more appropriate within the farmyard 
setting, and there is proposed tree planting along the path in the northern corner.  

 

• maximise accessibility, legibility and physical and social connectivity both internally and 
with neighbouring areas;   

 
 This has been achieved, by relocating the vehicular access to reduce the angle to the 

right from the end of Highover Way, and the introduction of the footpath in the northern 
corner. This is appropriate and proportionate to the scheme.  

 

• future proof for changes in technology and lifestyle;  
 
 On this small scheme, which is made more difficult in this context due to the reuse of 

existing buildings, but scope is provided for M4(3) units (except for the listed Threshing 
Barn) to enable future adaptability. The development will provide Air Source Heat Pumps 
and Solar PV, which is advance thinking ahead of when it would not be possible in the 
future to buy new gas boilers, as well as supported by the Sustainability SPD. The site 
provides a range of house types to accommodate different household sizes. The site 
also includes EV charging points for all units as well as a range of cycle parking options.  

 

• design-out opportunities for crime and anti-social behaviour; and  
 

Page 84



 

 

 The development is an inward-looking development, with front elevations facing in, and 
a good level of surveillance from rear elevations out of the site. There is one vehicular 
access into the site, and two pedestrian entrances, otherwise boundaries will have 
appropriate boundary treatment for backing onto existing residential gardens, and the 
future Threshing Barn Green open space.  

 

• minimise the visual impact of street furniture and parking provision; 
 
 There will be very limited street furniture within the farmyard, to maintain that open 

perspective, and reflect this historic context of the site. Parking will be visible, although 
the layout ensures there will not be more than 4 spaces next to each other before a 
landscaped break. The applicant has tried to distribute parking around the site ensuring 
cars would be discreet as much as possible, including a car port for one unit and using 
buildings to ‘hide’ parking spaces.  

   
E. In terms of the units themselves, the existing buildings are being retained and much of 

the character will come from existing barns. Some structures are to be removed or 
adapted to enable the development. The existing brick barns and timber framed barns 
will retain their historic external appearance, and the Conservation Officer has negotiated 
and provided conditions to ensure the finish of the units.  

 
F. There are two new build semi-detached units in the southern corner, which will comprise 

one three-bedroom two storey house and one two-bedroom single storey bungalow. The 
form of these units reflects the taller gabled barns and shallower side projection which 
can be seen elsewhere in the farmyard. However, these units will have facing brickwork 
on the lower storey and be clad in vertical timber boarding on the upper storey, with black 
rainwater and eaves detail and a slate roof covering. This will complement the existing 
and historic farm buildings, without looking pastiche.  

 
G. Overall, the proposals are in accordance with NHLP Policies SP9 and D1 on the design 

of the scheme. This weighs as neutral in the planning balance. 
 
5.6 Impact on amenity of existing and future residents 
 
A. Concern has been raised from residents living nearby to the proposed development with 

regard to impact on their amenity as a result of the development as a whole.  
 
B. NHLP Policy D3 states that ‘planning permission will be granted for development 

proposals which do not cause unacceptable harm to living conditions’. Supporting text 
identifies harm in terms of traffic, parking, loss of daylight and sunlight noise, overlooking, 
pollution and dominance.  

 
C. In the short term, it is noted that there would likely be at least some impacts to existing 

neighbouring properties during the construction phase due to construction noise and 
traffic in the vicinity. Whilst various conditions would be imposed on the grant of planning 
permission, which seek to minimise this impact (for example, construction method 
statements and construction hours etc), there is likely to be at least some impact and 
disturbance, even if it is kept at a minimal level and appropriate hours. All construction 
traffic will come from Highover Way and inevitably some larger vehicles, which will impact 
on residents around the site, albeit it relatively short-term impact to the length of the 
construction phase. Traffic, deliveries and vehicles can be managed through a 
Construction Traffic Management Plan, which will be agreed in consultation with the 
highway authority. It is therefore considered that the construction phase of this proposal 
will have an overall adverse impact on existing residential amenity, with the benefit that 
it would be temporary.  Page 85



 

 

 
D. Regarding longer term impact of the proposed development on existing residents of 

Highover Way and Armour Rise, there will be two new build semi-detached units that 
introduce new built form closer to existing houses 80-86 Highover Way and 1-4 Armour 
Rise. The closest will be no.84 which will be side on to plot 14 with a distance of 16.5m, 
separated by a ‘BNG area’ rather than amenity space. Other units have greater distances 
of 24-30m with rear elevations facing plots 13 and 14 at different angles, which is an 
acceptable relationship as the garden depth on all existing and proposed plots is good 
at around 10-12m minimum. 8 Armour Rise would be closer to plots 11 and 12 (the 
former farmhouse) which is an existing building. The former farmhouse is to be 
subdivided and extended to form plot 12, but still the distance from no.8 ius significant at 
34.6m and the plots would be at an angle to each other and therefore not considered to 
create an unduly negative relationship for existing or future residents.  

 
E. Plots 2 and 3 of the farmyard are close to Highover Cottages. These are existing 

buildings and attached to the listed building. The only extended part of plot 2 would be a 
gable feature on the to create a first floor, which would look in the direction of Highover 
Cottages. The gable window would be 33m away from Highover Cottages and facing a 
side elevation. The garden to the new gable window would then be at an angle and not 
directly overlooked, over current vegetation, although that vegetation might reduce as a 
result of the new foot and cycleway from Highover Way into the larger HT1 site. This is 
not considered to result in an unduly negative relationship either.  

 
F. All other proposed plots at the farmyard are away from existing residential properties. 

Future residents on the larger HT1 sit will also be set back away from the farmyard due 
to the listed building, and so once all new residential development is in place all new 
residents will be aware of the relationship of the buildings, which is considered to protect 
the amenity and privacy of future residents in their homes and gardens.  

 
G. In relation to the amenity of future residents of the application site, all proposed plots 

comply with or exceed the ‘Technical housing standards – nationally described space 
standards’. All properties will have private amenity space, with the smallest comprising 
35sq.m. properties and would comprise a logical and useable space. These gardens for 
plots 5-8 are all similar in layout and size and would back onto the Threshing Barn Green 
open space. The size and location are informed by the existing buildings and the extent 
of the site, however they would have immediate view and access to the new greenspace 
to be delivered on the larger site. The development as a whole is fairly enclosed in 
character and with greenspaces provided within the yard area there is scope for 
residents, especially children to use the open space as well as private gardens. Given 
these circumstances this is considered acceptable. The other gardens are all substantial 
and plot 11, comprising the main original part of the farmhouse would benefit from the 
land around it, which contains some of the protected trees on site.  

 
H. Officers consider that this will offer future residents a good standard of residential 

amenity in accordance with NHLP Policy D1 and D3. This matter weighs as neutral in 
the planning balance. 
 

5.7 Impact of the local highway network, access and parking 
 

A. NHLP Policy SP6 on ‘Sustainable transport’ requires a range of elements towards 
accessibility and promoting sustainable transport, including working with the county 
council ‘to ensure that a range of sustainable transport options are available to all 
potential occupants and users. This may involve new or improved pedestrian, cycle and 
passenger transport…links and routes…’  

 Page 86



 

 

B. NHLP Policy T1 sets out how to assess applications in relation to transport. These 
include highway safety and ‘mechanisms to secure any necessary sustainable transport 
measured and/or improvements to the existing highway network…’ 
 

C. The Highway Authority (HA) has responded to the consultation, who have no objection 
to the proposals subject to conditions and informatives. Their response outlines the 
character of the site, its position in relation to highway safety, and the pedestrian, cycle, 
PRoW and bus networks. The HA notes the position in relation to the larger Highover 
Farm development, and how it will interact with the new foot and cycle way to be installed 
from the end of Highover Way and the accessibility to the farmyard site.  
 

D. The HA state: ‘In accordance with Part 3 of the Hertfordshire Design Guide ‘Place and 
Movement, Planning and Design Guide’ it is considered that the development reflects a 
P3/M1 road. As the road will serve 14 dwellings, after the turning for Highover Cottages, 
the road will reflect a Mews cul-de-sac. Highover Farm is located at the northern end of 
Highover Way, which forms a cul-de-sac. Vehicle access will be achieved via the existing 
access off Highover Way but the access will be improved, widened and surfaced… To 
allow for two large cars to pass each other on the bend, the access road which 
incorporates a 90 degree bend, is proposed to be 5.5m wide widening to 6.9m within the 
site’s eastern half to serve a number of driveways and the eastern most six 
dwellings…Swept path assessment shows that the 12.1m Refuse Vehicles are able to 
enter and depart the site in forward gear.’ 
 

E. During the pre-application discussions both Hertfordshire Highways and the LPA 
requested that the refuse turning head was provided to the west of the proposed car port 
and bin store, however the applicant has shown that it would not be possible without 
impacting on car parking space. 
 

F. Regarding trip generation, it is noted that the change of use from a farm use to residential 
unit will increase the projected number of trips to and from the site, although the types of 
vehicles would no longer comprise farm vehicles. The TRICS database for similar sites 
demonstrates that the increase would be minimal and therefore not considered that the 
impact of the development would be severe in accordance with para. 116 of the NPPF 
2024.  
 

G. In terms of active travel, the HA notes that the applicant has not addressed how 
pedestrians will be able to access key destinations such as shops, schools, bus stops 
etc to promote active travel. In principle the site is in a sustainable location adjacent to 
the existing urban area of Hitchin, and the future scenario of the larger part of Highover 
Farm development being delivered and opening up increased links. The HA requests a 
condition requiring a pedestrian audit of the site to identify any deficiencies that create 
barriers and submit proposals to rectify that. Any improvements identified in the audit, 
such as dropped kerbs, tactile paving, crossings, will be required to be delivered under 
a S278 agreement, under ‘Strand 1’ works. In addition, the HA is also seeking a ‘strand 
2’ contribution towards sustainable transport which as set out in the HCC Toolkit would 
be £9,861 per dwelling. Based on 14 units this comes to £138,054 (index linked to March 
2024). It is noted that the highway authority have not provided specific projects that this 
contribution would go towards, which is not compliant with The Community Infrastructure 
Levy Regulations (2010) s122, and no response to officers further request for 
information. Nevertheless, Officers predict that there would be a range of projects for the 
site to contribute toward given the Strand 2 projects listed for the larger Highover Farm 
site, however the larger site is due to contribute approximately £3.4m in financial 
contributions (and indexed linked). This will be considered in the ‘viability and planning 
obligations’ section of the report below.  
 Page 87



 

 

H. It is noted that the internal layout of the site can only support visibility splays for a 10mph 
internal speed limit. The cobbled rumble strip on entering and leaving the site acts as a 
gateway feature, together with the 90-degree turn into the site promotes a character 
where traffic needs to slow down and considered by the HA to act as a traffic calming 
measure. The HA considers that there is scope for detailed highway requirements to be 
delivered, however a Road Safety Audit Stage 1 will need to be the subject of a condition.  
 

I. It is noted that from the end of Highover Way the land is privately owned. The new access 
therefore will not be adopted. However, as waste lorries will be accessing the site, and 
the proposed mono-block surfacing, the internal road needs to be constructed to adopted 
standards in order to accommodate heavy vehicles and not cause damage to the road 
surface.  
 

J. The HA comments on parking provision. Officers agree that the shortfall in one visitor 
parking space would not create a highway safety concern. The reduction of one space 
was considered alongside other planning matters. Otherwise, there is a range of 
provision for two parking spaces for each unit that meet the size requirements, arranged 
logically for each unit. There will be some car port provision, otherwise parking spaces 
are not covered. The applicant has indicated locations for electric vehicle charging points 
for each new dwellings, which is in accordance with the regulations. Cycle parking is 
provided for each unit in individual outbuildings and some within the communal 
outbuilding. Each unit will also have short term visitor cycle parking close to front doors 
using an unobtrusive floor bolt. Other visitor parking is provided in communal area using 
Sheffield stands.  
 

K. Regarding construction of the site, it is inevitable that there will be some disruption to the 
highway network and inconvenience to local residents as a result of construction 
activities, in particular the construction traffic using what is at present a quiet no-through 
road of Highover Way. The site benefits from an existing mature landscaped boundary 
to help contain construction noise and dust. The construction phase is temporary and 
will be controlled by a Construction Method Statement secured by condition.  
 

L. The proposal will result in some highway harm in terms of an increase in trip generation, 
but which will be mitigated by physical works. The proposals are therefore in accordance 
with the NPPF and NHLP Policy T1. The harm weighs as neutral in the planning balance. 
 

5.8 Flood risk and drainage 
 

A. National policy on issues relating to flooding is set out int the NPPF at para. 170-182. 
This emphasises the importance of considering the potential for flooding for new 
developments particularly in areas identified as high risk. It also requires the 
considerations of including sustainable drainage solutions where necessary and 
appropriate.  
 

B. NHLP Policy NE7 on Reducing Flood Risk sets out that a Flood Risk Assessment is 
prepared to support applications for planning permission in accordance with national 
guidelines, and that development takes account of reducing flood risk, does not increase 
flood risk elsewhere, minimise residual flood risk, sensitively designed flood prevention 
and mitigation where applicable, and protection of overland flow routes and functional 
floodplain.  
 

C. The application is accompanied by a Foul and Surface Water Design Statement 
prepared by consultants EAS (August 2025). This considered the risk to flooding from 
surface water. The site has some existing concrete hardstanding around the barns but 
is primarily ‘laid to rough landscape and hardcore’. The site is located within flood zone Page 88



 

 

1, signalling the site has the lowest probability of fluvial flooding. This application seeks 
full planning permission for 14 units and includes new hardstanding of which the majority 
would be permeable block paving, some landscaped areas and some impermeable 
footpath surfaces. The submitted design statement includes provision for surface water 
run off being discharged directly into the ground, as well as soakaways using granular 
hoggin material and ‘permafilter geotextile’ for catching contaminants.  
 

D. The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) has assessed the submitted information and now 
raises no objection, with concern previously on the existing buildings intersected with 
flood levels alongside the increase of vulnerability of the site due to the change of use. 
The FRA was updated to include further resilience and resistance measures on site. The 
LLFA confirmed that their concerns had been addressed to some degree and 
recommends a series of conditions to deal with detail on the SUDS management and 
maintenance scheme, details of flood resilient and resistance measures, and a survey 
and verification report.  
 

E. To conclude, there is no objection from the LLFA subject to conditions, and so the 
proposals are therefore in accordance with the NPPF and NHLP Policy NE7. This is 
neutral in the planning balance.  

 
5.9 Ecological, trees and landscaping considerations 

 
A. Chapter 15 of the NPPF requires decisions to contribute to and enhance the natural 

environment. NHLP policies SP1, SP12, NE4, NE6 and NE8 seek to protect, enhance 
and manage the natural environment. This application was submitted after the BNG 
requirements came into effect in February 2024.  
 

B. The application is supported by an Ecological Appraisal (dated). It is acknowledged that 
this site was principally characterised by intensively managed arable land. Other habitats 
identified include the plantation of broadleaved woodland, neutral semi-improved 
grassland, tall ruderal vegetation, amenity grassland and some hardstanding. By way of 
a summary, there was found to be low to moderate potential for bats in some trees 
around the application site, but no current presence of roosting bats. An outlier badger 
sett is also identified within the site. There will be impact on nesting and foraging birds 
of the arable land, which can be mitigated against by providing scrub and avoiding 
disturbance during nesting seasons. The presence of great crested newts is highly 
unlikely.  

 
C. Here is a summary of the county ecologist comments: 

 

• A ‘bat mitigation class license’ will be required from Natural England for the proposed 
works as it will result in the loss of three bat roosts across the site.  

• There is evidence of a barn owl roosting in one barn, although was not present 
during a site visit. Bird and bat boxes should be secured by condition.  

• It is noted that surveys have confirmed reptiles are not present on site and there will 
be a negligible effect on great created newts.  

• The proposed BNG onsite is considered to be ‘significant’ enhancement, which 
should be secured by condition including a Landscape and Ecological Management 
Plan (LEMP). The net gain of 11.14% comprising an on-site uplift of 0.52 habitat 
units shows that there is ‘reasonable confidence’ that the biodiversity obligations can 
be discharged.  

 
D. There is a Tree Preservation Order within the site. TPO/057 includes the following:  

• G1 – comprising three lime and a horse chestnut and are to be retained 

Page 89



 

 

• G2 – comprising two horse chestnut of which one retained, and one to be removed 
and replaced with a mature lime tree as agreed with the applicant 

• T3 – to be retained. The new build unit 14 will create a 9% incursion into its RPA 

• G4 – to be retained, comprising a group of three lime trees 

• G5 – to be retained, comprising a walnut and a beech tree to the rear of 80 and 82 
Highover Way. The extension to unit 12 will incur about 5% into the RPA 

• T5 – Holly to be retained close to the boundary with 8 Armour Rise 
 

E. Most of the trees are category B or C, which are worth retaining. The site and its trees 
have not been managed in recent years. There are other trees of a similar quality within 
the site that will also be retained. The proposals include the removal of a horse chestnut 
which is rated category C tree and located very close to existing buildings. The applicants 
arboriculturist proposed to remove it and we have agreed that it will be replaced instead 
slightly further away from the building. This tree will remain part of the TPO, and its 
replacement will be secured by condition. It is noted information has been submitted for 
the protection of trees however a condition is recommended to ensure the proper 
assessment of the protection of existing trees on site during construction.  
 

F. Regarding landscaping, there are pockets of greenspace around the site, including two 
good sized areas provided for BNG. There will also be amenity gardens for all properties, 
some are significant in size and provide for the trees that are currently protected within 
the site. Within the central farmyard there will be smaller area of green space and 
landscaping; the aim in pre-application discussions was to retain the yard as an open 
space to appreciate the former farmyard character, and so much of this space will 
provide for car parking, cycle parking, bin storage and low-level landscaping. While the 
principle of the soft landscaping plans is acceptable more detail is needed on the type of 
planting proposed and where; and in turn this needs to be assessed by a landscape 
professional. In particular, planting will be needed along the estate fencing shown to the 
rear of the Threshing Barn and units 5-8 facing onto the larger Highover Farm site. Estate 
fencing is proposed to retain the openness of this greenspace, setting of the listed 
building and character and appearance of the farmyard complex, but these areas will 
form the amenity space for these units and so an element of landscaping should be 
included in order to protect the amenities of those residents.  
 

G. The proposals are in accordance with the NPPF and NHLP Policies NE4, NE6 and NE8. 
It is considered that given the proposed biodiversity net gain on site, together with the 
on-site enhancement with bird and bat boxes to replace habitat that is lost, and that 
landscaping is suitable subject to conditions. The overall impact of this proposal for 
ecology and landscaping is neutral in the planning balance.  
 

5.10 Sustainability 
 

A. Section 2 of the NPPF requires the sustainability credentials of development proposals 
to be considered. Paragraph 8 sets out the three strands of economic, social and 
environmental, and in particular in point c) ‘using natural resource prudently, minimising 
waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to 
a low carbon economy’.  
 

B. The Council declared a Climate Emergency in 2019 which pledged to do everything in 
the Council’s power to achieve zero carbon emissions in North Hertfordshire by 2030. 
The Council adopted a Climate Change Strategy to promote carbon neutral policies. 
NHLP Policy D1 sets out criteria on sustainable design of proposals, which includes the 
need to reduce energy consumption and waste, improve water efficiency and future proof 
for changing in technology and lifestyle. Policy SP9 also on design seeks the inclusion 
of a broad range of sustainability measures in developments. Policy NE12 on renewable Page 90



 

 

and low carbon energy development supports the principle of renewable energy subject 
to the assessment of impacts. The Sustainability SPD sets out an approach for assessing 
the compliance level of measures proposed. Measures can be categorised as bronze, 
silver and gold, where bronze is the basic level of compliance with building regulations, 
and gold is highest standard thinking about Future Homes standards, BREEAM, 
Passivehaus and LETI.  
 

C. A range of sustainability measures have been assessed by the applicant’s consultants 
in their Sustainability Statement prepared by AP Consulting Engineers (dated May 2025). 
The statement has assessed the proposals based on development as part conversion of 
existing buildings (twelve units) and part new build (two units) using the Be Lean, Be 
Clean, Be Green model. Unfortunately, the Statement does not acknowledge the 
Council’s specific local policy or Sustainability SPD and therefore needs to be updated 
to structure the energy and sustainability proposals in line with the structure of that 
document.  
 

D. Here are some general comments on the Themes set out in the Sustainability SPD: 
 

Theme 1: Optimising passive design and fabric performance – The Statement does 
not expressly consider passive design, although it is acknowledged that much of the 
proposal relates to the conversion of existing building. It is clear that the proposed fabric 
used for the conversions has been considered though regarding thermal fabric 
performance. The last table on page 3 states that there could be a 2.88% improvement 
on fabric efficiency compared to Building Regulations 2021 on the new building and 4% 
on the conversions, which would score as bronze compared to the SPD. The EPC rating 
would be C across the site, also scoring bronze. These are welcomed aspirations and to 
be secured by condition.  
 
Theme 2: Achieving low-carbon energy – The development will seek to deliver a range 
of low-carbon energy generation solutions including solar panels and air source heat 
pumps. This has the potential to reach a higher than bronze category for residential 
development, demonstrating that 75% or 100% of dwellings energy demand is supplied 
from on-side renewable energy. This is not clear in the current statement and silver as a 
minimum should be pushed for in an updated Statement secured by condition given the 
feasible use of solar PV panels and ASHP. These are welcomed aspirations but not 
confirmed or secured improvements. As solar PS has limited application on the existing 
barns due to heritage considerations, ASHP have more scope to be sensitively located 
and designed. New build element should include both PV and ASHP. Details will be 
required through an updated Statement subject of a pre-commencement condition.  
 
Theme 3: Minimising carbon footprint – There is no whole life carbon assessment in 
the submitted Statement and should be reflected in an updated Statement secured by 
condition. This will be secured by condition.  
 
Theme 4: Healthy placemaking – There is no assessment of this in the submitted 
Statement and should be reflected in an updated Statement. Due to the scale of the site, 
there is probably limited opportunity for healthy placemaking to be included. However, 
some assessment of the wider placemaking elements and how it links to the Highover 
Farm scheme and existing built-up area would be useful and secured by condition.  
 
 
Theme 5: Promoting biodiversity – As confirmed in the ecology section of this report, 
the application is supported by necessary surveys and overall will result in a biodiversity 
net gain over 10%. This theme has the potential to reach the silver level in the SPD. This 
is covered by separate conditions.  Page 91



 

 

 
Theme 6: Sustainable travel – As described in the highways section of this report, the 
proposals include integration of the wider foot and cycle path network into the structure 
of the site, and provision for cycle parking across the site. EV chargers are now required 
for all residential properties. Due to the scale of the site, there is limited scope for this to 
be included. However, some assessment of the wider placemaking elements and how it 
links to the Highover Farm scheme and existing built-up area would be useful and 
secured by condition. 
 
Theme 7: Conserving water – The Statement in its current form supports reduced water 
use at 107 litres per person per day, which is supported and would be better than bronze 
level, but not reduced enough to reach Silver. There is scope for other water saving 
measures such as grey water recycling and / or water butts, which should be considered 
in the updated Statement.  
 
Theme 8: Incorporating sustainable drainage – As set out in the flood risk and 
drainage section of this report the proposals include several drainage features to deal 
with surface water. This category meets the bronze level.  
 
Theme 9: Historic Buildings – No details appear to have been provided in relation to 
this Theme. See SPD for information and guidance for measures that could be 
considered. Other similar schemes relation to the conversion of historic buildings to 
residential in the district have comprised – additional insulation to walls, roof areas and 
floors; refurbished windows; improved draught proofing to doors; capping and ventilation 
of chimneys; under-floor heating system; energy efficient lighting and; improved 
ventilation measures. This should be considered in the updated Statement. 

 
E. The proposal has the potential to exceed existing minimum standards over a few of these 

themes as set out in the Sustainability SPD. Where standards are met at a broadly 
bronze level, this would weigh as neutral in the planning balance. The details of how the 
development will deliver specific levels across all the themes will need to be confirmed 
via the submission of detailed, correctly reference and updated Energy and Sustainability 
Statement secured by condition. The updated Statement should focus on addressing 
comments made above.  

 
5.11 Environmental health considerations  

 
A. Regarding noise, no information has been submitted with the application, and the 

Environmental Health Officer raises no objection subject to a condition requiring details 
to be submitted on how to control noise and dust during construction in a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan.  
 

B. In relation to contaminated land, there is also no information submitted with the 
application and the Environmental Health Officer raises no objection subject to a 
condition requiring appropriate level of investigation, scheme of remediation if required, 
and a validation report, given the site former use as a farmyard.  
 

C. The Environmental Health Officer raises no objection to the scheme in terms of impact 
on air quality, due to the minor character of the development. It is noted that Electric 
Vehicle Charge Points are included in the plans, which is also a building regulation. There 
will be a condition, as recommended by the Highway Authority on their retention once 
installed.  
 

Page 92



 

 

D. Having assessed the submitted information, the Council’s Environmental Health Officer 
has not raised any objections subject to conditions. These matters on environmental 
health are neutral in the planning balance.  
 

5.12 Viability and planning obligations 
 
5.12.1 In considering planning obligations in relation to this development NPPF para. 57 advises 

that: ‘Planning obligations should only be sought where they meet all of the following 
tests:  

• necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;  

• directly related to the development; and  

• fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.‘ 
 
5.12.2 This is reflected in the CIL Regulations. NHLP Policy SP7 sets out infrastructure 

requirements and developer contributions that are ‘necessary in order to accommodate 
additional demands resulting from the development’. This policy reflects the NPPF 
principles set out above. It also cites the recently adopted Development Contributions 
SPD 2023 and the update to Development Contributions adopted by the County Council.  

 
5.12.3 The applicant has submitted a viability appraisal to accompany the planning application, 

which has been independently tested by Dixon Searle Partnership (DSP) over the course 
of several months. The position taken on various matters such as build costs and profit 
levels varies between the applicant’s assumptions and estimates proposed by DSP. 
Between all these assumptions, the appraisal indicates that a range of financial 
contributions could be supported.  

 
5.12.4 The HCC Growth and Infrastructure team has requested contributions of £196,461 

toward education, SEND, library, youth and fire and rescue services, and waste recycling 
and transfer stations, plus a monitoring fee. The highway authority also requests 
£138,054 toward active and sustainable travel, although without expressly identifying 
projects.  

 
5.12.5 There have been no requests from the district council services, except for the provision 

of affordable housing. NHLP Policy HS2 the site with 14 units should provide 25% 
affordable housing, of which 65% should be social tenure and 35% should be 
intermediate tenures. However the site is within the HT1 site allocation, which calls for 
provision of 40% affordable housing. The applicant argues that providing onsite 
affordable housing would not be appropriate in this setting, where the majority of the 
buildings would be conversions. The applicant states that it is unlikely that a registered 
provider would be willing to take on units in a bespoke setting, and also that the inclusion 
of affordable homes would impact on the sales values of market units, although this is a 
possibility the applicant has not provided evidence for the level of impact stated.  

 
5.12.6 The Housing Strategy team at the Council state that if a commuted sum is accepted, it 

should be calculated in accordance with the Developer Contributions SPD para. 5.2.25. 
This is also on the basis that the applicant cannot provide off-site provision. The applicant 
is a developer, rather than a landowner and so off-site provision is not feasible. The 
equivalent provision of 25% on this scheme would be a third of the total units on site for 
the commuted sum. The Housing Officer proposes a commuted sum, in accordance with 
the Developer Contributions SPD to be £568,260. This has been reassessed by DSP 
who have stated, with taking into account the GIU contributions and other assumptions, 
there would be £493,373 remaining to go towards off-site affordable housing in the form 
of a commuted sum. This is agreed with the applicant.  

 

Page 93



 

 

5.12.7 Based on a pragmatic approach to ensure housing delivery, the conclusion of Officers is 
that, with financial contribution toward HCC GIU services as well as a commuted sum 
toward affordable housing, the scheme would be viable. In this instance, Officers are 
recommending that the highway contribution is not sought from the developer in this 
case. Given the relatively small contribution requested from this site compared to the 
larger site, its close spatial relationship, and the provision in the recommended 
conditions for a ‘pedestrian audit’, the priority due to the viability issues on site should be 
given to the financial contribution toward affordable housing.  

 
5.12.8 The applicant agrees to pay those contributions and Officers are confident that this is 

achievable, whilst maximising the developers’ contributions toward planning obligations 
in accordance with the NPPF, NHLP Policies SP7 and HS2, and the Developer 
Contributions SPD. The contribution toward affordable housing and other planning 
obligations weighs very significantly in favour of the scheme.  

 
5.12.9 The agreed heads of terms for a S106 legal agreement are as follows: 
 

Element Detail Justification 

Affordable housing Commuted sum of £493,373 toward 
the off-site provision of affordable 
housing (indexed linked to January 
2023) 

NHDC Developer 
Contributions 
Supplementary 
Planning Document 
(SPD) 2023 
 
NHLP Policy HS2 
Affordable Housing 
 

Secondary 
Education (HCC) 

Towards the expansion of The Priory 
Secondary School and/or provision 
serving the development (£154,230 
index linked to BCIS 1Q2024) 

Policy SP7 
Infrastructure 
requirements and 
developer 
contributions 
 
Developer 
Contributions SPD  
 
HCC ‘Guide to 
Developer 
Infrastructure 
Contributions’ 2022 
 

Childcare Services 
(HCC) 

Towards increasing the capacity of 0-2 
year old childcare facilities at Highover 
Farm Primary School and/or provision 
serving the development (£831 index 
linked to BCIS 1Q2024) 
 
Towards increasing the capacity of 5-
11 year old childcare facilities at 
Highover Farm Primary School and/or 
provision serving the development 
(£169 index linked to BCIS 1Q2024) 
 

As above 

Special Educational 
Needs and 

Towards new Severe Learning 
Difficulty (SLD) special school places 

As above 

Page 94



 

 

Disabilities (SEND) 
(HCC) 

(EAST) and/or provision serving the 
development (£27,285 index linked to 
BCIS 1Q2024) 
 

Library Services 
(HCC) 

Towards increasing the capacity of 
Hitchin Library and/or provision serving 
the development (£3,827 index linked 
to BCIS 1Q2024) 
 

As above 

Youth Services 
(HCC) 

Towards the delivery of youth work 
with young people in the area and/or 
provision serving the development 
(£2,291 index linked to BCIS 1Q2024) 
 

As above 

Waste Service 
Recycling Centre 
(HCC) 

Towards increasing capacity at 
Letchworth Recycling Centre or a new 
recycling centre in Baldock and/or 
provision serving the development 
(£2,740 index linked to BCIS 1Q2024)  

As above 

Waste Service 
Transfer Station 
(HCC) 

Towards the new Northern Transfer 
Station and/or provision serving the 
development (£3,832 index linked to 
BCIS 1Q2024) 
 

As above 

Fire and Rescue 
Service (HCC) 

Towards expansion of Baldock fire 
station and/or provision serving the 
development (£1,256 index linked to 
BCIS 1Q2024) 
 

As above 

Monitoring fee to 
HCC 

These will be based on the number of 
triggers within each legal agreement 
with each distinct trigger point 
attracting a charge of £420 (adjusted 
for inflation against RPI January 2024). 
For further information on monitoring 
fees please see section 5.5 of the 
Guide to Developer Infrastructure 
Contributions.  

As above 

 
6 Planning Balance 
 
6.12 This site at Highover Farmyard was allocated for housing as part of site allocation HT1 

under NHLP Policy SP17 for housing. This site was excluded from the masterplan 
subject to the outline application for up to 700 homes and other development under 
18/01154/OP due to the statutory listing of the Threshing Barn. This proposal is for 14 
units. Notwithstanding the site allocation, as identified in the foregoing section of this 
report, the tilted balance applies due to the housing land supply position the council is in 
at this time. 
 

6.13 Before addressing the overall planning balance in line with the NPPF, the heritage 
balance should be considered first, which also falls within the planning balance of any 
other harm. The NPPF confirms that heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource and 
that they should be conserved in a matter appropriate to their significance. As identified 
in this report, the proposals would result in both benefits and harms to the heritage asset. 
The harms identified means that the proposal would result in ‘less than substantial harm’ Page 95



 

 

(at the low end of the spectrum) to the significance of the designated heritage asset (the 
listed Threshing Barn).  
 

6.14 This harm should then be weighed against the public benefits. The public benefits that 
would be delivered as part of the proposals would comprise the reuse of the listed 
building and surrounding buildings which are in a state of disrepair, as well as the 
provision of much needed market and affordable housing in the district. Accordingly, he 
NPPF does not provide a clear reason for refusing the development proposed in relation 
to the heritage balance. 
 

6.15 The following table summarises this matters that weigh in favour and against the 
proposal: 

 

Issue Effect Weight 

Delivery of 14 market homes  Benefit* Significant 

Financial contribution toward affordable 
housing 

Benefit* Very significant 

   

Impact on heritage assets Harm* (low level of less 
than substantial) 

Great 

Financial contribution towards highways Harm Limited  

   

Compliance of the HT1 masterplan Neutral* None 

Well-designed scheme Neutral* None 

Impact on trees and landscaping Neutral* None 

Impact on ecology Neutral* None 

Residential amenity Neutral None 

Highways and traffic Neutral* None 

Flood risk and drainage Neutral* None 

Archaeology Neutral* None 

Environmental health Neutral* None 

Sustainability credentials Neutral* None 
Financial contribution towards services Neutral* None 

 
Table 1: Planning Balance Summary (*conditions and obligations recommended) 

7 Overall Assessment 
 
7.12.1 This is part of an allocated housing site in the adopted Local Plan, and it will contribute 

to the housing land supply. As the Council is currently unable to demonstrate a 5-year 
housing land supply, the tilted balance of paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF 2024 is engaged. 
The several collective benefits of the development, including the delivery of market 
housing and the financial contribution toward delivery of affordable housing are 
described as significant and very significant. There are adverse effects identified 
regarding the impact on heritage assets, which weigh ‘limited’ against the proposal, as 
set out in the table above.  

 
7.12.2 Overall, this limited adverse impact of granting planning permission for this proposed 

development would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the more abundant 
benefits of delivering housing, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF 2024 
taken as a whole. The proposed development therefore benefits from the presumption 
in favour of sustainable development which is a material consideration.  

 

Page 96



 

 

7.12.3 The proposal would accord with the development plan as a whole and other material 
consideration do no indicate otherwise. Accordingly, it is recommended that planning 
permission be granted for this full application.  

 
8 Alternative options 
 
8.12 No alternative options applicable.  
 
9 Pre-commencement conditions 

 
9.12 I can confirm that the applicant is in agreement with the pre-commencement conditions 

that are proposed.  
 
10 Legal Implications 

 
10.12 In making decisions on applications submitted under the Town and Country Planning 

legislation, the Council is required to have regard to the provisions of the development 
plan and to any other material considerations. The decision must be in accordance with 
the plan unless the material considerations indicate otherwise. Where the decision is to 
refuse or restrictive conditions are attached, the applicant has a right of appeal against 
the decision.  
 

11 Recommendation 
 
11.12 That full planning permission is resolved to the GRANTED subject to the following: 
 

• The completion of a satisfactory legal agreement; 
 

• The applicant agreeing to extend the statutory period in order to complete the 
agreement as required; 
 

• Providing delegated powers to the Development and Conservation Manager to 
update conditions and informatives with minor amendments as required; and 
 

• Conditions as set out below:  
 
1. Time limit 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years from the 
date of this permission. 
 
Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  
 
2. Approved plans 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out wholly in accordance with the details 
specified in the application and supporting approved documents and plans listed above. 

 
Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with details which form the 
basis of this grant of permission. 
 
3. Detailed soft landscaping scheme and tree replacement 
Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted full details of a comprehensive 
soft landscaping scheme (including planting details) shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved soft landscaping / planting details shall 
be carried out before the end of the first planting season following either the occupation of the Page 97



 

 

(first) dwelling or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; and any trees or 
plants which, within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development, die, are 
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased, shall be replaced during the next planting 
season with others of similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority agrees in 
writing to vary or dispense with this requirement.  
 
Included in the submitted details, following the felling hereby permitted removal of Horse 
Chestnut 1077 being carried out, a replacement extra heavy standard Lime tree with a stem 
girth of 18 to 20cm and standing at approximately 4 to 5 metres in height, shall be planted 
within the same vicinity of the removed tree. The replacement tree planting shall be carried out 
in the first full planting season following the felling. Any trees which within a period of 5 years 
from planting die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in 
the next planting season with another of a similar size and species. For the purpose of this 
requirement, the planting season shall mean the period from November – February.  
 
Reason: To ensure the development is comprehensively landscaped in the interests of visual 
amenity. Local Plan Policies D1 and N2. 
 
4. Tree protection 
No works or development including demolition shall take place before a scheme for the 
protection of the existing trees (other than those the removal of which has been granted 
express permission in writing by the Local Planning Authority) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such a scheme will comply with the 
provisions of BS5837 (“Trees in relation to construction – 1990”) and BS 3998 
(“Recommendations for tree works – 1989”). The approved scheme for the protection of the 
existing trees shall be implemented BEFORE DEVELOPMENT COMMENCES and be 
maintained in full until the development has been completed 
 
Reason: To ensure protection during construction works of trees, hedges and hedgerows 
which are to be retained on or near the site in order to ensure that the character and amenity 
of the area are not impaired in accordance with the NPPF and North Hertfordshire Local Plan 
Policies NE4.  
 
5. Detailed hard landscaping scheme 
Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted full details of a comprehensive 
hard landscaping scheme including materials shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. Prior to first occupation or use of the development the hard 
standing shall be installed as approved and shall thereafter be permanently retained and 
maintained. Reason: To ensure the development is comprehensively landscaped in the 
interests of visual amenity. Local Plan Policies D1 and N2. 
 
Reason: To ensure satisfactory landscape treatment of the site in accordance with the NPPF 
and North Hertfordshire Local Plan Policy NE4.  
 
6. Ecology – Installation of Bat and Bird Boxes 
Prior to the first occupation of the development, details of the number, design and exact 
locations of the ecological enhancement features recommended within the ecological 
reports—including a minimum of two integrated bat boxes, one multi-chamber bat box, one 
Barn Owl box, and a minimum of two integrated universal swift boxes—shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved measures shall be 
installed prior to occupation and retained thereafter for the lifetime of the development. 
 
To ensure development is ecologically sensitive and secures biodiversity enhancements in 
accordance with the North Herts Local Plan policy NE4. 
 Page 98



 

 

 
7. Landscape and Ecology Management Plan (LEMP) 
No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works or vegetation clearance) 
until a Landscape and Ecology Management Plan (LEMP) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This should include the establishment of 
wildflower grassland (other neutral grassland), new native tree planting, as detailed in the 
Statutory Biodiversity Metric (Completion Date 24 June 2025). 
 
Reason: To ensure the submitted details are sufficiently comprehensive to enable proper 
consideration to be given to the appearance of the completed development and to comply with 
Policy NE2 of the North Hertfordshire Local Plan 2011 to 2031. 
 
8. Details of boundary treatment 
No development above ground level shall take place before details including materials of all 
walls (including any retaining walls), fences, gates or other means of enclosure to be erected 
in or around the development have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. Prior to first occupation or use of the development the walls (including any 
retaining walls), fences, gates or other means of enclosure shall be erected as approved and 
shall thereafter be permanently retained and maintained.   
 
Reason: To ensure that the finished appearance of the development will enhance the 
character and visual amenities of the area, and to satisfactorily protect the residential 
amenities of nearby residents and future residents of the development. To comply with 
Policies D1 and D3 of the North Hertfordshire Local Plan.  
 
9. Conservation – slate removal  
As agreed by the case officer by email on 29 July 2025 the existing slates shall be temporarily 
removed and stored securely on site ready for reuse. The roofs shall be temporarily covered 
with battened down tarpaulin for the brick-built buildings and battened down felt for the 
farmhouse. For the Threshing Barn and timber framed building (known as the ‘corner 
grouping’, as agreed by the case officer by email on 10 September 2025 the existing slates 
shall be temporarily removed and stored securely on site ready for reuse. The roofs shall be 
temporarily covered with battened down plastic sheets and tarpaulin. As part of the conversion 
works and prior to occupation the temporary roof coverings shall be replaced with either 
salvaged or new natural slate.  

 
Reason: To ensure that the buildings are kept weather and watertight to ensure special regard 
is paid to protecting the special architectural and historic interest and integrity of this grouping 
at Highover Farm under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 and Policy HE1 of the Local Plan. 
 
10. Conservation – natural slate 
The roofs of all buildings shall be recovered with natural slate unless otherwise agreed and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. A sample of the slate shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the roofs being covered. The 
roofs thereafter shall be built in accordance with the approved slate sample.  
 
Reason: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and 
historic interest and integrity of this grouping at Highover Farm under Section 66 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and Policy HE1 of the Local 
Plan. 
 
11. Conservation – steelwork details 

Page 99



 

 

Details of any steelwork interventions to the barn forming Unit 2 shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of any steel 
work. Thereafter the steel work shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved details.  

 
Reason: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and 
historic interest and integrity of this grouping at Highover Farm under Section 66 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and Policy HE1 of the Local 
Plan. 
 
12. Conservation – unit 2 gable 
Details of the method of constructing the south-west facing projecting gable to Unit 2 
(Elevation 6 of drawing no. 2208.PL.08B) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the construction of this gable. 
Thereafter the gable shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved details.  

 
Reason: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and 
historic interest and integrity of this grouping at Highover Farm under Section 66 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and Policy HE1 of the Local 
Plan. 
 
13. Conservation – insultation details 
Section details of all roof and wall insulation work for units 1, 2, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9 and 10 shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
commencement of the insulation works. Thereafter this work shall be undertaken in 
accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and 
historic interest and integrity of this grouping at Highover Farm under Section 66 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and Policy HE1 of the Local 
Plan. 
 
14. Conservation – facing brickwork 
A sample panel(s) of the facing brickwork for: 

i) North wall of Unit 1, 
ii) Units 9 and 10,  
iii) Units 11 & 12, and 
iv) Units 13 & 14  

shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
plinths being constructed. Thereafter these areas of brickwork shall be built in accordance with 
the approved sample panel(s).  

 
Reason: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and 
historic interest and integrity of this grouping at Highover Farm under Section 66 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and Policy HE1 of the Local 
Plan. 
 
15. Conservation – arches over windows 
The arches over window and door openings in Units 13 and 14 shall be brick-faced unless 
otherwise agreed and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and 
historic interest and integrity of this grouping at Highover Farm under Section 66 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and Policy HE1 of the Local 
Plan. 
 Page 100



 

 

16. Conservation – timber windows 
All new windows and doors shall be manufactured in timber unless otherwise agreed and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and 
historic interest and integrity of this grouping at Highover Farm under Section 66 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and Policy HE1 of the Local 
Plan. 
 
17. Conservation – sash windows 
Section details of all new vertical sliding sash windows to be installed at the farmhouse shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to their 
manufacture. Thereafter, the windows shall be installed in accordance with the approved 
window section details. 
 
Reason: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and 
historic interest and integrity of this grouping at Highover Farm under Section 66 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and Policy HE1 of the Local 
Plan. 
 
18. Conservation – casement windows 
Where new windows are indicated to be side hung casements, these shall be flush casements 
unless otherwise agreed and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and 
historic interest and integrity of this grouping at Highover Farm under Section 66 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and Policy HE1 of the Local 
Plan. 
 
19. Conservation – sliding screens 
The vertical-boarded sliding screens to the front elevations of Units 6, 7 and 8 shall be 
installed prior to the occupation of these units unless otherwise agreed and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and 
historic interest and integrity of this grouping at Highover Farm under Section 66 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and Policy HE1 of the Local 
Plan. 
 
20. Conservation – rainwater goods 
All new rainwater goods shall be black metal or cast-iron effect, details of which shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the rainwater 
goods shall be installed in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and 
historic interest and integrity of this grouping at Highover Farm under Section 66 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and Policy HE1 of the Local 
Plan.  
 
21. Removal of Permitted Development Rights Classes, AA and E 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 as amended no development as set out in Classes AA and E of 
Part 1 (and any further new class that may be introduced by way of an update) of Schedule 2 
to the Order, (or any subsequent Statutory Instrument which revokes, amends and/or replaces 

Page 101



 

 

those provisions) shall be carried out without first obtaining a specific planning permission from 
the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: Given the nature of this development, the Local Planning Authority considers that 
development which would normally be "permitted development" relating to increasing the 
height of dwellings through the provision of additional storeys and construction of outbuildings 
should be retained within planning control in the interests of the character and amenities of the 
area and to comply with Policies D1 and D3 of the North Hertfordshire Local Plan 2011 to 
2031. 
 
22. Highways – pedestrian audit 
No development shall commence until a detailed pedestrian audit to identify where potential 
improvements could be made to the walking, cycling or public transport network to mitigate the 
developments impact and encourage use of more sustainable modes of transport is submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with the Highway 
Authority. These works shall be constructed to the specification of the Highway Authority and 
Local Planning Authority's satisfaction and completed before occupation of the development. 
 
Reason: To ensure that sustainable travel options associated with the development are 
promoted and maximised to be in accordance with Policies 3, 5, 7, 8, 9 and 10 of 
Hertfordshire's Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018). 
 
23. Highways – road safety audit  
Before commencement of the development, a Stage 1 Road Safety Audit (RSA) for the vehicle 
access proposals, with particular attention to pedestrian routes and safety, shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Highway 
Authority. Thereafter the recommendations, if any, shall only be carried out in accordance with 
the report.  
 
Reason: To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and in the interests of highway 
safety in accordance with Policy 5 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan 4 (adopted 2018). 
 
24. Highways – detailed plans 
No development shall commence until detailed technical plans are submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with the Highway Authority, which 
show the detailed engineering designs and construction of the vehicle access and associated 
highway works identified in the RSA1 and pedestrian audit. These works shall be constructed 
to the specification of the Highway Authority and Local Planning Authority's satisfaction and 
completed before commencement of work of the development. 
 
Reason: To ensure the provision of a vehicle access which is safe, suitable, and sustainable 
for all highway users. 
 
25. Archaeology – part 1 
No demolition/development shall take place/commence until an Archaeological Written 
Scheme of Investigation has been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority in 
writing. The scheme shall include an assessment of archaeological significance and research 
questions; and:  
1. The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording  
2. The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording as required by the 
evaluation  
3. The programme for post investigation assessment www.hertfordshire.gov.uk  
4. Provision to be made for analysis of the site investigation and recording  
5. Provision to be made for publication and dissemination of the analysis and records of the 
site investigation  Page 102

http://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/


 

 

6. Provision to be made for archive deposition of the analysis and records of the site 
investigation  
7. Nomination of a competent person or persons/organisation to undertake the works set out 
within the Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation.  
 
Reason: To ensure the implementation of an appropriate archaeological investigation, 
recording, reporting and publication, and the protection and preservation of archaeological 
features of significance, in accordance with North |Hertfordshire Local Plan Policy HE4 and the 
NPPF 2024.  
 
26. Archaeology – part 2 
The demolition/development shall take place/commence in accordance with the programme of 
archaeological works set out in the Written Scheme of Investigation approved under condition 
(ref. condition Archaeology – part 1). 
 
Reason: To ensure the implementation of an appropriate archaeological investigation, 
recording, reporting and publication, and the protection and preservation of archaeological 
features of significance, in accordance with North |Hertfordshire Local Plan Policy HE4 and the 
NPPF 2024.  
 
27. Archaeology – part 3 
The development shall not be occupied/used until the site investigation and post investigation 
assessment has been completed in accordance with the programme set out in the Written 
Scheme of Investigation approved under condition (A) and the provision made for analysis and 
publication where appropriate 
 
Reason: To ensure the implementation of an appropriate archaeological investigation, 
recording, reporting and publication, and the protection and preservation of archaeological 
features of significance, in accordance with North |Hertfordshire Local Plan Policy HE4 and the 
NPPF 2024.  
 
28. Highways – vehicular access 
Prior to the first occupation/use of the development hereby permitted the vehicular access 
shall be installed in accordance with the approved detailed technical plans and thereafter 
retained and maintained at all times at the position shown. Arrangement shall be made for 
surface water drainage to be intercepted and disposed of separately so that it does not 
discharge from or onto the highway carriageway. 
 
Reason: To ensure satisfactory access into the site and avoid carriage of extraneous material 
or surface water from or onto the highway in accordance with Policy 5 of Hertfordshire’s Local 
Transport Plan (adopted 2018). 
 
29. Highways – public highway 
Prior to the first occupation/use of the development hereby permitted, the measures on the 
public highway shall be installed in accordance with the approved details prior to occupation of 
the development. 
 
Reason: To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and to promote sustainable 
development in accordance with Policies 5, 19 and 20 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan 
(adopted 2018). The cycle parking shall be constructed and laid out in accordance with the 
approved plans, agreed details and completed prior to occupation of the development hereby 
approved and shall thereafter be retained and maintained. 
 
30. Electric Vehicle Charging Points 

Page 103



 

 

The Electric Vehicle Charging Points and associated infrastructure details forming part of the 
planning application submission and indicated on the approved plans shall be implemented 
and brought into operation prior to the occupation of any residential unit hereby approved or 
any commercial use hereby approved commencing. Thereafter the Electric Vehicle Charging 
Points shall be permanently retained available for use at all times. 
 
Reason: To contribute to the objective of providing a sustainable transport network  
and to provide the necessary infrastructure to help off-set the adverse impact of  
the operational phase of the development on local air quality in accordance with  
North Hertfordshire Local Plan Strategic Objective ENV4 and Policy SP9 and D4. 
 
31. Highways – Construction Method Statement 
No development shall commence until a Construction Method Statement has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, including elements of the CLOCS 
standards as set out in the Highway Authority’s Construction Management template. 
Thereafter the construction of the development shall only be carried out in accordance with the 
approved Plan: The Construction Management Statement shall include details of: 

• Access arrangements to the site. 

• Traffic management requirements. 

• Construction and storage compounds (including areas designated for car parking, 
loading /unloading and turning areas). 

• Siting and details of wheel washing facilities. 

• Cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public highway. 

• Timing of construction activities (including delivery times and removal of waste) and to 
avoid school pick up/drop off times. 

• Provision of sufficient on-site parking prior to commencement of construction activities. 

• Post construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas and temporary access 
to the public highway. 

Where works cannot be contained wholly within the site a plan should be submitted showing 
the site layout on the highway including extent of hoarding which must be kept within the site 
boundary, pedestrian routes and remaining road width for vehicle movements 
 
Reason: In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other users of the public 
highway and rights of way in accordance with Policies 5, 12, 17 and 22 of Hertfordshire’s Local 
Transport Plan (adopted 2018). 
 
32. EH – Phase 2 investigation 
No development approved by this permission shall take place until a Phase 2 investigation 
report, as recommended by the previously submitted Ground Science Solutions Ltd report 
dated 14th July 2025 (Ref: 2025/1533), has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  Where found to be necessary by the phase 2 report a remediation 
strategy to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site shall also be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The remediation strategy shall 
include an options appraisal giving full details of the remediation measures required and how 
they are to be undertaken.  The strategy shall include a plan providing details of how the 
remediation works shall be judged to be complete and arrangements for contingency action. 
 
Reason:  To protect human health and to ensure that no future investigation is required under 
Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990. 
 
33. EH – Phase 2 validation report 
Prior to any permitted dwelling being occupied a validation report shall be submitted and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to demonstrate the effectiveness of any 

Page 104



 

 

agreed Remediation Strategy. Any such validation shall include responses to any unexpected 
contamination discovered during works.  
 
Reason: To protect human health and to ensure that no future investigation is required under 
Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990. 
 
34. Energy and Sustainability Statement  
Notwithstanding the submitted Sustainability Statement, no development shall commence until 
an updated Sustainability Statement has been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority in line with the nine themes of the Sustainability SPD. The approved 
measures must be implemented on site for each dwelling hereby approved prior to its first 
occupation and thereafter retained.  
 
Reason To reduce carbon dioxide emissions and promoting principles of sustainable 
construction and the efficient use of buildings in accordance with the Sustainability SPD 2024 
and North Hertfordshire Local Plan Policies SP9 and D1.  
 
 
 

INFORMATIVES 
 
Ecology: 

1. Bat informative  
A bat licence from Natural England is required to deliver this development. It will / may be a 
criminal offence if works proceed without a bat licence. It will / may also be a criminal offence if 
the terms of conditions of the bat licence, including in particular the mitigation and 
compensation requirements under the licence (which may require certain measures to be 
delivered before the development works start), are not adhered to. 
 

2. Bird informative  
Vegetation removal or building works must avoid the bird nesting season (1 March–30 
September) unless a pre-works check by a suitably qualified ecologist confirms absence of 
active nests. A 5 m buffer around any active nest will be applied. 
 
HIGHWAY INFORMATIVES: 
The Highway Authority recommends inclusion of the following Advisory Notes (ANs) to ensure 
that any works as part of this development are carried out in accordance with the provisions of 
the Highways Act 1980 and other relevant processes. 
 
Storage of materials: The applicant is advised that the storage of materials associated with the 
construction of this development should be provided within the site on land which is not public 
highway, and the use of such areas must not interfere with the public highway. If this is not 
possible, authorisation should be sought from the Highway Authority before construction works 
commence. Further information is available via the website 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-
and-pavements.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047. 
 
Obstruction of public highway land: It is an offence under section 137 of the Highways Act 
1980 for any person, without lawful authority or excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct the free 
passage along a highway or public right of way. If this development is likely to result in the 
public highway or public right of way network becoming routinely blocked (fully or partly) the 
applicant must contact the Highway Authority to obtain their permission and requirements 
before construction works commence. Further information is available via the website  

Page 105



 

 

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-
and-pavements.aspx telephoning 0300 1234047. 
 
Road Deposits: It is an offence under section 148 of the Highways Act 1980 to deposit mud or 
other debris on the public highway, and section 149 of the same Act gives the Highway 
Authority powers to remove such material at the expense of the party responsible.  Therefore, 
best practical means shall be taken at all times to ensure that all vehicles leaving the site 
during construction of the development are in a condition such as not to emit dust or deposit 
mud, slurry or other debris on the highway. Further information is available via the website  
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-
and-pavements.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047. 
 
New or amended vehicle crossover access (section 278): Where works are required within the 
public highway to facilitate a new or amended vehicular access, the Highway Authority require 
the construction of such works to be undertaken to their satisfaction and specification, and by 
a contractor who is authorised to work in the public highway. If any of the works associated 
with the construction of the access affects or requires the removal and/or the relocation of any 
equipment, apparatus or structures (e.g. street name plates, bus stop signs or shelters, 
statutory authority equipment etc.) the applicant will be required to bear the cost of such 
removal or alteration. 
 
Before works commence the applicant will need to apply to the Highway Authority to obtain 
their permission, requirements and for the work to be carried out on the applicant’s behalf. 
Further information is available via the County Council website at: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/changes-to-your-
road/dropped-kerbs/dropped-kerbs.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047. 
 
Highway to remain private: The applicant is advised that all new highway routes within the 
development site are likely to remain unadopted and the developer should put in place a 
permanent arrangement for long term maintenance. At the entrance of the new estate the road 
name plate should indicate that it is a private road to inform purchasers of their future 
maintenance liabilities. Further information is available via the website 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-
and-pavements.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047. 
 
 
Proactive Statement: 
 
Planning permission has been granted for this proposal. The Council acted proactively through 
positive engagement with the applicant at the pre-application stage and during the 
determination process which led to improvements to the scheme. The Council has therefore 
acted proactively in line with the requirements of the Framework (paragraph 38) and in 
accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) Order 2015. 
 
 
 

Page 106



©
C

ro
w

n
 C

o
p

y
rig

h
t a

n
d

 d
a

ta
b

a
s
e

 rig
h

ts
 2

0
2

4
 O

S
 L

ic
e
n
c
e
 n

o
. 1

0
0
0
1
8
9
7
1

S
C

A
L

E
 - M

E
T

R
E

S

0

N

R
E

D
 L

IN
E

 S
IT

E
 A

R
E

A
:

0
.8

2
 H

a
 (2

.0
3
 A

c
)

G
R

E
E

N
 L

IN
E

 A
R

E
A

:

0
.7

5
 H

a
 (1

.8
7
A

c
)

1
0

2
0

P
L

A
N

N
IN

G
 A

P
P

L
IC

A
T

IO
N

 A
R

E
A

3

3
2

3
0

1
4

3
5

4
2

6
9

8
0

7
9 C

o
tta

g
e
s

H
ig

h
o
v
e
r

8
6

H
ig

h
o

v
e

r F
a

rm

1

P
o
n
d

1
6

2
0

A
R

M
O

U
R

 R
IS

E

7

HIGHOVER WAY

1

7
8

2
6

2
8

2
8

STURGEONS WAY

O
P

E
N

 L
A

N
D

S

T
H

E
S

IT
E

P
IN

K
 T

O
N

E
 IN

D
IC

A
T

E
S

L
A

N
D

 W
IT

H
IN

 S
E

P
A

R
A

T
E

O
W

N
E

R
S

H
IP

 -

A
P

P
L
IC

A
N

T
S

 H
A

V
E

 R
IG

H
T

O
F

 A
C

C
E

S
S

 O
V

E
R

          a
 m

 e
 s
   A

.   K
 e
 a
 n
 e
 y
   A

 s
 s
 o
 c
 i a

 t e
 s

a
 m

 e
 s
   A

.   K
 e
 a
 n
 e
 y
   A

 s
 s
 o
 c
 i a

 t e
 s

a
 m

 e
 s
   A

.   K
 e
 a
 n
 e
 y
   A

 s
 s
 o
 c
 i a

 t e
 s

a
 m

 e
 s
   A

.   K
 e
 a
 n
 e
 y
   A

 s
 s
 o
 c
 i a

 t e
 s

            A
rc

h
ite

c
tu

re
        A

rc
h
ite

c
tu

ra
l T

e
c
h
n
o
lo

g
y         P

ro
je

c
t M

a
n

a
g
e
m

e
n
t

4
9

, U
p

p
e

r M
o

u
n

t S
tre

e
t, D

u
b

lin
 2

, Ire
la

n
d
, D

0
2
 F

R
8
3
.

3
0

7
, S

h
a

rp
e

n
h

o
e

 R
o

a
d

, S
tre

a
tle

y
, B

e
d

fo
rd

s
h

ire
, E

n
g
la

n
d
, L

U
3
 3

P
P

.

T
e

le
p

h
o

n
e

: +
 3

5
3

 (0
) .1

.6
6
1
 6

5
3
7

 Irl M
o

b
ile

: +
 3

5
3

 (0
) .8

6
.8

2
4
 0

9
5
2

U
K

 M
o

b
ile

: +
 4

4
 (0

) .7
9
0
2
. 0

6
8
4
2
9

E
m

a
il: ja

m
e

s
@

ja
k
a

-a
rc

h
ite

c
tu

re
.c

o
m

W
e

b
: w

w
w

.ja
k
a

-a
rc

h
ite

c
tu

re
.c

o
m

    JJ JJ

PLAN
N
IN

G

 APPLIC
ATIO

N

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



  
Location: 
 

 
Highover Farm, Highover Way, Hitchin, Hertfordshire, 
SG4 0RQ 

  
Applicant: 
 

 
Gill-Hudson Homes 

 Proposal: 
 

Internal and external alterations to threshing barn to 
facilitate change of use to 2no. self-contained dwellings 
(Unit 3 to also include adjacent unlisted, single-storey 
courtyard building).  
 

 Ref. No: 
 

25/01383/LBC 

 Officer: 
 

Sarah Kasparian 

 
 Date of expiry of statutory period: 19 August 2025 
 
 Extension of statutory period: 20 March 2025 
 
 Reason for Delay  
 
 Due to detailed negotiations, receipt of amended plans, subsequent re-consultation 

and joint consideration with application ref. 25/01420/FP 
 
 Reason for Referral to Committee  
 
 Site area 
 
1.0 Relevant History 

 
1.1 There is no planning history for the application site.  

 
1.2 This application site is adjacent to outline planning permission ref. 18/01154/OP. Both 

sites are within a Strategic Housing Site ref. HT1.  
 
2.0 Policies 

 
2.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2024 

 
2.2 National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 

 
2.3 North Hertfordshire District Local Plan 2011-2031 2022 

 
Policy SP13: Historic Environment 
Policy HE1: Designated Heritage Assets 
Sustainability SPD 2024 
 
The application site is associated with the Strategic Housing Site under Policy SP17: Site 
HT1 ‘Highover Farm, Hitchin’ in the NHDC Submission Local Plan 2011-2031.  

 
3.0 Representations 
 

Statutory Consultees 
 Page 109

Agenda Item 7



3.1 Conservation Officer – No objection following detailed discussion and negotiations, 
subject to conditions.   
 

3.2 Hitchin Forum – Generally in favour of the proposals in particular the reuse of the 
building. Other comments relating to observations regarding the structure of the 
Threshing Barn that require further detail.  

 
Neighbour and Local Residents 
 

3.3 There are no adjacent properties to the Threshing Barn to notify regarding this 
application. A site notices was displayed close to the entrance to the site on Highover 
Way.  
 

3.4 No neighbour or resident representations were received in relation to the application.  
 
4.0 Planning Considerations 
 
4.1 Site and Surroundings 

 
4.2 The application site is located at the end of Highover Way and comprises an enclosed 

farmyard and a farmhouse. The site is located on the southern edge of the site allocation 
HT1, where up to 700 homes have been granted outline permission. There are currently 
open arable fields to the north of the farmyard, but this is due to change in coming years.  
 

4.3 The site itself is broadly rectangular in size, with access from the end of Highover Way. 
The current access is unmetalled; there is informal parking spaces just off Highover Way. 
Access continues north, a sharp right turn provides current access to the farmyard, and 
round to the left serving Highover Cottages.  
 

4.4 The buildings on site comprise the timber framed Grade II listed Threshing Barn, another 
timber framed building and the remainder are brick built. The main farmyard buildings 
broadly form a ‘C’ shape, and the brick farmhouse sits in the gap of the C. There are 
currently two more recent smaller farm buildings in the centre of the yard. The buildings 
have been disused for many years now and are in a clear state of disrepair: roofs are 
starting to fall in, and it is very overgrown.  
 

4.5 This listed building description was taken from the Historic England website: 
 
Threshing barn, constructed in the late C16 or early C17, and extended in the C18. 
 
MATERIALS: the threshing barn is timber-framed with weatherboard cladding over a flint 
plinth, having red brick infill laid in Flemish bond, and a slate roof covering. 
 
PLAN: T-shaped in plan, comprising a rectangular-plan barn laid out on a south-west to 
north-east axis, with a porch projecting from the centre of the south-east elevation, and 
an aisle to the north-west side, most likely added in the C18. 
 
EXTERIOR: the threshing barn has a steeply-pitched roof with a slate roof covering, plain 
bargeboards at the gable ends, and catslide roofs over the north-west aisle and south-
east shelters. The timber-framed structure has weatherboard cladding over a flint plinth, 
having red-brick infill to the corners and some rebuilding to parts, including the western 
ends of the gable walls where it appears the north-west aisle may have been added in 
the C18. The gabled porch to the centre of the south-east elevation has double-leaf plank 
doors with strap hinges opening externally, under a jettied gable supported by knee 
braces. Outshot shelters were added to either side of the porch in the mid-C19, each 
having three timber posts supporting a slate roof (the south roof has collapsed entirely). 

Page 110



The north-west elevation has double-leaf plank doors opening internally, directly 
opposite the porch of the south-east elevation. 
 
INTERIOR: the interior is formed of seven bays, the central bay of which retains a 
cobbled threshing floor. The queen-post roof structure has clasped purlins, with diagonal 
bracing to the principal rafters, each of which were numbered by the carpenter. The tie 
beams have knee braces to the principal posts, the majority of which in turn have 
diagonal braces to the wall plate. The collar beams are at bay and half-bay intervals. The 
south-east wall appears to retain a high proportion of its original timber posts, studs and 
diagonal braces over an original flint plinth wall. The timber posts of the former north-
west wall now stand on red-brick plinths. The north-west aisle (most likely added in the 
C18) has aisle tie beams bolted to the north-west principal posts, and knee braces to the 
north-west wall, which has closely spaced studs and some diagonal braces. The gable 
walls retain a high proportion of their original flint construction, while their western ends 
have been rebuilt in brick, possibly when the north-west aisle was added in the C18. 
Parts of the north-west wall and porch have been repaired with red brick over various 
periods. 
 

4.6 Proposal 
 

4.7 The proposal is for both internal and external alterations to the listed threshing barn to 
facilitate its change of use to two self-contained dwellings.  
 

4.8 Unit 3 would also include the adjacent unlisted, single-storey courtyard building on the 
corner, and comprise a three-bedroom unit. The main entrance would be from the corner 
brick building. Bedrooms would be located on the ground floor and living accommodation 
on the first floor.  
 

4.9 Unit 4 would comprise the rest of the Threshing Barn, with its entrance taken from the 
projecting midstrey. This central bay of the threshing barn would be retained for its 
openness and original character. There would be 4 bedrooms on the ground floor and 
living accommodation on the first floor.  
 

4.10 Externally there would be new openings in the front and rear elevations as well as the 
roof slopes. Internally there would be a new opening between the Threshing barn and 
the attached corner brick building.  
 

4.11 This application should be read alongside the application for full planning permission ref. 
25/01420/FP, which includes details of amenity space, parking, bin storage and other 
planning considerations.  
 

4.12 The application is supported by the following plans and documents: 
 

• 2208.LBC.01 Location Plan 

• Amended 2208.LBC.02B Proposed block master plan with measured survey 

• Amended 2208.LBC.03A Proposed Threshing Barn ground floor with measured 
survey 

• Amended 2208.LBC.04A Proposed Threshing Barn first floor with measured survey 

• Amended 2208.LBC.05B Proposed block master plan  

• Amended 2208.LBC.06A Proposed Threshing Barn ground floor 

• Amended 2208.LBC.07A Proposed Threshing Barn first floor 

• Amended 2208.LBC.08A Proposed Threshing Barn elevations units 3 and 4 

• Amended 2208.PL.13A Boundary treatment plan 

• Amended 2208.PL.02F Proposed block master plan with measured survey 

• Amended 2208.PL.05F Proposed block master plan Page 111



• 21939 MBC Global Survey Existing Floor Plans 

• 21939 MBC Global Survey Existing Elevations 

• 21939 MBC Global Survey Roof Plan 

• Condition Survey 19 June 2025 

• Heritage Statement 23 May 2025 

• 7219 Structural Appraisal for Removal of Roof Covering 28 August 2025 
 
5.0 Key issues 

 
5.1 The only issue to consider is the impact that proposals will have on the special character 

or historic interest of the Grade II listed Threshing Barn.  
 

5.2 Section 16(2) Physical works to listed buildings, including those listed under S1(5)a 
attachment and S1(5)b curtilage pre-1948) of The Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (The LBCA Act) stipulates that ‘in considering whether to 
grant listed building consent for any works the local planning authority or the Secretary 
of State shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting 
or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.’ Effect upon 
listed buildings therefore should be given considerable importance and weight. Relevant 
factors include the extent of assessed harm and the heritage value of the heritage asset 
in question.  
 

5.3 Paragraph 207 of the NPPF stipulates that in determining applications, local planning 
authorities should require an applicant to describe the significance of any heritage assets 
affected, including any contribution to their setting and where a site on which 
development is proposed includes or has the potential to include heritage assets with 
archaeological interest, local planning authorities should require developers to submit an 
appropriate desk-based assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluation. 
Paragraph 208 of the NPPF confirms that local planning authorities should identify and 
assess the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a 
proposal (including by development affecting their setting) taking account of the available 
evidence and any necessary expertise.  
 

5.4 NHLP Policy HE1 stipulates that planning permission for development proposals 
affecting Designated Heritage Assets or their setting will be granted where they will, 
amongst other things, lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of the 
designated heritage asset and this harm will be outweighed by the public benefits of the 
development, including securing the asset’s optimum viable use. This policy reflects 
paragraph 215 of the NPPF which confirms that where a development proposal will lead 
to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm 
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where 
appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.  
 

5.5 This listed building application seeks approval for the conversion of the Threshing Barn 
to form two residential properties. This application for listed building consent should be 
read alongside the application for full planning permission ref. 25/01420/FP, which 
includes the conversion of the rest of the farmyard and some new build units to comprise 
a total of 14 residential units, and considers the effect upon the setting of the listed 
building.  
 

5.6 The Conservation Officers had been involved in pre-application discussions with the 
applicant on their proposals for residential development in the farmyard including the 
Threshing Barn. The initial discussions centred around the principle of conversion and 
retaining the central ‘threshing floor’ area of the central bay of the building. Officers and 
the applicant agreed to forming two units subject to retaining the central threshing flood, Page 112



rather than subdivide that space. Instead, this central bay will be open and given to unit 
3 as a large open floor to ceiling height which will reflect the original character of the 
building. As far as possible the applicant has located windows and doors sensitively 
between historic timbers and located new partitions to respect the layout. Unit 2 will be 
joined to the single storey brick barn that links the two timber framed buildings.  
 

5.7 Discussion continued after the planning application and application for listed building 
consent were submitted to refine the proposals. Some particular points of discussion 
related to the Threshing Barn which has resulted in discussion and amended plans: 

 
i. Detail relating to proposed window and door openings and subsequent impact on 

the existing timber frame 
ii. Detail related to removal of roof slate for reuse and protection of the timber 

structure 
iii. Questions and detail relating to how the steel frame will sit around the building, 

how it will be clad and how wall and roof insulation will work for the conversion 
 

5.8 Subject to the recommended conditions, in order to restore the Threshing Barn, and to 
preserve and provide a long-term use of the listed building, officers have no objections 
to the proposals. Officers are satisfied that the provisions of Section 16 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 as supported by the aims of the 
NPPF and NHLP Policies.  
 

6.0 Conclusions 
 

6.1 The public benefit of restoring the Threshing Barn and securing the buildings long term 
use, with the associated residential development at the farmyard and the contribution of 
the site to housing delivery weigh heavily in favour of the Listed Building Consent. The 
proposed development aligns with the NHLP policies and the NPPF on preserving 
heritage. The proposals would not harm the architectural or historic interest of the listed 
building and are therefore acceptable.   
 

6.2 The NPPF confirms that heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource and that they 
should be conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance. Overall, it is 
considered that the proposals would incur some low-level inherent harm to the Grade II 
listed Threshing Barn. However, it is considered that the proposals have sensitively 
considered the historic fabric of the heritage assets and will provide a new use for this 
currently vacant building and overall redundant site which will support their long-term 
maintenance and conservation. The heritage benefits of delivering this proposal would 
out-weigh the inherent harm arising for the heritage significance of the Grade II Threshing 
Barn. Accordingly, there is no reason for refusing consent for the works proposed. 
 

7.0 Alternative options 
 

7.1 No alternative options applicable.  
 
8.0 Pre-commencement conditions 

 
8.1 I can confirm that the applicant is in agreement with the pre-commencement conditions 

that are proposed.  
 
9.0 Legal Implications 

 
9.1 In making decisions on applications submitted under the Town and Country Planning 

legislation, the Council is required to have regard to the provisions of the development 
Page 113



plan and to any other material considerations. The decision must be in accordance with 
the plan unless the material considerations indicate otherwise. Where the decision is to 
refuse or restrictive conditions are attached, the applicant has a right of appeal against 
the decision.  
 

10.0 Recommendation 
 
10.1 That listed building consent be GRANTED subject to: 

 
a) The issuing of full planning permission for the farmyard reference 25/01420/FP; 

 
b) Providing delegated powers to the Development and Conservation Manager to 

update conditions with minor amendments as required;  
 

c) The applicant agreeing to extend the statutory period in order to complete the 
agreement as required; and 
 

d) Conditions set out below:  
 
1. Time limit 
The work to which this consent relates shall be begun by not later than the expiration of the 
period of 3 years from the date of this notice. 
 
Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 18 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 
 
2. Approved plans 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out wholly in accordance with the details 
specified in the application and supporting approved documents and plans listed above. 
 
Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with details which form the 
basis of this grant of permission. 
 
3. Timber frame 
Notwithstanding the red coloured timber frame sections identified at 5.1.6 Internal Elevation 24 
on page 25 and 5.1.7 Internal Elevation 26 on page 28 of the Heritage Consulting Condition 
Survey dated 16 June 2025, these frame members and any others identified during further 
inspections of the frame shall form part of a detailed full inspection with the Local Planning 
Authority and their removal shall be agreed with the Local Planning Authority prior to the new 
frame members being formed. Furthermore, where new frame sections are required, these 
shall be undertaken in oak unless otherwise agreed and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and 
historic interest and integrity of the listed barn under Section 16 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990  
 
4. Steel frame 
Notwithstanding reference to ‘a new steel frame is to be erected in front of the existing timber 
frame’ at 4.1 of the Heritage Consulting Condition Survey (16 June 2025), the Threshing Barn 
shall not be over-framed in steel unless otherwise agreed and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Full details of all proposed steelworks shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of any steel work. 
Thereafter the steel work shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved details.  
 

Page 114



Reason: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and 
historic interest and integrity of this grade II listed building under Section 16 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and Policy HE1 of the Local Plan. 
 
5. Insulation  
Section details of all roof and wall insulation works shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the insulation works. 
Thereafter this work shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and 
historic interest and integrity of this grade II listed building under Section 16 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and Policy HE1 of the Local Plan. 
 
6. Brickwork 
A sample of the facing brickwork for the plinth shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority prior to the plinth being constructed. The plinth thereafter shall be 
built in accordance with the approved brick sample.  
 
Reason: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and 
historic interest and integrity of this grade II listed building under Section 16 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and Policy HE1 of the Local Plan. 
 
7. Weatherboarding 
A sample of any new timber weatherboarding and details of its external finish shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to its installation. 
Thereafter the weatherboarding shall be installed in accordance with the approved sample and 
finish.  
 
Reason: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and 
historic interest and integrity of this grade II listed building under Section 16 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and Policy HE1 of the Local Plan. 
 
8. Fenestration  
All new windows and doors shall be manufactured in timber unless otherwise agreed and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and 
historic interest and integrity of this grade II listed building under Section 16 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and Policy HE1 of the Local Plan. 
 
9. Windows 
All new openable windows shall receive flush casements unless otherwise agreed and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and 
historic interest and integrity of this grade II listed building under Section 16 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and Policy HE1 of the Local Plan. 
 
10. Rainwater goods 
All new rainwater goods shall be black metal or cast-iron effect, details of which shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the rainwater 
goods shall be installed in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and 
historic interest and integrity of this grouping at Highover Farm under Section 66 of the Page 115



Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and Policy HE1 of the Local 
Plan.  
 
 
Proactive Statement: 
 
  Planning permission has been granted for this proposal. The Council acted 

proactively through positive engagement with the applicant at the pre-application 
stage and during the determination process which led to improvements to the 
scheme. The Council has therefore acted proactively in line with the requirements of 
the Framework (paragraph 38) and in accordance with the Town and Country 
Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015. 

 
 
 

Page 116



©
C

ro
w

n
 C

o
p

y
rig

h
t a

n
d

 d
a

ta
b

a
s
e

 rig
h

ts
 2

0
2

4
 O

S
 L

ic
e
n
c
e
 n

o
. 1

0
0
0
1
8
9
7
1

S
C

A
L

E
 - M

E
T

R
E

S

0

N

R
E

D
 L

IN
E

 S
IT

E
 A

R
E

A
:

0
.8

2
 H

a
 (2

.0
3
 A

c
)

G
R

E
E

N
 L

IN
E

 A
R

E
A

:

0
.7

5
 H

a
 (1

.8
7
A

c
)

1
0

2
0

P
L

A
N

N
IN

G
 A

P
P

L
IC

A
T

IO
N

 A
R

E
A

3

3
2

3
0

1
4

3
5

4
2

6
9

8
0

7
9 C

o
tta

g
e
s

H
ig

h
o
v
e
r

8
6

H
ig

h
o

v
e

r F
a

rm

1

P
o
n
d

1
6

2
0

A
R

M
O

U
R

 R
IS

E

7

HIGHOVER WAY

1

7
8

2
6

2
8

2
8

STURGEONS WAY

O
P

E
N

 L
A

N
D

S

T
H

E
S

IT
E

P
IN

K
 T

O
N

E
 IN

D
IC

A
T

E
S

 L
A

N
D

W
IT

H
IN

 S
E

P
A

R
A

T
E

 O
W

N
E

R
S

H
IP

- A
P

P
L

IC
A

N
T

S
 H

A
V

E
 R

IG
H

T
 O

F
A

C
C

E
S

S
 O

V
E

R

P
IN

K
 T

O
N

E
 IN

D
IC

A
T

E
S

L
A

N
D

 W
IT

H
IN

 S
E

P
A

R
A

T
E

O
W

N
E

R
S

H
IP

 -

A
P

P
L
IC

A
N

T
S

 H
A

V
E

 R
IG

H
T

O
F

 A
C

C
E

S
S

 O
V

E
R

T
H

R
E

S
H

IN
G

B
A

R
N

          a
 m

 e
 s
   A

.   K
 e
 a
 n
 e
 y
   A

 s
 s
 o
 c
 i a

 t e
 s

a
 m

 e
 s
   A

.   K
 e
 a
 n
 e
 y
   A

 s
 s
 o
 c
 i a

 t e
 s

a
 m

 e
 s
   A

.   K
 e
 a
 n
 e
 y
   A

 s
 s
 o
 c
 i a

 t e
 s

a
 m

 e
 s
   A

.   K
 e
 a
 n
 e
 y
   A

 s
 s
 o
 c
 i a

 t e
 s

            A
rc

h
ite

c
tu

re
        A

rc
h
ite

c
tu

ra
l T

e
c
h
n
o
lo

g
y         P

ro
je

c
t M

a
n

a
g
e
m

e
n
t

4
9

, U
p

p
e

r M
o

u
n

t S
tre

e
t, D

u
b

lin
 2

, Ire
la

n
d
, D

0
2
 F

R
8
3
.

3
0

7
, S

h
a

rp
e

n
h

o
e

 R
o

a
d

, S
tre

a
tle

y
, B

e
d

fo
rd

s
h

ire
, E

n
g
la

n
d
, L

U
3
 3

P
P

.

T
e

le
p

h
o

n
e

: +
 3

5
3

 (0
) .1

.6
6
1
 6

5
3
7

 Irl M
o

b
ile

: +
 3

5
3

 (0
) .8

6
.8

2
4
 0

9
5
2

U
K

 M
o

b
ile

: +
 4

4
 (0

) .7
9
0
2
. 0

6
8
4
2
9

E
m

a
il: ja

m
e

s
@

ja
k
a

-a
rc

h
ite

c
tu

re
.c

o
m

W
e

b
: w

w
w

.ja
k
a

-a
rc

h
ite

c
tu

re
.c

o
m

    JJ JJ

LISTED

BU
ILD

IN
G

 C
O
N
SEN

T

APPLIC
ATIO

N

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



  Page 1 of 1  

PLANNING CONTROL COMMITTEE     DATE: 19 March 2026 
PLANNING APPEALS LODGED 
 

APPELLANT Appeal 
Start Date 

DESCRIPTION ADDRESS Reference PROCEDURE 

Hitchin 
Storage 
Centre Limited 

25 February 
2026 

Erection of a second layer of storage units 
(17no. additional units) for self-storage above 
existing storage units. 

Land Adjacent To 
Unit 3 On The West 
Side Of 
Cadwell Lane 
Hitchin 
SG4 0SA 

25/03147/FP Written 
Representations 

 
 

P
age 119

A
genda Item

 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 24/01013/HYA LAND SURROUNDING BURLOES COTTAGES, NEWMARKET ROAD, ROYSTON, HERTFORDSHIRE
	Plan

	6 25/01420/FP HIGHOVER FARM, HIGHOVER WAY, HITCHIN, HERTFORDSHIRE, SG4 0RQ
	Plan

	7 25/01383/LBC HIGHOVER FARM, HIGHOVER WAY, HITCHIN, HERTFORDSHIRE, SG4 0RQ
	Plan

	8 APPEALS

